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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of drectons (the "Directors”™ or the “Board”) of LVGEM
(Ching) Reat Estate Investmant Company Limitad (the “Cormpany™ or "LVGEM
(China)®), | would ke to report to all shareholders of the Company the
romsclidated business performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
[collectivaly lnawn as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024,

2024 Review

The year 2024 marked & crucial year for achisving the planned goals
and tasks of the “14th Five-Yaar Plan®, It was also a very exceptional
and extracedinary yeur in the cowrse of China's economic deveiopmant,
Amid mounting external pressures and incraasing internal difficulties,
the Chinesa government responded proactively and eflectively to the
fisks and challenges, and timely launched a package of responsive
macrodconomic policias 10 achieve signficant resulls. which drove the
Chinese sconomy 1o an overal stable condition with growth, Tha Gross
Domestic Product ("GOF") amounted to RMB134.9 tnllion, represanting
an merase of 5.0% from the previous year.

Tho real astate market ramaned In 3 Cydls of adustment, with a double-
digit dacling In the growth of real estate sales and iInvestmant. The
Central Governimant rolied out @ burkdia of policies 10 focus on stabillzing
the market and ourbing inventory of properties, thereby “promoting
stabilzation of the real estate market from decne”, As a result of thoss
polickes, a short-teem recovery was seen in the fourth quarter with a
natable Tumaround of the residontial demand for housing. The property
market was once stabilized and improved 0 a phased manner, with
tha sales Of new housing and second-hand property transactions rising
steadly; the decine of property poces and land costs in first-tier cities
came 10 an ond., and the cytle for the destocking of commadity housing
was shorianed.

Under the severe conditions of the ndustry, pursuing its steadfast
aspiration of “Petsevoro with intognity, Stabllity with Sustainability®,
LVGEM (China) forged ahead to embrace the hardship, proactivly
rasponded to various challenges of the industry's downlumn, In
terms of real astata development, the total area of construction was
approximately 1.8 millon square maters, of which; thera were 2 new
projects under construction (with an area of 110,000 square meters),
3 completed prowcts (with an area of 390,000 square meters), and 2
dedvared projects (with an area of 290,000 square meters).

In terma of commercial property Investment and dperations © the
Group adnesed 1o the two-pronged business model of "resdential and
commercial” developmant, with *“NEO" and *Zol” as s two major corm
commercial brands, which continued 10 brng steady rental income and
asset approciation 1o the Group, During the yasr, the Group further
focused on s core resources and capital through the dispasal of the
LVGEM Zoil Hongwan Shopping Mall. The uncerying revenue continues
to strongly replenish the Group's cash flow, further strengthening the
financial foundation and safequarding the sustainable development of
the Group,

" Chairman’s Statement
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In regpect of comprehensive services segment, the Group continued
1o thoughtfully develop an all-round comprehensive service system
covering property management services, hotel operation and other
value-added senvices for customers and tenants of residental and
commercial properties. By adopting a diversified. synergistic and mutual-
davelopmaent stratagy, it further broadaned its sources of revenua and
consolidatad the divorsified foundations of the Group's business.

Nonatheless, as the far value loss of investment propertios increased
and tha provisions for impaitment loss of properties under developmant
and propertias held for s3le were made among the cuerently unfaverable
real estato markat conditions, and partly due to the fact that tha Phass
| of the LVGEM Baishizhou Project ramained ahead of the fimirig of
carrying forward any revanue. tha Group recorded a greator loss in
2024, However, the so-called decine in results or even Ioss ansing from
the recaluation of investmentt properties ane fnancial adjustments of non-
cash nature wivch am only shown as book values and do nol drectly
affact the core opanating profit or operating cash flow of the business.

For tho Group, its investment properties are mainly concentrated
the core areas of firs! toe oities such as Shenzhen. Undér the market
adiustment in the pravious yoear, s proparties also suftared from
the pressura on valuation and nvestment. Nonetheless, considering
that these properes have highae value by theke prime locations and
appreciation potential in the jong term, thelr potential vatue will remain
unafiected in the long run even i they are prong 1o drastic fluctuations in
fair value due to recuced liguiity of market in the short term,

CHALLENGES AND PROSPECTS

With the uncertainties; tha siowdown in the real estate sales, the
mandatory reguiation on the funds from pre-sale under the policy of
“guarantaad delivery of propenties”, and the lguidity protilem generaly in
the market, the Group is 3iso faced with the increasing pressune on cash
flow a8 one of its greater challenges. As such, the Group s required
to camy out its fund management in & moro sophisticatad manner 10
ensure- 3 $ecure positon of funding. Theretore, the Group wil confinue
1o promote the disposal of Inatficient assats 10 genarats more cash n
ordar 10 consolidate s hamer maoat a5 a secunsd foundation.

Indobtedness probiems will bo highighted when there 15 a shortage of
funds. Turning passive into active, the Group has activly taken affectve
measures to resoive the shor-term debt stress. The Group has engaged
with its otfshore creditors with @ viow 10 nestiucturng ard optimezang its
dobia. The Group believes that, through the offshore debit testructuring,
the offshore debt structure will ba more rationalized and the business
operations will be-further robust, which will ba more secure for the.
Group in fulfiting its responsibiities to investors. creditors, home buyers,
refurming rolocated tanants and Other parties in tho sockety.

£ LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Overall, 2024 was a challenging year for the Group. LVGEM (Chinal's
currant financal difficulies are mersly (he result of the combined offect
of the long Ife-cycle of the urban renewal model, the inherent conflicts
of heavy assets and the Iquidity orisis i the industry, but the Group 8
well-poised for chaienges with its strong risk response capability, The
Group wil respond pasitively and prudently 1o every issua and challenge
in order to enswee the steady davelopment of the Group In retum
for tha trust and support of empioyees, rolocated Proparty owners,
shareholders and the community.

Lookang forward 1o 2025, the policy reinforcement s expecied 10 drive
the anticipsted recovery, but the recovery of the real estate markat is
st posed with many chalienges, and the overall markat might reman n
tha trough stage. Novenholess, undar the impotus of poditive changes
such as the markat transactions becoming active, gradually stabizing
property prices, and the improvement of the real estate related
industries, the consistent policy support with Sinenyy can avércomo the
hurdies, one after Bnother, that are hindenng the continucks meovery of
the real estate industry, and pramote the steady and sound development
of the real estate market. By tuming crisis into now opportunitios, the
reql estale sector will contings 10 forge shead through these Tumuituous
times,

In viow of the deveiopment in 2025, tha Group will proactivily adjust
its strategies, which mainly includes three areas: 1. narrowing down
the strategic scope of business and focusing the Group's resources
on the development of five high-quality projects; 2. strengthening its
assat managamant capabiity and putting greater effors in oparating
properties to shift the growth momentum neross the segments; 3.
Making focused efforis n the urban renswal sub-secttes to consolidate
15 market posion,

Accerding to the national policy outiook for 2025, the market status
of wrban renewal will be significantly enhanced. In the new round of
stabdlizing economic growth, urban renewal will play & greater role in
providing guidance for the "expansion of gomestic damand”, which in
tum will effectively further help sccaferata the urban renewal actions
acress the gountry, With ihe support of paolices, urban renewal wil enter
a goldan phase of development, creating more markat opportunities.
Leveraging its 40 yours of experience in urban renewal, the Group wil
proactively seize the urban renewal opportunities in the Greater Bay
Area ("GBA') to further promote Lrban renewal. adopt the “Technology'+
Real Estale”™ modal to cater to the demands for tha futura iterative
upgrade of urben functions in the GBA, and make full use of the latest
technologias 1o anhance the efficency of development and operation.
The era of high profit margine of the raal estate is over. We nead to
continuously contnbute to the Group's results by capitalizing on the
role of our operating propedies as the stabilzer of its revenus. The
Group will gradually achiove the shifting gears aCross tho segments,
and strangthen the role of The operating proportes as a stabitzer of 13
performanca 1o safeguard fis recovery. In addition, with the advantage
of holding a Wrge number of cone assets. the Group aisd has more room
for asset transfer,

" Chairman’s Statement
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In response to the debt problems. the Group, togather with its financial
advisers and legal counsel taam, ane exploring and angaging closely
with various creditors on debt restructuring options. In fine with the
current practice of many Isted property enterprisas in tho real estate
industry, the Group has been promoting offshore debt restructunng
10 sase liquidity stress and offectively focus its tesources on tha

development of five quality projects and “guaranteed delvery

operation,
of propertias” of the Group, $0 as 10 further effactively fullll is social

responsitiities.

The operation of the Group Is under some pressure in the short temm,
however from the long term perspective, the unfavorable market tactors
hava currently been exhausted. With the gradual stabdzation of the
Industry and the continuous execution and enhancement of the Group's
refined operationa! capabiiles, coupled with the qualty asset ppeing
It hetd, the Group wil certainly be empowened 10 continuously resonate.
with the dévelopment and upgrads of the core cties in Ihe Grester Bay
Ares. As such, the potential for restonng the vae of the Group is sl
worthy of anticipation.

WHHANEAN SRNEEERGMBRE - ®5
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HUANG Jingshu EZ 3
Chairman xue
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025 BB - —F-EE=A=+-08
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Management Dis_cussion and Analysis

Industry Review

At prasant, Chinasa economy is at a ritical stage of shilting gears to
foster a new development paradigm with accelerated effonts. During 2024,
China promoted high-qualdy devetopmant in @ solid manner. Thanks to the
continuous optimization of the econamic structure and consistont improvement
In gevelopment quality, China eventualy accomplished the economic growth
largats st ot the beginning of the year, which wiis defintely a hard-camed
achievemant. The economy generally damonstrated a *U-shaped® trend
throughaut the year, According to the statistics of the National Buresu of
Statisties; In 2024, the annual GDP amounted to RMB8134,808.4 biilion,
representing an increase of 5.0% over last year on the basis of constant prices.
This 5 the first time that China’s 1otal economic cutput has surpassed RMB130
trilion, making It the: second largest economy in the world and undersconng its
ongaing sgnificance as a dnver for global economic growth,

The proportion of the réal estate sector, a traditional driver bolstaring the
economic growth of China, in tha national economy decimad. In 2024,
China's real estte market enterad the third year of the downside cycle and
continued to stump under mulliphe headwinds., As the overall market contued
1o undargo adiustiments. the growth rates of both the real estate sales and
investment decined by double digits. Confronted with this gnm reality, the
Central Governmant responded decisively and continued 10 launch more
intensive policies addressing both the supply and demand sides, in a bid to
stabilize the real estate market. According 1o the Nations! Bureau of Statistics,
In 2024, the national Investment in real ostate developmant amounted 10
RMB10,028.0 billion, representing & decreasa of 10.6% from last yaar of
whch RMB7,604.0 billion was investad in residential housing with 8 decraasa
ol 10.5%, Al major indicators simullanacusly declined. The sales of newly
built commodily housing and proparties held for sals remalned weak. Tho
sales area of newly buit commodity housing throughout the year amounted 10
§73.85 milion square metars, down 12.9% year-or-year, of which the siles
arsa of resdential housing declined by 14,1%, The sales amount of newly
bult commodity housing amounted 1o RMBS.675.0 billion, down 17,1%,
of which residantial housing sales decreased by 17,6%. The overall land
markat contracted, with the ama of residential land sok) and land premums
in 300 cities decining by nearly 30% and 32% year-on-year, respectively,
The proportion of land premium in frst-fier Gities increased, with real estate
enterprises focusing More on Cone Gities dunng ther land acquisition, In 2025,
the enhancing policios are axpacted 10 drive recavery, but the rovival of the resl
remain n the trough stage. Nonethedess, on the back of positive changes such
85 tha markot tuming mom active, gradual stabilzation of housing prices and
the upswing In real estate-relsted S8CIOrS, the QOVEMMENT May overcoma e
hurdies, one after anothar, that are hindaring the continuous recovery of the
real estate soctor, and promots the steady and sound dovelopmont of th real
estate markot by roling oul consistent polcy SIPRON N @ SMEIGIStc manner.
By turning crisis Info now opportunities, tha real estate sector wit continua to
forge ahead through these tumltuous times.
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Empowerad with & highar positioning, urban renawal undartakes the duat
mission of upgrading the cityscape and the quaity of dwelling. In 2024, the
nead 1o vgorously promote urban renewal i 2025 was highlighted i a number
of important mootings, ncluding the Central Economic Work Confarance,
making i & key focus of governmant mvestment, This implied that the market
would place a much greater amphasis on wban ranewal. In ha next wave of
economic stabilization, wian renewal would play a targer part in guiding the
“sxpansgion of domestic demand”, which wouid affactively propel the further
accetoration of the uban renawal process acrcss the country, it is anticpated
that more policies suppoting wban renewal will be introduced by the State
10 usher urban renswal Into a gokden phase of development with musti-moded
innovation, dverse suppon mechanisms, multiple key factor assurances and
more market participants, theraby creating more market oppentunities.

With its sconomic vibrancs, the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area (the *“GBA") ranked top among global bay areas and ocoupied an
essential and strategic position in the overall devalopment of Ching, playing an
impartant rola in leading and supportng the econoemy of e whole country,
Benefited from the comprahensively integrated davelopment of the economy
and socloty in recent years, tho GBA has bocomo one of the regions with
the highest degree of openness and the strongest sconomic vitalty in China.
As the economic “anging” of tha whola country, the GBA has a rolo 1o piay
in driving the economic growth, Tha banafits of national policies, including
real gstate polcss, will inevitably bo Implemanted and raakzed in this most
compettive and dynamic tegion, Therefore, 1 can be predicted that in 2025,
the resl estate market in GBA is expacted to halt price falling and stabilize
undier the multiple Impatus of policy sUppon, aconomic vitalty and popuiation
inflow, and show a trend of axpanding scale of trangactions, Nghor activities
of the second-hand houting market, and tha core-cities-driven market growth,
Empowered with a higher positioning and missions, couping with the urgant
neads of urban renewal for the davalopment of the GBA, urban renewal will
certainly be promotad 10 8 new kv in the core cities of the Bay Area. The
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macso Greater Bay Area wil continue 1o biossom
into an intemationally frst-class Bay Area and a worid-class city cluster with
its boundiess appeal, driven by high-qualty aconomic developmant and
consurrption.

In 2024, the 40th anniversary of the ncorporation of LVGEM (China), LVGEM
Baishizhou has gradually bean on the verge of hulfiling the plan of a city
within & mega-city. in the face of the overall downward pressure in the real
estate market and the chalenges presented by the iIndustrial restructure, the
Group's developmnt was also subject 10 greater ressure. Nonetheless, the
Group kept abreast of the changes in markat demand and flexibly adjusted
s sales strateges, whie strangthening progect managament and cost confrol
to enhance its financial stability, demonstrating its profound development
uuﬁwulu-pwaqwmbﬂdﬂmtgnunnnmnn&num
sped up the construction of its *Grand Urban Renewnl Project” in Shenzhan,
LVGEM Baishizhou, which was a popular properdy well received by the
markot and has dominated the Sales charts for & number of tmies, Based on
i1s outstanding urban renewal practices; LVGEM (China), with this project,
has sat & banchmark for many urban renewal projects, which represents: the
Integration of innovative concepts and technologies, Impressing customers
with the batter Me created by wiban rengwal in & new horizon,

LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Looking forward, the Group wil continue 10 1ocus on the development of the
GBA. It wil also promote and puzh ahead wrban renewal and ntroduce more
renewal projects into the lsted company by upgrading the *two-pronged®
business strategy. Al tha same time, the Group wil adopt the “Technology+
Reqa! Estate” modal 1o cater for the needs of future Rerative upgrade of urban
functions in the GBA, and make full use of the latest tachnologies to enhance
the efficiency of development and oparation, with & view o contributing to
tho high-guaiity development of the GBA, achioving susiainablo and stabie
davelopment, and deivanng satistactory retums 10 investors who have long
supported the development of the Camparny.

Qverall performance

2024 was a challenging yoar for the Group. LVGEM (China)'s current financial
dificuibes are mesaly the result of tha combined oftect of tha jong We-cycle of
the urban renewal modal, the inhierent conficts of hauvy assets and the iquidty
crisis in the industry, but the Group i wall-poissd for chalianges with its strong
risk response capabity. The Group will respond positively and prudently to
overy sue and challenge in order to ensure the steady development of the
Group In retum for the trust and support of omployees, relocated proparty
cwners, sharoholders and the communiy.,

For the year ended 31 Decamber 2024, the Group achieved total revenue of
approximatety AMBS3,713.8 milion (2023: RMBE.117.6 million), represanting
0 dacrease of approwimately 39.3% year-on-year. Gross profit amounted to
approvimately RMB150.9 miion (2023 RMB1, 578.3 mitlon). Tha gross profit
miargin for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 4.1% (2023: 25.8%).

During the raporting pariod, loss amounted to approximately RMB5,433.7
million (2023 RMB2,132.4 millkon), representing an increase of approximately
154.8% yoar-on-year. Loss afributable 1o owners of the Company amounted
10 approximately RMES, 171.4 million (2023: RMB2.126.5 millon), representing
an increass of approximately 143.2% year-on.year. Basic ioss per share
amounted to RMB100.69 cents (2023: RMB41.71 cents), representing an
increass of appeosimately 141.4% yoar-o0-yoar,

The Board does not recommend the paymant of any davidand 10r the year
ended 31 December 2024,

The Group's kay financial indicators for the year ended 31 December 2024
wore as follows:

Revenue EF)

Groiss proft H

Loss attritxtabis to owners of the Company ToEREREEN
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2024 2023
=S=HB¥ 2 -9-=%
‘Bank baances and cash (ncluding restricted bank deposits BRITRRD RS (REZRMETER
and pladgod bank daposits) (VS milion) BESBATRIAK®ENT) 33038 40166
Average tindnce costs (%)* FEMRAR AN 80 82
Liabdtties 10 assets ratio (%) 2 L ). 769 722
Rata of equity return (% ) -28.67 92

2 Avorage finance costs are denved by dividing the tolal finance cosis for
the your (including canvertitie bands but excluding finance cost derived
trom lease liabiites and contract Kabiities) by average 1otal borrowings.
‘which is calculated by adding up of average balances of total borrowings

S FHRARTNEF VSRR (RETRENS
EFRAHANNEENBRE LS AFAMN) B
FHRAERGE HEFSEHRMNEENSER (M
HUARMARESFVTATEAAMN 2 ¥R

lincluding debt component of convertibla bonds but excluting lease HBRUN -
liabilaios) for the year,
Business Review L £.300 |

In 2024, the core concapt of China's real estala policy was 10 "halt tha
deciine and restore the stabity®, To this end, the policies have targated both
the supply and demand side at the same tima, forming i responsive policy
package of “fow canceliations, four reductions. and (wo Increases”, but It
100k time for the polices 1o give play 10 #8 roies n tha markat and for market
confidénces to ba restored.

Amidat a complex and voistile market environment, daspite the ongong
downward pressure on the real estate industry, the Group always attaches
great Importance to quality and insists on devaloping high-quality products.
Accordingly, it actively optimized the resource allocation, and stepped up s
etforts in launching new sales strategies to ensure destocking on the sales
side. Addtionally. the Group maintained fts competitiveness in the industry and
deliverad robust financial performance through (ts efforts to control costs and
points. All of the Group's iconic projects such as the Shenzhen Baishizhou
Urtian Renewal Project, Zhuha Dongaiao Project (LVGEM Royal Bay in Zhunai)
and Phase |l of the Shanzhon Shazul Progact (Phase Il of Mangrove Bay No, 1
Project in Shonzhen, Shangyue Mangion) have maintained good momentum
wATh thesr reso0res values well-racogrised Dy the market.

Situated in the cors area and core 2o0s of Shenrhan, Bashizhou Urban
Renewal Projact is aiso geographically located at the pame zone on Shannan.
Avarue, the goiden development spindie of Sherzhen, amd the development
of the avenue from west (o sast. Adiacent 10 the Overseas Chinese Town, a
traditional hixury residantial area, the Project inks the four major headguanars
bases, namely Sherzhen Bay, Livwandong. Houhar Financial CBD and Hi-Tech
Park, marking a core kocation of the city, and even a 2one with confirmed value,
Baighizhou Urbian Renewal Project is accredited as the *Grand Urban Renawal
Projoct” in Sherzhen, and is currently the largest urban ronawal project in
Shenzhen 28 well 2s iIn China, Ag ong of the largest Lrban renewal comgpiéx in
Shanzhen as well as in China, the Group has consolidated global resources
10 jointly create an afnew Bashizhou, setting an ultra-high standard for firs)-
tier clties around tha wirkd. For morg than one dacade sincs the Inception of
the project i1 2011, the public has placed graat hopes on the proect from the
profminary planning, demolition and redevelopmant fo revitalization, and avery
step in Baishizhou has gamensd Sherahen’s and even nationwida attonbon,

LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Dis_cussion and Analysis

In the Shenzhen 2035 planning, the Central Park of 3.44 square kiometer is
set to be developed. Baishizhou Project s locatad next 1o the Central Park,
and n the lutwe, it Wil be a supst masterpioce with unlimited vislug adiacent
10 the world-class Central Park huoury residential 20n0. The ared of Overseas
Chinese Town, neighboring the Project, is a quality area recognized by
all Shenzhon people. In addition to its peoximity 10 e supar park belt of
Sharzhen composed of Shahe Galf Club, Overssas Chinase Town Wetland
Park, Sherzhen Bay and the mangrove resinve, It is aiso adiacent to LOFT -
Overseas Chinese Town Creative Industral Park, O - POWER Cutture & Arts
Centra, He Xsngning At Museum and other creative street-level cultural
regions. Al the sama time, It has access to cultural tourism resources such as
the Window of the Word and the Splendiid Chinesa Folx Culture Vilage, which s
an invakiable waa with the best quality Iving in Shenzhen. With over 40 years
of urbanization in Sherizhen, tha area has become an icon of the city, In 1erms
of supporting commercial taciiies. the Prosect is suroundad by cutting-edge
CBOs, namely the Mixc Word, Yitian Holiday Plaza, OCT Harbouir and Mixe
Shanzhen Bay. It owns approximately 400,000 squave maters of uitra-targe
commercial space capacity with a 1.1-kdometre central green axdis connecting
Oversified commercial spaces, with & varety of commecial themes coviring
urban luxury, hipster ar, high-end community consumption and cutting-
edge fashion rends. I terms of anciliary public faciities, the progsct provides
four kindergartens with 57 classes, three schools under the consstant nina-
year academic systam with 90 classes, and about 65,000 square meters
of cammunity healthcare, cultural and ather ancillary publc faciities, which
satsfies the different needs of public ives from multiple dimensions. In the near
future, the Bashizhou community will become a futute model for residential
fving areas in the coce areas of Sheruhen.

The brand-new Baishizhou représants & watershad between the past and
future of the urban area of Shenzhen, which is shaping a modal urban
ares and a city modal for the future of Shenzhen, LVGEM Baishizhou
dadicated 10 creating a new urban iing space that integrates modernity and
Innovation. With its unique design concept, architectural style and humanistic
connotations; 1 is an ideal residance, a new highight of urban development,
and 8 landmark that sets a new model for urban renewal. Phase | of the
project, LVGEM Baishizhou Jngtng. consists of three 74-storoy supor high-
rise resdential buldings with a total of 1,257 units, marking a new mcord for
the height of residentiat buidings n Shenzhen. It is particularly worth noting that
LVGEM Baishizhou Jngting, the residentiad procuct of Phase | of the project,
not only stands out as the highest bulidng in Shenzhen, but also attracts wide
attantion due to it5 scare location, boundiess view and intemational product
dasign, which perfactly showcases tha Mostyls of the 1op-ter cycle.
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During the year, the construction peogress of LVGEM Baistizhou Jingting
exceoded axpeciations. Phasa | of the project was fully toppad out one month
ahead of schedule, resulling in an outstanding cityscape amidst & mega-city,
In May 2024, the sampilo units for high-class regional markst of Baishizhou
Jingting was officially opened to the publc and was recognised by & large
number of customens for its excelient qualty, In Septombar, a groundbroaking
ceramony was held for Shenzhen Urban Rall Transit Line 29, Located on the
developmen! @xis spanning from Nanshan to Guangming District, this so-
calied “Doutle Super Cantral Line* of Shenzhen metro is 3 high-speed iine
from tha south 10 the norh that reshapes the central lines of Sherzhen with
wo stations senving the Baishizhoy area. I the fourth quarter, thanks to the
national pobicy support for the property markal to halt its dockne-and resicee
stabiity and the adjusted purchase restrction pokcy by Shanshen govemnment,
the real estate markat populanty was rekindied, As such, LVGEM Basshizhou
ushered n a safes boom, topping the sales chart for many fimes during the
yoar with its most remarkable transaction volume in Shenzhen's high-end
resicential sector. In the future, LVGEM Bashizhou not only wil sarve as a one-
£0p connaction point 1o the Shenzhen Bay Super Haadquaners Base, but wil
also ba connected to 3 wide range of high-nat-worth areas, antaning the period

Al for othes urban renswal projects in Sharzhen, LVGEM Mangrove Bay
No. 1 - Shangyua Mansion (% 12 1) (Phase If of Shazns Project) completed
fls dafivery from 28 April to § May 2024 and achieved 8n ocoupancy of
839 residential unts within 7 days of delivery, with the on-site delivery rate
amounting to 98%. The maximum number of units delivered in a singie day
amounting 10 218 units, and the delvery time was advanced by two months.
LVGEM Snangyua Mansion ( 1% ) rapresented the Phase [l of the urban
renewal proect of Shanul Vitags, the Phase | of which was LVGEM Mangrove
Bay No. 1 {already lsunched) and Phase Il was Shangyua Mansion(i t2 7).
Prestigously located in the well-established aroa of Futian, the project has
an acoessible transponation network with extensive supporting commatcial
tacilties and high-qualty education resources, which is a new landmarnk, with
saaview, of Futian Mangrove in Shanzhen Bay,

In respect of uban renowdl projects in Zhuhal, the Zhuha Donggiao Projoct
(LVGEM Hoyai Bay in Zhuha) 18 locatad n a prime location of the oo fuxury
resclential area of Xiangzhou Detnct, Zhuhal, with the mos! comprehensive
and pramium supparting wban faclities, including a full range of resources
Such as business districts and parks. Meanwhile, the peoject i in the vicinty
of the exit of the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge, gving 1 an intormational
vislon, and hence an excaliant chaica for the com uxurious residence 2one in
Nanwan. In 2024, LVGEM Royal Bay became tha only best-seling project in
Zruhai in the improved Nousing market with 128 units contracted, remaining
ot the top of tha market. This is not the first time that LVGEM Royal Bay has
topped the salés chart, 88 the proect has surprised the manket with impressive
resuits repeatedly sinoe its launch,
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Management Dis_cussion and Analysis

In 2024, riding on the sustainable busingss mode! of “residential and
commercial®, the Group continued 1o focus on core ciies and cities’ core
areas. The operations of real estate development andt commixcial properties
werg complemantary 1o sach other, In terms of commarcial property
nvestment and operations * the Group atherad 10 the “two-fxonged” business
model of “residential and commorcia”, with *NEO" and "Zoll” a8 s two major
cors commercial beands, which continuad to bring steady rental Income and
asset spprociation 10 the Group, thereby senving tha role as the stabizer of
the operating performance and revenue as well 85 saleguarding the robust
deveiapment af the Group. During the year, the Group fusther focused on its
core resources and capital through the dsposal of the LVGEM Zoll Hongwan
Shopping Mall. The underying revanus from the disposal continues 10 strongly
repianish the Group's cash Sow, lurther strangthening the financial foundation
and safoguarding the sustainabie develcpment of the Group.

In respect of comprehensive services segmant, the Group continued to
thoughtfully develop an all-round comprahansive service system covering
Property managament senvices, hotel operation and other vakud-added senvices
for customers and tenants of residential and commercial propesties. By
adopting a diversified, synergistic and mutual-development strategy, It furthee
broadened its sources of revenue and consoidated the diversfied foundations
of the Group's business.

Maeanwhile, the Group continuad to promote the deveiopmant of smart
technology. On 23 May 2024, the Group entered into a strategc cooperation
agreement with Shenzhen Unicom and Genloy Technology to jointly focus
on the resaarch and development (RAD) and promation of technological and
intefigant solutions covaring various fields in the residential and commercial
sactons, such as “tachnology in real estata”, *smart Ivng”, “aman community”
and *smart industrial park”, particuiady the *Smart Clty” integrating infeligence
and wban areas N the vehicle of Bashizhou, 2024 vas the fulliling yoar for 1ne
mega-city of Baishizhou, During the reporting pericd, we compieted the top-
leved dosign of the Smait CRy area jointly with Huawsi, our strategic partner,
and commenced construction of the infrastructire of the 5G base stations in
paraliel, taking a large stride for the Smarn City area.

In terms of finance, as the farr valun (0SS of INVESIMEnt Propenes increased
and the provisians for mparment loss- of properties under development and
proparties held for sale were made among the currantly unfavorable real
estate market conditions, and partly due to the tact that the Phase | of the
LVGEM Baishizhou Project remaned ahead of the timing of canying forward
any revenue, tha Group recorded a greater 10ss In 2024, However, the so-
called decing in resulls Or even loss axising rom the revaluation of nvestment
properties are financiad adiustments of non-cash nature which are anly shown
a8 book values and do not directly affect the core operating proft or oparting
cash flow of the business.

For the Group, ity investment propedies are mainly concantrated in the core
areas of fest-tier cities such as Shenzhon. Under the market adjustmant in
he pravious yoar, iis propesties also sufferad from the pressure on valuation
and investment. Nonetheless, considening that thase properties have higher
vilua by thor prime locations and appreciation potential in the long teem, thekr
potentinl vaiua will remain uneflected in the long run even if they are prone 10
drastic fluctuations in fair valus due 10 reduced ligusdity of market in the short
tam.
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With the uncertainties, the slowdown In the real estate sales, the mandatory
raguiation on the funds from pre-sale under the policy of *guarantesd defivery
ol properties”, and the Rqudity problom generally in the market, the Group
s 0iso faced with the Increasing prassure on cash flow as ong of s greater
chatenges. To this end, the Group has tightened its cash fow management, 50
a5 1o safeguard cash flow, L.e. the “Heline” of roal estate anterprisas, by miaking
usa of more precise knowledge, leanar managemant and more maticulous
actions. In June 2024, tha Group disposed of par of the commadcial units and
car parking spaces in Shenzhen Hongwan Shopping Mall at a consideration
ol RME814 milion to aleviate the pressure on the liquidity, The Group will
continus to promiote the dsposal of inefficient assets (0 generale mors cash in
order 10 consoldate (1S barmer moat as a secured foundaban.

Indabtedness problems will be highiighted vwhan there is a shonage of funds.
Tuming passive into active, the Group has actively taken effective measwas
wmunMNunWmuuﬂmuﬂnemmannuwnmduwn
crecitors with & view 10 restructuring and opltimizing its debts, which not only
can énsure the seamiess daly operations, but also can reduce the financing
costs, thus providing strong Aunding support for its future development. The
Group believes that. through the oftshore dabt restructuring, the offshore dobt
structure will be more rationalized and s business operations will be further
robust, which wit ba more securo for the Group in fulfliing its responsititios 10
Investors, creditors, home buyers, returning reiocated tenants and other parties
in the society.

In terms of land resarve, in 2024, In the tace of market uncertainties and the
Impact of the macroeconomic envronment, adhanng 10 its bottom-fine mindset
and the cautious and prudent approach, and, on the pramise of safpguarding
safety, the Group proactively expanted its reserves 10 inclods hgh-quaity
land parosis in the core cities and core aeas in the GBA, and maintained its
investment at a certan lovel. As at 31 Decamber 2024, the Group had a land
resenve of sppeoximately 6.4 milion square meters, of which approximately
84% was focated in tha cora locations of tha core cifies in th GBA such as
Shanzhen, Hong Kong, Znuhas and Dongguan, which are well sarved by public
trensiport with enarmous devalopment potentis, With relatively huge room
for npprociation in the Tutlre, thess land rosenves are expectod 1o bring higher
revenue 1 the Group and enhance the Group's competitiveness in the market,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

By virtue of i1s great strongth and resSiance amidst market downtum, ths
Group were once again wall-recognized by the industry for ita outstanding
operating performance, brand influence and comprehensive strength, In
2024, the Group was rankad among the *Top 10 Real Estate Developars
in Shanzhen” for thiteen consecutive years. LVGEM Baishiznou Jingting
was awardod 1he Intarmational Pioneor Design Award for Landscape in the
Intamational Picnesr Design Award (IDPA AWARD) in Japan for Its innovative
dasign concepts, landscape design integrating nature and art, and planning
standards benchmarking against those of the world's first-tier cities, which
i not only & recognition of the Group's design standards, but also sats &
new benchmark for the urban renewa! and high-end residential market of
Shenzhan. LYGEM Baishizhou Smart City Project. which was developod by
the Group In collaboration with ofher technology companies such as Huawel,
Unicom and GenJdoy. wan the *Best Practices for Data Management Award”
at 2024 DAMA, which signifias the high recognition of LVGEM Baishzhou
by the data managernaent and digitization industry across the country, In the
future, adhaning 1o the main development strategy of “establishing a foundation
in Shenzhen, focusing on tha Pearl River Deita white keeping closa tap on
the whole country” and taking digital infeligance as guidance, the Geoup will
makio precise deployment in the GBA and continue 1o create highly innovathe,
futunistic and high-quality products 1o set a benchmark for residential iving,
50 38 10 Make A8 COre a3SHLS MOMD A, Procicus and durabile, hence further
promoting the appreciation in value.

Real Estate Development and Sales

During the reponing period, remaining as the core and man business of the
Group, the i estato development and sales projects wees mainly locatad
in the core arcas of core clties of the GBA. For the year ended 31 Decamber
2024, tha real estate development and sakes of the Group generaled revenue
of appromately RMBZ.627.9 millon (2023: RMBS,010.8 millan), representing
8 yer-onyear decrease of approxdmately 47 5%, which was mainly attributatsie
to recognition of sales of LVGEM Royal Bay, LVGEM Intemation Garden
and LVGEM Mangrove Bay No, 1 Project, In 2024, the Group's contracted
salos based on the commodity housing purchase agreements amounted 1o
approximatoly AMB11,074.8 meion (2023: RMBS, 152.0 milion), ropresenting
A ysar-on-yisk ncrease of approwmately 21.0%, which was mainly attributabie
1o sales contribution from Phase | of the Baishizhou Project. According 10 the
data published by CRIC, an suthoritative crganization, the Group was rankad in
the "Top 20 Real Estata Enterpeises Saws in Sharzhen 2024° and was rankad
99t in tho “China Real Estate Entorprises Sakss Ranking 2024°, in 2024, the
real estate market in China was stil in the stage of “tha deciine coming 10 an
end and recovenng at @ stable level” with the davelopmant of the Industry
encountenng various ditficulties. The Group proactively adusted is strategies
10 566k breakihvoughs and development amidat the hardship, Benefited from
the refined cost control and improved operational alficisncy, the principal
busnesses contnued 10 operate steaddy, which demonstrated the strength for
sustanabie development,
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Commercial Property Investment and Operation

In 2024, in the area of commercial property invastment and operations, the
Group maintained steady operation of 3 sefies of commercial properties
representad by the brands “Zol* and "NEO", which providad sustainabis cash
flow and rental incoma to the Group. In particuliy, such propenias include:
NEO Urban Commercial Complex, Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall, Zoil Mangrove
Shopping Mall, Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall, Zoll Yuexl Stopping Mal, Zoll
Huazhou Shopping Mal, Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall, Zoll 18668 Commarcial
Streat, as well as other stores and investment propertias. During the reporting
penod, the Group hald over 30 commarclal property peojects with a total
gross floor area of over 1.6 miion square meters. The revenue ganeratad from
commarcial property investment and oparmations amounted to approximaltely
RAMBESE.4 million (2023: RMB700.9 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 4.9% year-on e,

Comprehensive Services

The Group provides oOMPrEhansive Services 1o customars and 1enants of
In the cantral business district of Futian District, Shenxhen, LVGEM Hotal &
situated in @ pame location and has an averaga cocupancy rato of over 72% in
2024, Shenzhen LVGEM Jiyuan Property Managament Service Co., Lid, and
Shenzhen LVGEM Property Management Co.. Ltd.. both being subsidaries
of the Group, provide comprehensive and qualty property management
sonices for 4 number of proparies developed by the Group, Inchuding secunty
Sarvices, property maintenance and management of ancilary facities. As at
51 Dacermber 2024, comprehansive services of the Group generated revenua
of AMB419.5 million (2023: RMB40S.9 miion), representing & yoar-on-year
Incroase of approximately 3 4%. The divarsified operation model and strategy
has reduced the rsk of reliance on & single business, and Droadenad the
sources of rovenus for the Group on # Continuous basis,

Future Prospect

In 2024, the real estate marke! remained in a cycle of adjustment with
inoregsing support from stimulus poficies. The two raunds of key supporting
polictes weore introduced on 17 May and 26 September respactively with
meagures ranging from credit support 1o the relaxation of restrictions on
property purchases, which have begun 10 boar frult. As the yoar 2025 s the
concluding year of China's *14th Five-Year Fian®, with the demand for steady
macroeconomic growth, it s expectod that the policy environment o tho
ranl gstate ndustry, as one of the pllar industrias, will continue 10 be relaxed,
and fiecal and financial policies that are condudive 10 the rebound of the rest
estate market wil be launched continuously across the country, which will
facilitato turther rolease of residential home démand. Notwithstanding the
decroase 0 population and the downward pressuta on the economy, the real
estate industry wil adapt 10 the new market ervironment through 5 saries of
policy adustments. Housing peces in cors cifies are axpectad 10 stabiize rom
deching, whie the ncreased supply of “good homes™ will drive tha incroasa
in improved housing demand, thus gradually realizing a stable and batanced
markat.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As China's réal estate markat enters an era whade qualty, resilence and
prudent growth are of paramount significance, the importance of urban
renewal s becoming Increasingly prominent. In 2024, the central govermment as
woll a3 various peovinces and municipalitieg continued 10 (eiaass varous urban
renswal polcies a the scale of the pobicies remaned &t & high fevel, promoting
the continuous improvement of China’s wban renewal polcy systern,

Urtan renawal g an important initiative 1o anhance (he qualily of jife of
residants, mprove urban functions and restors the urban ecosystem, which
is not only an inevitable requirement for tha high-quality development of 8
new mode of urbanzation, tut aiso an important means to axpand domestic
demand, stabilize investment and promote consumption at this stage. The
urhan development In Ching has entéred o stage whers both construction of
nawly-added housing and renewal of exating properties are emphasized. and
the mission of wrban renewal will bacome Increasingly focused In the coming
period. On 3 January 2025, the State Councll hoid s first executive meeting
of the year to make deployment for “studying and promoting urbian fenawa!™.
This impied that the markst would place a much greater emphass on wrban
ranawal. In the next wave of economic growth stabilzation, urban renewal
would play a larger part in quiding the "sxpansion of domestic demana”,
which would effectively proped the further acceleration of the urban renewa!
process across the country, Ih the nit stage, it is anticipatad that mors
supportive policies will b further iIntroduced by verious departments and locsl
governments 10 usher urban tenowal inlo a goiden phase of devopmant
with multi-model innovation, diverse support mechaniems, multiple key tactor
assurances snd mate market participants, thereby creating more market
opportunitios.

The peogress of urban renewal will abviously enter the fast tane in 2005 with the
overall objective of realizing a virtuous: cycls of afficiant econdimic deveiopment,
regh quality Ivng environment for rossdents, creation of exquasite spaces and
high standards of urban governance. At this stage. it Is expected that Lrban
renawal in Shenzhen as weall as the whole GBA will piay an important rola n the
reciaployment of spatial structure of the city, redevalopment of land resources,
redistritution of aconomic benefits and reshaping of regional functions.

2024 was a challenging ysar for Ihe Group. LVGEM (China)'s cucrent financial
difficuitios aro mersly the result of the combined effect of the long lits-cycle
of the urban fanewal model, the inhernt conflicts of heavy assets and the
lcyadity crisis in the industry. Howawer, the Group s well-poisad for challenges
with its strong risk rosponse capabitty, Looking forward into 2025, the Group
will proactively adust it8 strategies, which mainly includes three areas: 1,
rarrowing down the strategic scope of business and focusing the Group's
resources on the davelopment of five high-quality projects, particularly the
Bashizhou Project, and concentrating ol our afforts on ensuring the delivery of
the Project in 2025; 2. strangthening its ssset operation capabilty and putting
graater offorts In openling propertes to shift the growth momantum across the
sogments. The era of high profit marging of the real estate is gver, We nesd 0
continuously contributs 1o the Group's resulls by capitalizing on the rols of the
operating properties as tha stabiizer of #s revenue. The Group will gradualy
achieve the shitting gears BCross the segments, and strangthening the rola
of the operating properties ot a stabilzer of its performance 0 safeguard ids
recovery; 3. With the suppon of polices, urban renewal will enter a golden
phase of developmant, creating more market opponunities. Loveragng its 40
yaars of epenence N urban renewyl, the Group wi proactively deze the wban
renewal opportunities in the GBA to further promote urban ranewal, adopt
tha “Technology+ Real Estate”™ model 10 cater to the demands for the future
fterative upgrade of urban functions in the GBA, and make 1ull use of the latest
technuiogios 1o enhance the efficiency of developmaent and oporation.
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In respoct of the indebtedness; the Group, together with its financial advisers
and legal counsal team, are-also exploning and desely engagng with vanous
creditors on the delit restructuring plan, In ling with the current practice of
many listed real ostate anterprisas in the property industry, by promoting
offshore debl restructunng, the Group will alleviate the Squidity stress and
batter focus its resourcas on the operstions, the development of its fve quaity
progcts and the “guarnteed defivery of properties”, 50 as to mone affectively
fulfl (s sockal responsiities.

The operation of tha Group s undar some pressute in the short tarm,
currently been exhausted. With the gradual stabiieation of the industry and
the continuous axecution and enhancement of the Group's refined operational
capablities, coupled with the qualty asset pipoling It haid, the Group's value
will be restored and its development potential will be worth looking forward
0. Thir Group will certainly be able 10 achieve sustainable development in
ralum for the trus! and support of employees, relocated proparty owners,
sharaholders and the communiy,

Financial Review
Revenuo

Tha Group's rovenus mainly comprised of revenue from 58#es of properties
held for sale, leasing of nvestment propérties and comprebensive senices. The
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMB3.713.9 mifion (2023: RMBS,117.0 milon), representing a decrasse of
appooximately 39.3% as comparad 10 the a5t year, which was manty dua
o the decrease in revenue from sales of properties held for sale recognised
during the repaning pariod.
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Increase/

2024 2023 |gecreass]

—¥-@¥ =9==% w3
ARMTR AR®FR ARKTR B
AMB'000 RMB000 RAMB000 %
Real estate devolopment and sales B NR LW 2,627,934 5010848 (2,382,912) 476

Commercial property investment RIR@I RIS R IR B

il cperations 666,410 700,854 (34,444) -49
Camgrehansive sanvices BaSEH 419,543 405,928 13615 34
Tote i) 3,713,887 6,117,628 (2,403,741) -39.3

For the year ended 31 Decembar 2024, the revenue from sales of propertes
held for sale was approximately RMB2,627.9 milllon (2023: AMB5,010.8
miion), representing a decrease of approximately 47.6% as compared to
last year, which was manly attributable to the sales of LVGEM Roya! Bay and
LVGEM International Garden and LVGEM Mangrove Bay No, 1 Praect. The
Group's total gross fioor aree of properties hekl for sale recogised as revenue
during the year endad 31 December 2024 was approximately 106,149 sguarg
meters (2023 approximatedy 252 857 square metors),

LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Revenue from isasing of iwestment properdies for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately RMB666.4 million (2023: RMB700.8 milicn). The

‘Group's commercial properties are all located in core &reas. The properties

am mainly operated under the trands of “Zol™ and *NEO". Disregarding the
occupincy rate of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO, the occupancy rate of other
vestment properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 maintained at & high
level of over 76%, The cocupancy rate of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO as at 31
December 2024 was 70% (2023: 71%).

The Group provices comprshentive services 10 Customerns and tenants of its

lhommdadS‘l mzm comprehensive servicas of the Group
genarated revanue of appeoximately RMB418.56 million (2023: RMB40S5.9
milion), reprasenting an increasa of approximately 3.4% ss compared to the
last yoar. The incresse was mainy atirbetabie (0 the increase of revenue of
Huazhou Wands Plaza in 2024 as compared with that in 2023,

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 Dacember 2024, the Group's integrated gross profit
was approssmistety RMB150.8 millon (2023: RMB1,576.3 millon), reprassnting
o dacrease of approximatoly 90.4% as comparad to fast year, and the
Infegrated gross profit margin for the year ended 31 Docember 2024 was
approximately 4.1% (2023: 25.8%), The fluctuation of gross profit was mainly
caused by the write-down of ptoperties under developmant for sake and
properties heid for s3io of RMBBET.1 million recognised In current year,

Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, seling expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB151.9 milion (2023 RMB256.4 million),
representing a decreans of approximately 40.8% as compared to the yesr due
10 the decreasa of property sales recognsed in 2024, The seling axpenses
mainly incluged advertising expenses and saiss CoMmmissions for salas of
propenties.

Administrative Expenses

For 1he yaar ended 31 December 2024, administrative expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB4B2.7 million (2023; RMB454.3 milion),
reptesanting an increass of approximately 1.9% as compared to the last
year, The administrative expenses mainly incluged the legal and professional
fea ncurred 0 relation o the onshore and offshore financing activties in the
cumment year,

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The valiation on the Group's investment properties ss at 31 Decembor
2024 was conducted by an indepandent proparty valuer and the drectons of
the Company which resulted in & falr vilue loss on investment peopertias of
approximately AMB2 897.7 miion {2023; AMB1,151.5 mion) for the year
anded 31 December 2024,
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Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 Decernber 2024, finance costs of the Group amounted
10 approximately RMB2,049.5 miion (2023: RMB1,744.1 millon), reprosenting
an ncrease of appromataly 17.5% as compared to last year dus 10 less
capitalised intocest upon compistion of davelopment project durng the year,
The Group's average finance cost of interest-bearng loans was 8.0% (2023:

B.2%) for tha year endied 31 Decomber 2024,

Income Tax (Credit) Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2024, income tax credit of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB264.3 million (2023: intome tax expense
of RMB288.3 miilion). The Group’s income tax (credit) axpense included
payments and provisions made for Enterprise Income Tax (“EITT), Land
Appreciation Tax ("LAT”) and deferred tax during the year. The changa from
Income tax expensses 10 Noome tax orad was mainly tha result from deferred
tax cradit provided in the far value 1oss of iInvesiment properties in curment year,

Operating Results

For the year enczd 31 Dacamber 2024, the 1058 attfibutabie 1o owners of the
Company was approximataly RMB5,171.4 miion (2023: RMB2,126.5 milion),
aprasanting an increase of approximatoly 143,2% as compared 10 the ast

year,
Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

Bank balances and cash (including restrictad bank deposits and pladged bank
deposits) as at 31 Decamber 2024 amounted 10 approximataly RMB3.303.8
million (2023: RMB4.016.6 millon). Tha Group's bank bakances and cash are

denominatad in RMB, Hong Kong Dollar ("HKS") and USS.

The Group had total borrowangs of approxmistely RMB33,578,7 millon as at
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB35,350,0 million). Borrowings classified as
curront abities wern approxmatoly RMB30 9053 milion (2023: RMB10,006.1

BRAx
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Breakdown of total borrowings fuRAe
By currency denomination BHARNES
2024 2023
—g=mE —%==
AMB'000 RAME000
ARNFE AR®FR
Denominated in AMB. WA KSR 23,289,842 24,566,203
Denominatad in HKS MRTTAHA 6,502,835 7,367,788
Denominated in LSS _ _HEEHE 3,785,900 3428010
33,578,676 35,350,001
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By fixed or variable interest rates EBEITENEND

2024 2023

—¥=-nE =
RMB'000 RMB000
AR®TX ARSFx
Fxad inerest rates BRHE 7,966,080 6578834
Variabie intares! rates FhME 25,612,508 28,771,167
33578676 36.350,001

Tha Group's gaaring riabo as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 126.2%
[2023: 106.6%), which was based on nat debt (total interest-bearing loans
nat of bank balances and cash (including restricted bank daposis)) over total
equity.

Current, Total and Net Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had currant assets of approxmataly
RMEBG2.624.4 millon [2023; AMB58,957.7 millicn) and curent liabdities of
spproximately AMBS0,441.1 milfion (2023; AMB39,373.5 million), which
represantad 4 CeCTease N nat current a5sets from appcoamataly RMB20.578 3
millior a8 at 31 Dacamber 2023 to approximately RMB3,183.4 milion as ot
31 Docember 2024, The decrease In net cument assets as at 31 December
2024 was mainly attributable to the decreasa of deposits paid, prepayments
and other receivables, the increase of contracted subilties, accruals, deposits
received and other payabies, cumant portion of bamowings and other cument
liabilities, which was partially offset by the mcrease of bank balances, and
tha decrease of sccounts payable and current portion of domestic corporata
bonds.

As at 31 Decamber 2024, tho Group recorded total assets of approxmately
RMB103,586.7 milion (2023: RMB105,512,6 miion) and total liabilities of
approwmately RMB79.605.5 milion (2023: RMBY6,123.5 millon), representing
a labilites 10 assats mbo of approximately 76,9% (2023 72.2%). Net assets
of the Group were approximately AMB23.981.2 million (2023: RMB29,389.0
millon) a5 at 31 Decamber 2024,

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was able to utilise
its intemnal resourcas and debt and aquity financing to meat the funding
requiraments for the development of real ostite projects.
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As at 31 December 2024, loans of approximately RMB30.893.1 miion (2023:
RME32,343.0 million) were securd by properties under developrnont for sale,
properties held for sale, mvesiment propertes, property, plant and equipment,
equiy instnuments &t FVTOC! and pledged bank depasits, dvidand recenvabies
on equity instrumant at FYTOC! and other pledged deposits of the Group
respectively in the totad amount of approximately RMB23,350.3 million (2023
RAMB26,912.9 miion) and the equity interests of subsidlanes of the Group,

Material Acquisition and Disposal

Sharizhan LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Lig.” (95 RE e 80
S48 2 5) (Shenzhen LVGEM), an indirect wholy-owned subsiary of the
Company, and Shenzhen Futian industrial Investment Secvices Co,, Lid.* (®
YIRS R R R R 2 F) the “Purchaser), a company establshod
wnder the ws of the PRC with imited &ability, emtared into an agreement on 7
March 2024 (as suppiementas on 16 Apet 2024), wheraby Shenzhen LVGEM
agread 10 sel, tnd the Purchaser agreed 10 purchase. certain commercial
units, car parking spaces of Hongwan Shopping Mall and refated property
faciities (the “Properties”) at a cash conscdaration of RMBE13.87 million (the
“Disposal’). In addition, Shenzhen LVGEM and the Purchaser further enterd
Into tha tanancy agreamant on 13 March 2024 (as supplemented on 18
April 2024}, pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed 1o let the Properties 1o
Shenzhen LVGEM for a temn of five years commencing fom the handover of
the Properties at the rent of RMB4,178.333.33 per calandar month for the first
Isasing year with an incramant of 1.5% for oach of the naxt four leasing years.
The Disposal constituted a major transaction for the Campany under Chapter
14 of tha Rules Goveming the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Umited. For further detals, please refer 1o the Company's
announcement dated 6 June 2024 and the Company’s crcular dated 30 July
2024,

Save for the above. during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group i
not onter Into any material scousition or dsposal of subsianes, associales or
jont ventures.

Contingent Liabilities

Asat 31 December 2024, the Group had financlal guarantee contracts relating
10 guarantess in respect of mongage faciities for canain purchasers amaunting
10 approvamately RMB7,007.4 milion (2023: RMB4,879.7 milon). Pursuant to
the tarms of the gusrantees. 1f thers is default of the modgage paymonts by
these putchasers, the Group 18 responsible 10 repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any sccrued inferest and penalty owed by the defaulled
purchasers 1o the banks.

The Group's guarantse pencd commences from the dates of grant of tha
mmmwmmnmdnmmn
indiidual proparty ownarship certificate or the full settierant of morigage icsns
by the buyer,

24 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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The diksctars of the Company consider that It is not probiable for the Group 10
sustain 2 loss under 1hiss guaraniees as during the pariods under guarantees;
the Group can take over the ownerships of the related properties unter default
and sall the proporties 1o recover any amounts pald by the Group 1o the
banks. The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respact of these
guarantess as 85 1A valuo is considennd 1o ba minimal by th directons of the
Company. The diectors of the Company also consider that the falr markat
vaiue of the undorying propentios & abie to cover the outstanding mongage
loans guarantead by the Group In the event that the purchasers default
payments to the banks for ther morigage lans.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hodges

Aimost all of the Group's operaling activities are carried out in the Mainland
China with mast of the transactions denominated i Renmintx. The Group s
axpased 10 foreign currancy risk arlsing from the exposure of HKS and Unted
States dollars against Ranminbs 85 8 result of cortain cash batances and laans
in HKS or Urvtiad States dollars.,

The Group does ot have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, tho
Directors monitor the Group's foreign exchangs exposure closely and may,
dopending on the circumstances and trend of foreign curmency, consider
adoptng appropriate foregn currency hedging polcy in the future.

Treasury Policies and Capital Structure

The Group adopts & prudent approach with respect o treasury and funding
polices, with o focus on risk management and trarsactions that am directly
refated to the underying business of the Group.

Employees

Agat 31 Dacember 2024, the Group had & staff roster of 1,987 (2023: 2.209),
of which 1,854 (2023: 2,177) empioyees wara bazed in the Mainiand China
and 33 (2023: 32) employees were based In Hong Kong. The remuneration
of employoes was In ino with the marke! trends and commensurate to the
levess of remuneration n the incdlustry. Remunaration of the Group's employess
such as share options within an approved schame. In addition, training and
deveiopment programmes @re provided 10 the Groul's empioyses on an on-
going basis throughout the Group:;
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Executive Directors

Ms, HUANG Jingshu, aged 37 is an Executve Director and Chairman of
the Company and Is responsitle for the overall business development of
tha Company. From August 2012 1o July 2013, Ms, HUANG served in the
Guangzhou branch of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Spacial General Partnership)
and her last position was analyst of Corporate Risk Management Service
Division, whare she was primarily responsible for providing professional
sorvices to clients. Ms. HUANG was appointed as an indepandent non-
executtve dector of China Brillian! Global Linwtad, tha shares of which e
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *Stock Exchanga’)
wilh a stock cods of 8026, on 1 October 2023. Since November 2010, Ms.
HUANG started sarving In Shanzhen LVGEM Entity Managemant Group
Co, Lo, (RYUMH N LTS MR 2 §) and her position was the
vico general managar of the investment managemant department and was
respansibie for corporats development and planning matters, Ms. HUANG
obtained har Bachidor of Arts with Honours degred In Accounting and Fnenice
from University of Exader in the United Kngdom in July 2010, and her Master
of Scence degres in Accounting anvd Finance in November 2011, Ms. HUANG
was sppointed as an executive diractor and the chaiman of the Company on
15 May 2014 and 5 Juna 2014 respactively, Me. HUANG i the daughter of Mr,
WONG Hong King, the controling sharehoider of the Company, the sister of
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, an executive director of the Company, and the cousin
of Ms, LI Yuled, an executive director of the Comparty.

Mr. YE Xingan, aged 81, is an Executive Director ot the Company and 1§
nesponaibie for the overall project developmant and Management (nd business
branding management of tha Company. He joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity
Managament Group Co., Lid. (47 &R & 2 % 13 & M 8 5L 2 7)) in March
2007 and served as the executive vice president and was responsibla for fis
overall operation management. Prior 1o joining the Company, from March
1963 10 August 2002, Mr, YE served varicus positions in M Hi (> 8RS 9
18 22 B) (China Vanke Co., L1d."), & company primary angaged in read estate
denvelopment. From August 2002 to March 2005, Mr. YE served as a director
and genaral managee of Chengou Xinyl Investment industry Co,, Lid, (i 35
He 525X RN R 2 T} and was primanly responsibie for overall management.
From March 2005 to March 2007, Mr. YE served a5 a director and genaral
manager of Shanzhen Xinyl Real Estate Investment Development Co., Ltd.
(R 2R M T 12 RN A1 B2 ) and was primatily responsible for
its overall management. Mr. YE obtainad his associate degree In accounting
from Jiangal Colage of Finance and Economics (11 7 B & %2, now known
as Jiangw University of Finance and Economica (3L 8 58! 8 A W) in the
PRC In June 1886, and he studied courses of master's dogrea in business
adminstration o Inlemationsl Busnoss Administration School of University of
International Business and Economics (HA MRS SRR TATESE)
in the PRC from September 2000 10 September 2001. Mr. YE was appointed 85
an exacutive diroctor of tho Company on 16 May 2014,

* Fer identification purpose only S 9 %
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, aged 34, is an Exeoutive Director of the Company
and 3 responsibie for nvestment property aperation and management of tha
Company. Mr, HUANG joined Shanzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group
Co., Lid, (MM RS TWE S MM 2 W) n 2014, and served as the
deputy general manager of the Investment and Development Centre and was
responsibie for formulating its strategic deveiopment and investment plans,
as wel as responsibla for project execution and the evaluation of potential
projects. Fram August 2018 1o February 2017, Mr, HUANG servad a3 a
seniof Investment manage: of ¥ & i & W 9 4 R 2 7] (Boshuang Assets
Managament Co., Lid.") and was responsibie for pro@ct development and
evaluation and monktoring of investiments, Mr, HUANG possesses 11 yaars'
working experiénce in the real astate Industry in China. Mr. HUANG was

appcinted s 8n exacutve dictor of tha Company on 21 February 2017, Mr,

HUANG = the son of Mr. WONG Hong King, the controling sharahoider of the
Compary, the younger brother of Ms. HUANG Jingshu, an executhve director
and chanman of the Company, and the cousin of Ms. LI Yulsi, an exmoutive
director of the Company,

Ms. LI Yufel, aged 34, is an Executive Direclor of the Company and is
responsible for human relations of the Company. Ms, LI served various
postions In 54| AR B 57 5 1 60 % 4R 2 5] (Sherzhen LVGEM Real Estate
Deveiopment Co,, Ltd."), a subsidiary of the Comparty, from February 2015
1o Decamber 2018, namely, the assistan| 1o General Manager of the Cost
Mummoapmm an investment manager of Strategic investment

Managemunt Department and an officar of Financd Department, respectivaly,
Ms. U foined LVGEM (Suzhou) Real Estate Investment Company Limited, 8
subsidiary of the Company, as the assistant 10 the chairman of the Company
and the head of the General Managamant Departmant of the Company in
January 2019, Me. U was appointed as a drector of China LVGEM Property
Holdings Limited, a company indirectly wholly-owned by the controlling
shoraholder of the Company, Mr. Wong Hong King, 0 August 2019, Ms. L)
pbtained the Degreo of Bachoior of Scenco in Economics from The Queon's
University of Belfast in the Unitad Kingdom in July 2013 and a Degree of
Master of Science in Financs from The University of Manchester in the Unted
Kingdom in November 2014, Ma. LI was appointod as an exocutive direcior
of the Company on 1 June 2022 Ms: Ui is the cousn of Ms. Huang Jingshu,
an executive dractor and the chairman of the Company and Mr. Hang Hao
Yuan, an oxecutive direcior of the Company: and the niece of Mr. Wang Hong
King, the ultimate controling shareholdoer of the Compatry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Kook Fat, nged 45, is an independent Non-Exacutive Diroctor
of the Company and & responsitie Tor providing indopendent judgement and
sorutinising the performance of the Company, Mr. CHAN has been appointod
as the chig! financial offices. the company secratary and the authorised
representative of China Brliant Glotal Limited ("CBG") {a company ksted on the
Stock Exchange under stock code: 8026) since 12 February 2018. Mr, Chan
has aver 21 years of expedence in the aress of capital markets, accountng and
fnance, investmant and corporats managemant covering & number ol indusiry
sectors such as real astate, medical and garment. Prior 10 joining CBG,
Mr. CHAN was the chief fnancial officer and comipany secretary. of On Raal
Intarnationad Hoidings Limitex! (a company sted on the Siock Exchange unde:
stock code: 8245) from March 2016 10 August 2017 and was responsible
for all financisl, acoounting, investment and corporata finance matters. Since
August 2007, Mr, CHAN held senior positions including chief finencial officer;
financial controlier and company secratary of cartan companies which wera
ksted on Singapore Exchange Limitad. Mr, CHAN holds a Master of Business
Agmnistration (Financial Services) of Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
a bachelor degree in accounting of Lingnan Unmversity, Hong Kong. He is a
follow and practicing member of the Hong Kong institute of Certiied Public
Accountants and a fellow mamber of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr, CHAN was appointed as an independant non-exacutive
deactor of tha Campany on 30 August 2024,
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Ms. JIAO Jie, aged 44, Is an Indapendent Non-Exacutive Diractor of the
Company and Is responsible for providing independent judgement and
senutinising the performance of the Company. Ms. JIAD currantly serves as
a sanior adviser to Piay For Dream Inc,, having priviously heid the pasition of
chiet financial officer from June 2019 1o June 2024, From 2007 102018, Ms.
JIAD hold senior managemont roles In several companies, including China
Sunshine Paper Hokhngs Company Limied (s company listed on the Stock
Exchange undor stock code: 2002), SouFun Holdings Limitad {currently known
as Fang Hoidings Limiad, a company formenty ksted on the New York Stock
Exchange undar stock code: SFUNJ, ArtGo Mining Holdings Limited {currently
known as ArtGo Holdings Limited,a company ¥sted on the Stock Exchange
undee stock code: 3313) and (Cllck Interactive Asia Group Limied (a company
listed on the Nasdag Stock Exchange under stock code: ICUK).

Ms. JAD currently serves as an indepandant non-executive director for (1)
TradeGo FinTech Limited (3 company listed on the Stock Exchange under
stock code: 8017); (2) China Sunshing Paper Holdings Company Limited (o
company listed on the Stock Exchangs under stock code: 2002); (3) Palasing
Haoidings Limiled (& company isted on the Stock Exchange unoer stock code:
2536}, {4) EP! (Holdings} Limited (8 company listad on the Stock Exchango
undar slock code: 689) and (5) Tani Holdngs Group Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange under stock code: 117). Ms JIAO s also an
independent director of Quhuo Limited & company sted on the Nasdag Stook
Exchange undor stock code: QH). Ms. JIAD was an independant drector of
Crina Index Hoidings Limited, a company previously ssted on Nasdaq, unti
May 2022. Ms, JIAD was also an indepandent non-executve drecior of MOG
Digitech Holdings Limitad (8 company fisted on the Stock Exchange under
stock code: 18421 until August 2024, Ms, JWO was also an ndependent non-
executive desctor of Strong Petrochamical Holdings Limited (o company ksted
on the Stock Exchange under stack code: 852) untl January 2025,

Ms. JIAO holds a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Bachelor of Economics
dagres from Palding University. She also holds & degree of Magister Juris from
the University of Oxford, Ms. JIAO s a charter holder of Chartered Financial
Analyst, a feliow of the Chartered Institute of Managament Accountants, and 8
fefiow of both the Institute of Fnancial Accountants and the Institute of Public
Accountants, She has oblained the Legal Professional Quadcation Certificate
from the Mirestry ot Justice of the People's Repubic of China.
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Tha drectors of the Company (the *Directon”) are pleased 1o present their
repont together with the audited consalidatoed financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024,

A review of 1he busingss of the Group during the year under review #nd a
fiscus®on on thet Group's future Business development, passible tisks and
uncenainties that the Group may be facing and important evenis affecting the
Company occusred during the year ended 31 Decembee 2024 are peovcded In
the section headed “Chairman’s Statoment” on pages 5 10 8 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis™ on pages 9 to 25 of thia
annual report.

An analysss of the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December
2024 using tinancial perdormance indicalors is providad in (he section headed
*Managamant Discussion and Analys:s” on pages @ to 25 of this annual report.

Principal Activities

Trie Group I8 principally engaged In property. developmant and property
Investmen! businesses.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As ot 31 Docember 2024 and up 1o thix date of this annual report, the Board
was not aware of any non-comphance with the relevant laws and requiations
that had a significant Impact on the businesses and oparations af the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group rscogmses environmental protection is of vital importance to the
long term development of the Group, In order to minimise the esvironmental
Impact, the Group will continus 10 reviews and improve the effactivenass of its
managemant practicas from time o time.

“Environmental, Social and Govemance Repod” wil be putiished at the same
time 85 the publication of this annual rport. The English and Ghincse versions of
the “Ervronmental, Socsl and Govemanoe Repon”™ are avallabie to be viewed
and/or downloadad on the Company's website at www.lvgem-ching.com
by clicking “Announcement & Cirudars” under the section headed “investon
Reiations™ and the websita of The Stock Exchangs of Hong Kong Limited the
“Stock Exchange”) at www, rkeanews hk,

Results and Dividend
Tho results of the Group for the year ended 31 Decamber 2024 and the statn
of affairs of the Grioup 8t that date are set out in the consolidated financial
staternents on pages 67 to 185,

The Booard does nol recommendod the paymant of any final dvidend lor the
yaar endad 31 December 2024,

Convertible Bonds and Share Capital

Detalls of the movesnents in the Company’s convartible bonds and share
capita during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in notes 30 and
33 to the consaldated financial stalements.

Reserves

Datals of the movemants in the reserves of the Group during tho year am sat
out in the consolidated statemant of changes in ecuity.
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Distributable Reserves

Purguant 1o tha applicabls statutory provigions of the Cayman Islands, the
Campany did not have any reserve available for distribution as at 31 Dacember
2004 (2023: RMB1,087.3 milica).

Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did nat make any
charitabla donation,

Property, Plant and Equipment

Detalls of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
e set out in note 15 10 the consoldatad financial statoments.

Principal Properties

Datals of the prncpal properties for vesimant Duiposes and propernties under
developmont for sale are set out on pages 187 to 196,

Pre-Emptive Rights

Thera is no provision for pra-emptive rights under the Company's articles of
Bssociation or the laws of Cayman isiangs, which would oblige the Company
10 ofler new shares on a provrata bass 1o exsting sharsholders.

Tax Relief

The Campany & not awars of any reliel from taxation avaiable 10 sharehokfers
by teason of their holding of the Company's shives.

Financial Summary

A summary of the cesults and of tho assels and labiities of the Group for the
st five Sinancial years ts set out on page 186,

Pur Sale of the
chase, aor Redemption Company's

Naithar the Company nar-any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
radeemed any of the Company's fstad secunities (including saie of reasury
shares (as defined under the Listing Rulel) during the year. As at 31 Decomber
2024, the Company did not hald any treasury shares (a5 defined undar the
Listing Fula).
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Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

During the yaar ended 31 Decemnber 20124, the Group did not make any
spnificant invastmants, nor materdsl acquisitions or disposal of sutisiciaries.
associato and joint ventures thal would constiute a discloseable transaction
under Crapter 14 of the Rules Govaming the Listing of Secunties (the “Listing
Rulas™) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *Stock Exchange”),

Based on the fnancial and Squidity pasition of the Group (with datals sot out
in the paragraphs headed *Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing” of
ths roport), 1o the best knowledge of the Company, the Company expects
that 1 will bo able 1o moet s redemplion cbigations under tha outstanding
convertile securities issued by i

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up 1o the date of this report
wore &9 folows:

Executive Directors

Ma. HUANG Jingshu (Grainman and Griat Executive Otficer]

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chvef Exacutive Offcev) (retired on 31 March 2024)
Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Ma. LI Yufed

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing fretireg on 31 May. 2024)

Ms. HU Gin ing (resgned on 14 February 2025)
Mr. MO Fan fresigned on 14 Fabruwy 2025)

Mr. CHAN Koon Fat (@apointed on 30 August 2024)
Ms. JIAO J (@opointed on 14 February 2025)

In accardance with the Company’s articles of association, Me. CHAN Koon Fat
and Ms. JIAO Je. shall retire from offioe at the first annual general meeting of
the Company after ther appointment, In addition, Ms. HUANG Jngshu and
Ms, LI Yufes shall retire from office at the fodthcoming annual general meating of
the Company by rotation. Al the above Directors, being elgible, have offersd
themseives for re-elaction at the annual general meeting of the Company.

Tne Company has receved from each ndependent non-axeoutive Director an
annual confirmation of he/her independence pursuant 10 the Listing Rules and
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical detaits of the Difeciors and senior mansgemant are st out on
pagess 26 1o 28,

Directors' Service Agreements

Each of the executive Directors has entersd into a service agreement with the.
Cormpany and is subject to termination by eithar party in the manner as set out
In the sanice agreament.

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-executive
Directors have enterod o a letter of appointment with the Company for &
term of twe years: and i5 subject 1o termination by either party in the manner as
sat out In the lotter of apponiment,

None of the Directors who are pruposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general maeting have a servica agreemant of ietter of appormtment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not detanminabia by 1he employing
company within one year without payment of compensatian (other than
stotutory compensation).

Directors' and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Contracts

Save as tisciosed In note 43 10 the consolidated financial siatements, none
of the Directors or an entity Connectad with the Diroctoes, and contralling
shareholders of the Company had a matenal banescal intarest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance 10 the business of the Group to
which the Company or.any of its subsidaries was a party during the year,

Remuneration of the Directors and the Five Highest
Paid Individuals

Dotaits of the remunaration of tha Diractons and the five ghest paid individuais
are set out In note 11 10 the consobdated financel staterments.

The remuneration of the Direciors and senior management is determined with
reference 1o their duties, responsibilities and performanca and the Group's
resulls.
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Directors' and Chief Executive's Interests inthe HBETE
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the REHE N
Company

As nt 31 December 2024, tha Directors and the chiof executive of the PR —RS+ A=+ —B EXAGBHNREENN
Company had the following Interasts in the shares, underlying shares and  #Ef1 ([ 28 RN ) Masza i REm B ER M
debenturos of tha Company which were recorded in the register requeed to BEREZ ST ROBANR TS 280 - ERBRG L
ba kept by the Company pursuant to saction 352 of the Securties and Futures REF RN TXHAFMNEES B8 RN EHECIFER
Ordinance (the “SFO7, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 2 EMRFGA NS {730 6 2 S s 0 ([esFal)
Exchange pursuant 1o tha Moda! Code lor Securities Transactions by Ovectors SRR G S HKTLNERIRARS -

of Listed lssuers sot out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (the "Model

Code).
(A) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company A HELTRGLERRGONEN
Number of Approximate
underlying shares percentage of the
(under equity issued share
Long positio/  Capacity/Nature Number of decivatives of the Aggregate capital
Number of Directors Short position  of inferests shares held Company) held interests  of the Company
FHENRERE
(#E2ARE SELEHCRE
gus L2 2 BE/RERR EREORE GEIAT) SERE Rr2EfASE
Ms. HUANG Jrgstis Long Postion Bereficary of & trust 2.400,000,000 - 2400000000 2878
Neve )
E L i1 33 ARHTEA (i1
Long Postion Interasts of spouse 0000000 (RO NS 230608242 41.55%
Nove )
e L] Y imez) (mez
Long Positon Berefics oweer - 4.500.000 Nole 3 4,500,000 0.08%
U1 RESHA imey)
Wr. YE Xingan Long Pastion Benefica ownle - 10.000,000 Mve 3 10.000.000 0.18%
ERERE 15§ RESHA (RES)
W, HUANG Ha) Yuan Long Poston Barefcary of 5 st 2.400,000,000 - 2400000000 Q281%
Note 17
Radss 03 AEHTS A iane)
1Long Poaon Banwficist ownes - 4,500,000 e § 4500000 0.08%
Ha RESHA (eg3)
Ms. Lol Lorgy Poston Barntcid ownes 20000 - 20000 000%
3 U3 § NEAFA
Mz HUGn Ing Long Possion Barwicls owene - 3.000.000 (ke 3 3,000,000 0.05%
#uEx: 3 XEWAA wes)

MR AR sERRABLNY 33
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Directors' and Chief Executive's Interests in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Caompany (Continued)

(&) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

1

Ms, HUANG Jingshu ano Mr, HUANG Hao Yuan are desmed to
be interestod in 2.400,000,000 shares in the Company by wrtue
of them being baneficaries of the family trust of Mr. WONG Hong
King for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO,

Ms. HUANG Jingshu |8 deamed 1o be interosted in 500,000,000
share in the Company ankt 1.828,062,492 convertibie. preferance
shares hesd by Me. Xu Jun Jis, hor Spouse, for the purpcss of Part
XV of the SFO.

Share options were granted to the respective Directors on 28
June 2018, Details of share opliing granted 1o the Directors of
the Company are =8t out in part (B} of this ssction.

Save as disciosed above, as at 31 Dacember 2024, none of the
Company's Directors, chial executive of the Company and thair
pssociates, had any inferests or short positons in the shares, underying
4hares or debentures of the Company or any of Its associated
corporations that was raquired 1o be recorded pursuant 10 esction 362
of the SFO,
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Droctrs and et e s e BRBRRORAARESGY0
Company (Continued)

(B) Long position in underlying shares - share options B HENRSZFR-NER

Under the share option scheme of the Company, share option may ba HARTREZMEENY - RBATRFETON
granted to cortain participants inchuding the Directors and employoes AlEREPER2TARMEASIZRN) LN
of the Company and Its subsidianes 1o subscritie for tha shares of the ERHZRE -EFRMENHN ZMRWFANT -
Campany, Detals of share opltions held by the Directors during the year

aroas folows:

Namber of share options
Ruqne

Ganted  Execised  Canceled Lapsed  Balancest
Balance at durieg during duneg during 31 December  Exercise price

NameofDirectors  Dateolgrat  Exercisable period 1 January 2004 1he year he yesr the yesr e yoar s per share
iy adeny H3

f = it b= =

-A-8 +=R=t-8
j 14 HEER TERR 2B REANE  PEARE  REAER REASR 268 sHaR

RS B/% L

MG egu BEXE BW0% - 210N 15000 - - - - 450000 154
L] ] i5 fon w2
k&) ikiL2)
W ING S MTR0% 015 - TN A0 - - « 000 - 1848
favd i Neted)
FRGa/EEy &gy e
W YE Mg BRAE B0 - 0NN wmom - - - - 1800 154
ERER: ok g Mol
"M’) i‘m;
S HMGHD Yan  B0520% BON2N6 - 2746 4506000 - - . - 450000 18%
EERzs oz ) ol
wen (kigz!
M WRG g g BTHW 26 - TS 200000 - - - 20moo - 158
i1 b3 700 fow fie 2
wgy 0757
W H)Gorg A P B - TN 300 - > - - 3000000 158
gHsne ke ) fowd
(k) ke
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& Seiyl 38 )



EXEFMF CRID A RA F 2 E ik 2024 £ EHRE

Directors' and Chief Executive's Interests in the
0 UW and Debentures of the

(B) Long position in underlying shares - share options (Continued)
Notes!

1. The share options are exaccisable in tha following manner for a
period of 10 yoars from the date of grant:

M  30% of the share options shall exercise on the date of the
grant and up 1o 27 June 2026;

04 30% of the share ogtions shal exorcise upon the expiry of
one year from 28 June 2016 and up 10 27 June 2026; and

() 40% of the shars options shall exercise upon 1he expiry of
WO yoars fram 28 June 2018 and up to 27 Juna 2026.

2 Detass of tha fai value of the options granted in 2018 are set out
in note 35 to the consoldsled linanciel stataments.

3. Mr TANG Shouchun retired as an exécutive Director and the <!
axecutive officer of the Company with affect from 31 March 2024,

4, Mr, WANG Jing retited as an independent non-sxscutive Dvector
with effect from 31 May 2024,
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Substantial Shareholders' Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company

Directors’ Report

EmanRs

TERIREQATNRERENBRESFR
ARNE

So tar as known 10 the Gompany, as at 31 Decernbar 2024, sharsholders other M =F W&+ F=+— 5 YA 60 S¥ (K
than Direciors or chia! exacutive of the Company) who had interests or short = SRR T B8 A RRN) MR NNEE KRR
postions in the shares or underying shares of the Company whichwoud faito SR RAARREAZEN SN ExvERBanENa T
ba cksclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part @ 812 I 83 G0 R & 2062 5000 % 15 J00 0 0% 0 3asis i 7
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required tobe kept by FROBERHF - FRRT

thw Company under Section 335 of the SFO ware as follows:

Ordinary shares HARKS
Approximate
percentage
of ths Issued
Number of ordinary share
Long position/ Number of underlying Aggregate  capital of the
Name of Shareholders shortposition  Capacity sharesheid  shares held Interesis Company  Aokss
Sx08
ERFTRAR
K#RE HFNERES Br2Es
REEZ 28 HFROER a8t BRa “nea L1 B3 ME
Chira LVGEM Property Holongs Umited.  Long posiion Beneteid ontwr 1,265,768.583 - 1265766533 2818 !
[‘Crna LVGEND) ¥R EERHA
TRESRFCANRLA((+RSE))
Long poskon Interasts of controfod 107 142.511 - s 195 !
compération
WA bt 1 =3
Sron position Interests of controled -~ E0N0000 588000000 10.68% !
comorntion
it f5:%e5
Go Gesat Infevrational Limitad "Go Graat’)  Long positon Interests of controld 1372900064 - 1.372.000.008 24535 !
corporaton
RAREAR2NI=R) 3 4 grisgs
Srompostion  Interseds of controlied - ESRON0OO00 598000000 10.65% !
Lorporaton
i gnzEse
WM. WONG Horg King (W, WONG') Lorgposton  Wnlermets of conmoied 1 3T2900.094 - 1372000,004 N5 7
compcmtion
RERs=(Rz2)) e LnENgE
Srorfpostion  Interests of coniralod ~  EOBU00D00 588000000 1068% !
cuporation
i b4 55 1
Long positon Founoer of a bust 2.400.000 000 - 2400000000 42878 2
Hh ARARTA

MR iARmI mERRABLNY 37
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Substantial Shareholders' Interests in Shares and ;!nnﬁ%ﬁﬁmue BRERRA+S

Undarlying Shares of the Company (Continued) HHME(
Ordinary shares (Continued) FARRS (W)
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
‘ Number of ordinary share
Long position/ Number of underlying Aggregate  capital of the
Name of Shareholders shortposition  Capacity sharesheld  shares held Interests  Company  Abnes
Exa8
: ERONAR
FARE FAENERE BxzER
BREE/EW HR/AR RE £ 1] ®Re LB 1) HaE Wi
Kinson Geoup Liited Longposiion Bersfice! owner 2.400.000.000 - 2AD0.000,000. 28T 2
SERNERLY 52 ] RERAA
Evergraen Holongs Limited Longpostion  Inteasts of conteed 2.400,000,000 - 2400000000 Qs 2
Corporaton
53 FuaAge
Cantrust (Far East; Limited longpositon  Inferests of controled 2.400,000,000 - 2400000000 Qs 2
corponton
34 3 bdcke | H
Vicana iveesmonts V Linted Longpestion  Barefical oweer 300,000,000 - 300000,000 5%% 3
HE REREA
Ctira Varka Co, Lta Longpostion  Intevesta of condoked 300,000,000 - S00.000,000 5@ 3§
coponton
RNERROARAA 53 Lok
Poly Platrum Enterprizes Limded Longpostion  Person hainga securty - 1DRBTM0 10R2EN000 1045% ¢
orest n shares.
VR WREBNORRRENAS
Loeg positicn Berefod vy - BAN0000 284,000,000 sow 2
13 3 RERANA
Grostor Bay Awa Homelsnd Dovdboment.  Longpostion. Intivasts of conolled - tABS000  13EE0000 a8y ¢
Fund (GP) Limited comeniticn
33 FeiRgs
Greator Say Avod Homelwd Imestrrants Longrostion. Infevss of conodet - 1216830000 1318230000 B8N 4
Limited coxponation
ZBEEENERANNLY HE biEs |
Linoss Srarp Intermaioras Linvied Longpestion  Bensfical owner - 1082008710 104200710 181N 5
3 § RERAA
* For idantitication purposes only S 8 2 5Y
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Substantial Shareholders' Interests in Shares and TEREREQSHKRGRERRGTR

Underlying Shares of the Company (Continued) FOME(N)
Ordinary shares (Continued) HEARRS(R)
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
Number of ordinary share
Long position/ Number of underlying Aggregate  capital of the
Narne of Sharsholders shortposition  Capacity shareshoid  shares held Interests Company  Abiss
“2 3N
ERGEAR
F#RS FHERRS REZER
REES SN HR/2% AR LLL] LLUN BN ME
ARTE Specist Stuation Fund, LP. Long postion Irtarents of controled = 102006710 1042006710 1861% 5
carponton
e fnzaNz
ARTE Copial | GP Limiteo Long pestion Intarests of controlied = 1042006710 1.042.008,710 1861% §
Lorporation
33 § gEnzEN:E
ARTE Hodngs Limited Longposton  interests of corfrolod - 1042006710 1042008710 BE1% 5
comeration
3 gRzNeE
Me. CHAN Tak Ho Lorg poston Interests of contrelied - 1062006710  1.042.008,710 1861% 5
OXporation
Ragzis b33 nzEeE
Gorious Caste iIntamational Lim2ed Long postion Banefical owner BO0.000.000 - 500000000 BOd% [
REREAMLE e L 3 L PN
Grard Bayondd Limited Long postion Iterast of oongroled) 500000000 - 5000000 BOG% &
comporaton
BRuRLT we TRANNE
M XU an Ja Long poston Igresss of spouse 2,404 500000 2,408 500,000 2296% 7
BfeAss £ EfRs
Long poston Interes? of condrulied 500,000,000 - -S0000000 B.5G% 7
corporation
HR e |

MR AR sERRAESN 39
E Sl L 8 |
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Undarlying Shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. China LVGEM & owned as to 100% by Go Great, which Is in tum owned
as 10 100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingly. Go Great and Mr. WONG ora
deomed 10 be intereated in the 1.372600,004 sharan hald by China
LVGEM,

2.  Kinson Group Limited 15 owned as to 100% by Evergreen Holdings
Limitea, and Evergreen Hoidings Limited (s owned as to 100% by
Coantrust (Far East) Limited, acting as the trusteo for the tamily trust of
Mr. WONG.

3. Wxiand investmants V Limited Is indivectly owned as to 100% by MM
{0 B 1865 % M 2 Sl(China Vanke Co,, L1d."). Accordingly, M ¥ % i
£ 9 B 22 BiChina Vanks Co,, Lid *) Is deemed to ba intergsted in the
300,000,000 shares hold by Wiiand Investments V Limited.

4. Poly Platinum Enterprses Limited I8 ingwectly owned as to 100% by
Graater Bay Area Homeland Developmant Fund (GP) Limited, which s
Indiractly owned by Gesator Bay Aren Homeland Investmonts Limited as
1o 100%., Accoroingly, Greater Bay Area Homeland Deveiopment Fund
(GP) Limetod and Greater Hay Area Homeland Investments Limited are
deemed 10 ba intarestad in the 1.318,830,000 Sharas in which Poly
Platinum Enterpnses Limited s interested,

5. Lexus Sharp internationul Limitad = owned 8s 10 100% by ARTE Special
SHuation Fund LP., which is In tum controfied a3 to 100% by ARTE
Cupithl | GP Limitod, ARTE Cupitad | GP Limitad is owned as 10 ARTE
Investmant Partners Limited as to 90%, which is ingirectly owned by
AATE Holdings Limitad. which s owned by Me, CHAN Tak Ho as to
50%. Accordingly, ARTE Special Situation Fund L P, ARTE Capital |
GP Limsted, ARTE Holdings Limitad and Mr. CHAN Tak Ho are deemed
10 be interested In the 7,042,006.710 Shares In which Lexus Sharp
International Limited i intarestad.

6, Glorious Castle intornational Limited 12 owned as to 100% by Grand
Bayond Limitad, which 18 i tum owned as to 100% by Mr. XU Jun Ja.
Accoedingly, Grand Bayond Limited and Mr. XU Jun Jia aré decmed
10 be interasted In the 500,000,000 shares hald by Glorious Castie
International Limited,

7. Mr XU Jun Jin s doamaed 1o bo intorested o 2,804 500,000 ordinary

shares held by Ms. HUANG Jingshu, his spouse; for the purposs of Pan
XV of tha SFO,

* For ktentification purpases only & (% M=
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Evergreen Holdings Limited ! o I 4 % M &L @
100% 2 8 & - Cantrust (Far East) Limiteafs Xy ®
REZEBEENTER AW HEvorgroon Holdings
Umited 100%2 M2 «

MUGSRERGERCAME R HWang investments
V Umited Z 100% &8 « Bl - MU RBRGEAMA R
F A M ¥Widand Investmenta V Limitedfi 8 4 2 i %
500,000,00000 B 4 4 @ 2 -

Groater Bay Area Homeland Dovelopment Fund (GF)
Limitad W 1§ 3 # Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited
WONZNE HANEAMYEKE SR aOm
& i Y1 Greater Bay Area Homsland Davalopment
Fund (GP) Limited 100%. & & « & - Groater Bay
Area Homeland Devalopment Fund (GP) Limited I
RS ARE NS AN NS A E S8 Poly Platinum
Entarprises Limitadt i 4 W 22 2 1,316.830,000M 5 &5
L -

ARTE Special Situation Fund L.P.J& #iLexus Sharp
International Limited 100%.22 8 & (7% RIARTE Capital
| GP Limited!E ¥iLoxus Sharp Intemational Limited
100%2 R &) * ARTE Investment Partners Limited
® HARTE Capital | GP Limited 90% =M & - &
ARTE Investment Partners Limitad i2ARTE Holdings
Umited( MBS TR ASONME) MBPNH -8
i < ARTE Special Situstion Fund LP. - ARTE Capital
| GP-Limited + ARTE Moldings Umited BERMIEF S 2 8
8 3 B Lexus Sharp International Limited i i 8 2 2
1,042,008, 710MRESREEE -

BEARAANNABRRNAME100%2ZWE (S
ORRRELSARSRR AR 2 M00N2ZEE) -
Bt - BERRSNIFRARTERANAERR
H B2 B ¥ 9 2 I R500,000, 000/ 8 1 W i M2

UERTREEHNPXVIIAS - BERREERANE
RS @A o 68 8 22.904.500,000 § AR+
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and IEREREQTNRGRERNRG PR
Underlying Shares of the Company (Continued) HONE(N)
Convertible preference shares TRAREERRG
Approximate
percentage
Number of of the issued
convertible ordinary share
Long position/ proferonce capital of the
Name of Shareholders shortposition  Capacity shares held Company Nows:
FRTAR 4X0FERGEAR
EEge /% 2000000000 HR/ER Rt WRERERE  RE2ERESE  ME
Crina LVGEM Long poston Banefica! ownar FEADIATE 1238% 4
TNER 33§ RESHA
Go Grot Long postion Interpsts Of coniroled comorahon BEA.043478 12.38% H
A 128 3 s |
Proud Fing Limited Long posbon Banafiolal ownor 284 000,000 507% 2
[EHRLE £33 4 EEE6A
Short position Cehr 284 000 00 S01% 2
R R
M. WONG Long poston Intavests of controlied copoaation 977043478 1745% 1482
L 333 i Lot [
Al Group Wisa Inteerasonal (Holdngsi Limded  Long postion Benefcisl owrer 1,080,000,000 18.54% 3
SHRRizR) sREE HE REREA
Gigrious Castis intemational Limised Long postion Bareficial ownar 768,062,422 6% 4
BERmAoRAN 33 ] RE®NA
Grang Bayond Limied Long postion Interesty of controliad corporation TE6.062 492 1369% 4
BERAAE £ ] b iEd 1 Bl
M XU Jun Ja Long postion Intergsts of controled comornation 1.826,062.402 RNE2% 84
rRAZ: He FRIZENR
Notes: g3

China LVGEM s owned as to 100% by Go Graat, which i in furn owned
ag to 100% by Mr, WONG. Accordingly, Go Groat and Mr, WONG
are deemed 10 be inlevestad in the convertible prefarence shares and
derivative interests held by Ching LVGEM.

Proud Pine Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingty.
Mr. WONG I8 doemed 1o be interestod in the convertible proferance
sharas and denvative iInterests hald by Proud Pinn Limited

All Group Wise Intamational (Holdings) Limvied s owned as 1o 100% by
Mr. XU Jun Jin. Accordingly, Mr, XU Jun Jia is deemed (o be interested
in the 1,060,000,000 convertible preference shares held by Al Group
Wise International (Holdings) Limited,

Glorious Castie International Limited is owned a3 10 100% by Grand
Bayond Limited, which i& in turn owned as 10 100% by Mr. XU Jun Jia,
Accordingly, Grand Bayond Limited and Mr. XU Jun Jia are deamed 1o
be interestod in the 766,062,492 convertible profarence shares heid ty
Glorious Castie International Limited.

BARA TRV ORI WS (FARRLRAFR
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Employee and Remuneration Policies

Tha Group remunerates and provides benefits for |ts empioyees basad on
current industry practics. Discrationary bonuses are awarded 1o staff based on
tha financiad performance of the Group and parformance of individun! siaff.

In aodition, share optons may be granted to cigble employees In scoordance
with the terms and conditians of the Company's share option scheme.

For detaits of tha Company’s key reiationships with employeas. plase rder 10
“Employees” paragraph under the section headed *Management Discussion
and Analysis” on page 25 of thes annusl report.

Retirement Schemes

The Group particpates in several defined contribution retiremeant plans which
cover the Groun's sigibie employess in China, and a mandatory provident furd
schame for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of these refirement plans
are set oul in note 36 10 the consoldatad financiyl stalemants.

Share Options

The existing share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 2 Jure
2018, The share option scheme was adopted for the purposa aof srabling the
Company o grant options to selectad eligivle participants 2s incantives o
rawvards for thar confriution or patential contribution 1o the Group.

Datails of the Company's share option schama and the movements In the:
shive options ars S8t out In nota 35 10 the consolidated financid statoments.

Management Contracts

No contracts concaming tha managemant and adminstration of the whole
or any substantial part of the busness of the Company were entered into or
oisted dunng tho yoar.

Directors' Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as otherwise disciosed in this report, no rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were
granted to any of the Drnctors or thalr respective Spouse or chikdren under 18
yaars of age, or were any such nghts axercsed by them; or was the Company
and any of I1s subssiiaries a party 10 @ny arangement to onabile the Diroctons,
¢ their respectiver pouse o children under 18 years of age, t0 aoquire such
rights in any other body comorsta for the year ended 31 December 2024.

A2 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Major Suppliers and Customers

Tha percentages of purchasas and ales for the yaar atinbutable to the
Group's major suppliees and cusionmers are a5 loliows:

Purchases

- the largest suppler 43%
- five largest supplers combned %
Sales

~he largest customer 2%
~ live largest customers combned 5%

None of the Diractors or any of thelr close associates o any shareholders
which, 1o the besi knowledge of the Diroctors, own more than 5% of tho
Company's ssued share captal {excluding treasury shires {as definad under
thie Listing Rulas))) had any beneficil intarest in the Group's fve largest
suppiiers and its five largast oustomrs.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for () the share option scheme of the Company a5 distiosad in note 35 10
the consoldated financial statemants; and (i) the differont convertibie bonds of
the Company as disciosad in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
theve was no other equity:linked agreements entered into by the Company
which subsisted durng the year andad 31 December 2024,

Refated Party Transactions

Detalls of the related parnly transactions undertaken by the Group in the
normal course of buginess are sat out In note 42 10 the consoldated francial
stataments. The Company has complied with the refevant disclosure
regquiramants in sccordance with Chaptar 14A of the Listing Rules, The
Directors have confirmed that the related parties tranmactions did not consfitute
connected anNSactions or continung connacted transactons under Chapler
14A of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors had any intersst In the businasses which compete or &
Wkoly to compete, either ditoctly of Indiractly, with the businesses of the Group
that were required 10 be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8,10(2) of the Listing
Rulps.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A soparate Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be pubkshed =
compliance with the Environmantal, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as
sat out in Appendix G2 of the Listing Rues at the same tima as the publication
of this annual report.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate govemance praciices adopted by the
Company i6 set out on pages 48 10 62 of this eport.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on informition that & pubicly avatable 10 the Company and waithin tha
knowledge of the Directors. at least 25% of the Comparny’s total Issued share
captal was hekt by the public during the year anged 31 December 2024 and
up 1o the date of this rport.

Changes in Directors’ Information

Cnanges in directors’ mformation sinca the date of the 2024 interim repont
of the Compaty and up 10 the date of this réport which dré requirnd 1o be
disciosed pursuant to Rule 13.518(1) of the Listing Rules are as folows:

- Ms. HU Gin Ing has resigned as an independent non-exacutive
Drector, the chairman of the audit committeo and the chalrman of the
reuneration committee of the Company with effect from 14 February
2025,

- Mr, MO Fan has resignect as an ncapendent non-sxecutive Director and
@ momber of each of the audt committes, the nomination committee
1nd the remuneration committae of the Company with effect from 14
February 2025,

= Ms. JIAD Jie has besn appointed a5 an independant non-exaculive
Director and a membaer of each of the audit commitiea, the nomnation
commities and the remuneration committee of the Company with efisct
from 14 February 2025

= M. CHAN Koon Fat, an independant non-exacutive Director, has bean
appointed as the chairman of the audit commilttee of the Company with
effect from 14 February 2025

Savi & disclossd n this ancual tepor, thers was no change 1o the Directors'
Information as required 1o be disciosed pursuant to Rule 13.518(1) of the
Usting Ruies.

Foliowing the fesigration of Ms, HL) Gin Ing snd Me. MO Fan on 14 February
non-executive Directons. As a result of the foragoing, the Company is not
in compliance with (i) Ruls 3.10{1) of the Listing Rudas, which stipulstes that
the Board must include at ioast three independant NON-exsCUtive dinciors:
i) Rule 3.21 ot the Listing Rules, which stipulates thal the sudit commyttee
st compriso & minimum of thres membees; and (5 Rule 3.25 of the Uisting
Rules, which stpuiates that tha remuneration committos must be chainsd by
& Independent non-executive dracior and comprise 8 magorty of indepandant
ron-axecutive directors. The Company is in the process of identifying potential
candidate(s) 10 M the vacancy, and will usa Its bost endeavors (0 ansure &
sutabie candidate o be appointed as soon s possDk.
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Events after the Reporting Period

() A winding-up petition (the “Patition”) was filed against the
Company

A pattion datex) 4 February 2025 was filed by o lender at the High Court
against the Company, in connectian with certain financlal obligations
guarantead by tha Company in the principal amount of approxmately
USS210.000 plus accruad intesest.

The Company Wil seek legal advice and take all necessary actions
10 protect its legal rights. Furthermore, the Company will see legal
maasutas (o resolutely oppose the Petition, Tha direciors of the
Company 1 of the view that the Petition has no material adverse impact
on the business operation and financial posdion of the Company and
its subsicharies, For details, please refer to the announcemen! dated 4
Februgry 2025.

()  Appointment of the Advisors and next steps

Subsequent 10 the reporting perod, Gantain bank and other bomowngs
of the Group have been defaulted and tha Company has appainted
the Advisors 10 assist the Group in agsessing the capital structure
and financial position of the Group and 10 negotiate with creditors for
offshare Sabilities and doat with hostie actions. The Advisors are working
closaly with the Compary 10 assess the sifuation, conduct dus diligence
and epiore all possbie pragmatic soutions, The Company is committed
10 daning with all of its offahore kabiities in a fair and equitable manner.

(i) Disposal of Hotel Property in Los Angeles

On 16 January 2025, LVGEM Hotel Corporation (an incfirect wholy.
ownad subsidiary of the Company) enterad into a sak and purchass
agreement with a buyer pursuant 1o which LVGEM Hotel Corporation
ageeed 16 soll s enfico interest in certen Hotel sssets n Los Angoles 10
the buyer at o consideration of USSZ0 milon, For detalls, plaase refer to
the announcernant of the Company dated 31 March 2025,

Save a5 disciosed above and (he matters disclosad under the “Management
Discussion and Analysis™ section of thes annual report, the Board is not avare
of any significant event requinng disciosurs that has taken place subsequent 1o
31 December 2024 and up 10 the date of ths annual report,

Auditor

The cansolidated financlal statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 havo boon sudited by Mossrs. Delotto Touchs Tohmatsu.

On bahalf of the Board

Horg Kong, 31 March 2025
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The Company is committed 10 the establishment of good componats practices
and procadures. Tha carporate governance principles of the Company
emphasiss & quaity bowd, transperoncy and accountability 1 all shareholders
of tha Compary,

Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, save s disciossd in this
annual repor, the Group complied wih all the code provisions: of Corporate
Governance Code (the "Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 10 the Rules
Goveming the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange®),

With effact frorm 31 March 2024, Ms. HUANG Jingshu serves as both the
Charman and Chiet Exacutive Officer of the Company, such practice deviates
from code provision C.2.1 of the Code, which requires that the roles of
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and should not
ba performed by the same individual. For cetails, please refer to *Board of
Dwrectors — Board Compogition™ below,

The Board will conlinug to monitor and review the Group's corporate
Governanca practicas 10 ensure complianca with the Code.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The Board comprises four exscutive directors and two indepandant non:
executive directors. All lour exscutive Directons are mambers of the exacutive
commitiea of the Company responsibia for dealing with the businass of the
Company. In sccordance with af apphcabie rules ang regutations, Including
but not limited 10, the Listing Rutes. A Diractors fincluding Indepencent non-
executive Deectons] have been consulted on all maor and matenia matters of
the Company.

The Board mormbers as at the date of thes report wero:

Expcutive Directons

Ms. HUANG dingrsh (Chaimnan and Chiaf Executive Offioer)

Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Ms. LI Yute

Ingependent Non-Execitie Diractons

Mr. CHAN Koon Fat
Ms. JAD Jie

A6 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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C;:r;:orate Governance Report

Board of Directors (Continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

Futhar detals of the current Direcions & sat out on pages 26 10 28 under the
soction headed “Bographical Detalis of Directors and Senior Management” of
this report,

Tha Company 18 not in compkance with Rute 3.10{1) of the Listing Rules, which
stpuiates that the Board must inchude at least theae independont non-executive
directors, The Company is in the process of identifying potential candidtate(s) 1o
1 the vacancy, and wil use s best endeavors 10 ensure & sutable candidats
10 be appointad as soon as possible.

Save as disclosad in this annual report, there i no refationship (including
financial, bugingss, family or other material/relevan] relationship) among
membens of the Board,

The Company will provide & comprahensive, formal and tailored Industion
10 sach newly appointed director on his/her first appointment In order to
enabls Nnvher 10 have an appropriate understanding of the businesses and
operations of the Group and that ha/she is Ay aware of his/her responsibilties
and obligations under tha Listing Rules and tha relevant regulatory
requirements, Me. CHAN Kook Fat and Ms. JIAD Jle cbtanad the lagal advice
on 30 August 2024 and 13 February 2025 referred (o in Rule 3.080 of the
Listing Rules and each of tham has confirmed he/she understood hisMer
obligations a8 a diroctor of the Company.

As Ms. HUANG Jingshu serves as both the Chaman and tha Chief Exacutive
Officer with effect from 31 March 2024, Such practice daviates from code
provision C.2.1 of ths Code, Which requires that tho roles of chaiman and
tho chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Howaver, the Board considars that this structure
will not impair the balanca of power and authority between the Board and
tha management of the Company. The Board beliaves thal vesting the roles
of both the Chairman and the Chia! Executive Officer in the same person
can facilitate the execution of the Group's business strategies and boost
effectvancss of its opertion. Therefors, the Board considers that the deviation
trom the code provision C.2.1 of the Code is appropnata in such Croumstance.
In addition, under the supsevision of the Board which is comprised of four
axecutive Diroctors and thees independent non-axecutive Directors, the Board is
appeopnately struciwred with balance of power 10 provide sufficient checks 1o
protect the intorests of the Company and the shareholdors of the Comparny,
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Chairman & responsds for determining ovirall business strategies of the
Group. The duty of the Chairman is to work closoly with audit, nomination
ond remuneration committeo of the Company and 1o ensuro that alf key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a tmaly and constructive
manner. The Chiet Exoutive Cfficer is responsible 10 work closely with the
exscutive commities of the Company 10 ensure managament stratogies, plans
and performance of the Group & appropriately carmed out in accordance with
to the Board's decision and 10 provide gudancs to the Board on major issues.

The Board s responsibie for comorate strategy, annual and interim results,
succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and
capital transactions, and other significant pperational and financial matters.
Maijor corporate matters that are specially delegated by the Board to the
management includa the preparation of annual and Interim accounts for Board
approval before puBic reporting, axecution of business strateges and Intatives
adopted by the Board, Implementation of adequate Systems of Intomal controls
and risk managemeant procudures, and compliance with resavant statutory
requiremants and rules and regulations.

The Company has establishad mechanisms 1o ensurs indepandent views and
input are available 10 the Board including but nat limitad to, al Directors &re
entified 10 ratan independent professional advisors as and when i s reguired,
ol Diroctors are encouragad (0 express thelr views in an open and candd
mannsr during the Board or commitieas meetings and whsther tha number
of indepandiant non-axecutive Directors comply with the requirsmants of the

Listing Rules that a! least one-third of the Board members are independent

non-axecutive directors, Thi implementation and etfectiveness of such
mechanisms ane reviewed on an annual basis by the Board,

Each of the Independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confrmation of independence pursuant (o Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Tha
Company Is of the viow that all independant non.axecutiva Directors meet
the indepandence guideines set out in Rule 313 of the Listing Rules and are
indepandant n accordance with the terms of tha guidsines. The Company had
mada iettars of appontment with g the independent non-executve Dinctors
for a term of two years and one year respectively which may be terménated
by either party by giving one month's writtan notice; and subject to retirernant
by rotation at feast once every three years in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company,

Attendance Record at Board Meetings

For tho year onded 31 Decomber 2024, two full Board mieatings wore hold,
two of which were the regular ones held at approximately semi-annually
intervils, 10 raview the busingss of the Group and approve the financiyl results
of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board of Directors (Continued)
Attendance Record at Board Meetings (Continued)

The attendance of ingividual members at tha meatings of the Board are sat out
a8 folows:

EREARE

HE® (W)
ESRAWLRES ()
RN ERRN 2R NRONET

Meetings attended/
Number of Meetings held

HENRAR
MRRAR

Executive Directors Ny

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Crairman and Gl Executhe Oficer) ERiizt(zainan) 2z

Mr. TANG Shouchun [Ghief Exncutive Officen) ERGRE(TRAMN) "

{rotirect on 31 March 2004) (B—FRF=H=1—H8EF)

M. YE Xingan RRsxs 2R

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan mERRE Flrd

Ms, L) Yulel FON)E 7

Independent Non-Executive Directors HLARTHE

Mr. WANG Jing frotired on 31 May 2024) IRTE (=T -REFR={-HEE) "

Ms. HU Gin Ing frasignedt o1 14 Febvuary 2025) VIREBS L (MW _F oA -A+RENE) 22

Mr. MO Fan fresigned on 14 February 2025) RARE(W=-F=—E¥-A1BEEE) 22

Mr, CHAN Koon Fat (anoonied on 50 August 2024) BUERRE (P —EFNA=+ENRF) NATEa

Apart from the said meetings, matters requinng Board approval were arrangaed
by means of crculation of written resoluticns of il Board members.

Directom have access to ralevant and Timedy information, and they can ask for
further information or retain independant professional advisors If necessary,
They also have access 10 the adves and senvices of th company secrelary,
who s responsible for providing Daestors with Board papers and related
materials and ensuring thuit Board procedures & foliowed. Directors are given
sufficient time for discussion at the Board meetings, Whare quenias ans raisad
by Diractors, prompt and full responses wil be given If possiie.

Directors' Insurance

The Company has amanged appropnate drectors and officars kabilty insurance
In respect of legal action against Direciors.

Directors’ Professional Development

Newly appeinted Directors receive comprehansive, formal and tailored
Induction on thor appointments, o as 1o ensure that they have appropriale
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that they ae
tuly awars of thelr responsibiltios and obligations under the Listing Rules and
refevant regulatory requitements. There are also anangements in péacs for
providing continuing biriifing and professional devalopment 10 Deactons at the
Company's expensas whenever necessary.

Pursuant to Code C,1.4, Directors shoud participate in continuous professional
development to develop and rafresh their knawledge and skills. This is to
ansura that thelr contribution 10 the Board remains informex and reievant.
During the year, a8l Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional dgevelopment activities by ways of attending lrainings, reading
malesials or conducling &cademic rasearch relevant to the Company’s
busness or 1o the Direclors” dutes and responsitiities.
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Board of Directors (Continued)
Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions
Tha Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transsctions by

Directors of Listed lssuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of

the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directorns’ securities
transactions, The obligation to lallow the Listing Rules is set out in the
torms of the service agreemnnts of each executive Director and tho letters
ol appointment of each independent non-axecutive Director. Having mada
specific enquary of all the Directors, the Directors confirmed that they haye
complied with the required standard as sit out in the Modsl Code for the year
ended 31 December 2024,

Board Committees

The Company currently have four commitess, namely, the Audit Committes,
tha Ramunerabion Commiftes, the Nomination Committes and the Executive
Commitiee, for oyerseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
Torms of refarence of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committes,
tha Nomination Commttes and the Executive Committee ara avaliable on the
websites of the Company (www.vgem-china.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www hiex.com hk). The Board commitiees are provided with sufficien)
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
10 seok ncaponcant professional aoviod in Bppropriate Creumstancas, at the
Caornpany’s expenses.

Audit Committoe

The Company established an Audit Committes on 14 November 2005 with
terms of reforence in compiiance with tha Code. In view of the implamentation
of the Stock Exchanpe's consullation conclusions on “Raview of the Comorate
Govenance Code and Related Listing Rules”™ effectiva on 1 January 2019, a
ravised terms of reference of the Audit Commitiee was adopled by the Board
on 31 January 2018

The Audit Committee consiits of indepandant non-axecutive directors only.
The members of the Audit Committeo as at the dato of this réport aro as
follows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing (ceased on 14 February 2025)

Mr. MO Fan {coased on 14 Februaary 2025)

Mr. CHAN Koon Fat (Chavman) jappoited on 30 August 2024 and appointed
as Chairman on 14 Fetvuary 2025)

Ms., JAD Jio faopainind on 14 Febesary 2025)

Mr, CHAN Koon Fat, who possess s professional accounting qualfication and
refevant sapenence, i the Chairman of the Audit Commities. No
member of the Audit Committae is & member of the former or existing auditor
ol the Company,

The pamary duties of the Audt Committeo are 1o review and aporove the
financial roporting process, risk management and intermal control systems of
the Group. During the year, the Audit Commiftes has reviewed the Group’s
Intecim rasults for the six months ended 30 Jung 2024 and the anvual resuts
foe the year ended 31 Decomber 2023. The Group's final results for the
year ended 31 Dacembar 2024 have been reviewed by the members of the
Audit Committes before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit
Commitiee was of the opinon that the preparation of such rasults complied
wath the appicable accounting Standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosurs has been made. The Audgit Commitiee has aiso roviewed the
effectivenass of the nsk managemeant and intemal cantrol systems.

LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUAL REPCHT 2004
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Corporate Governance Report

Board Committees (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

Theee meatings of the Audit Committas ware haid during the year. The

EXREARE

HEShe (3
SEEAN(N)
EENBEERRASH= RN - SURAZHIND

attendance of each mamber is 5ot out &8 follows: BHOTF -

Meetings attended/
Name of members Number of Meetings held
RAEH &Bl'_lk./.ﬂ'ltl,
Mr, WANG Jing (caasad on 31 May 2024) TRELE (W -_F_mEAA=1-BTHEREENN) n
Ms. HU Gin Ing (ceased on 14 February 2025) HMB L+ (P -Er A BT RABELEGN) a3
Me. MO Fan fceasad on 14 Fabrsry 2025) MARE (R =F 55 -A1+TATHATERE) a3
Mr, CHAN Koon Fat fapponted on 0 August 2024) BBV RS (T -BFNFZTERER) mn
Nomination Committee AETAR

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 14 November
2005 with terms: of raference in compliance with the Code. In view of the
implementation of the Stock Exchange'’s consuitation conclusons on “Review
of the Comorate Givemancs Code and Retated Listing Rules® effective on 1
January 2019, a revised terms of nederence of the Nomination Commettoe was
adopted by the Board on 31 January 2019,

The mambsars of the Nomination Committae inchide ona executive drector and
two independant non-executive drectors. The mombers of the Nomination
Commitieo as et the date of this roport are as folows

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Jing (csased o0 31 May 2024)

Mr. MO Fan foeased on 14 Fabruwry 2025)

Mr. CHAN Koan Fat apponted on 30 August 2024)
Ms. JAO Je fappanied on 14 Febnry 2025)

The Nomination Committée is mainly responsibie for raviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing the Independence
ol independen! non-exacutive direclors, identitying potential directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appontment of directors. Potential new directors are salectod on the bass of
thau quatifications, skifs and experience that havshe could add value 1o Ihe
management through hisher contributions in the relovant strategic businass
arsag. In raviewing and assessing the Board composdion, the Nomination
Committen hid considaned the varous 3spects sot out in the boord dverstty
palicy.

The Nemination Committee resolved that il the existing Diractors should
be recommended to bo retaingd by the Company. In accordance with the
Company's artices of assocation, Mr. CHAN Koon Fat and Ms: JAO Jie shall
redire from offica at the first annual goneral miseting of the Company &ftor theer
appointment. in addition, M5, HUANG Jingshu and Ms. U Yufol shall rotire from
office a1 tha forthcoming annual genersl masting of tha Company by rotatian.
All the above Directors beng eligble for re-glection, will offer themsetves for re-
laction at the farthcoming annual general mooting of tha Compsany,
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Board Committees (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

One mesting of the Nomination Committes wis held during the year to review
the indepandence of independent non-axecutive Direclors, the struciure, sze
and composition of the Board: and revitw and make recommendations 10 the
Board on the re-slaction of dirsctors. The attendanca of each member & set
out 2% follows:

EEEAN ()

#ESANM)

EFREEEANNER-ZARM  UHBRCHRGE
BZMOE MPREON - ABRER WERANEN
TEMENRECEM  BURXAZEURMIMANOT

Nomination Policy

The Company has adepted o nomination policy {the *Nomination Policy”) in
January 2018 which sets out the sslection critena and nomination procedures.
adoptad to guide the Nomination Committes 10 select and recommund
candidates for diectodship 80 as 10 ensure that the Board has a balance of
SKiis, axpenence and avarsity Of PErspectivis ppopnate to the mauiremants
of the Company’s business.

The factors listad below would be usad as reference by the Nominstion
Committon in aasessing the sutabitty of a propesad candidate:

*  Reputation for integrity

*  Accompishment and expanonce

¢ Comphance with legal and reguiaiory requarements

e Commitment in respect of availabia time and reiovant intorest

e Diversity in all its aspects, including but not kmited 1o gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, athnicity,
profassional experiance, siils, knowiesge and length of secvice

The Secretary of the Nomination Cammittee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and inyile nominations of candidates from Board
mambers if any, for considoration by the Nomination Committea prior to fts
meatind. The Nomination Committes may aiso plt forward candidates who are
not noeninated by Board members.

For filling a casua! vacancy, tho Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates 10 stand for efection al a general meeting, the Nomination
Committes shall make nominations 10 the Board for its considaration and
recommendation.

LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUAL REPCHT 2004

Meetings attended/
Name of members Number of Meetings held
HAER HERRAR - WTaRAR
Ms. HUANG Jingshu Rzt "

Mr. WANG Jing {caasad on 31 May 2024) IVEE(R-F-RIFH=1—-HTHRCERS) n

Mr. MO Fan foousad on 14 Fobrusry 2025) HARE(W-FoRe-ATNETRACERD) "

Mr. CHAN Koon Fat (agooniad on S0 August 2024) BERKE (R -F-NF A= +BNPE) N/A T
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Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adoptad a board dversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”)
August 2013 in acoordanca with the fequirement under the Code.

Tho Owersity Policy aims 10 sét oul the approach 10 achisve divarstty on the
Board 1o ensure that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and
divarsity of perspectives, inchuding but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background. athnicty, professions exporionce, skills. knowiedge
and tength of sewvice. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination

'Committne will consider canchtates on ment and against the cbjsctive criteria

with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, The Nomination
Committas wit monitor the implermentation of the Diversity Policy and review
the sarme as appropriate.

Throughout 2024, the Board had three fomale Directors, reprasenting 42.86%
of tha Baird. The Bodard targets 1o mantain At least the current level of lemaie
repregentation, with the uitimate goal of achieving gender parity. The Board wil
continue 10 seak opportunities 10 INCrease tha proportion of female members
over tima as and when suitable candifates are identifisd.

As of 31 December 2024, approximatsly 64% and 36% of the Group's
employoes (Including sanior management) were male and female, respactively.
The Group recognises tha valus of gendec dhersty 10 promote a diversa and
Inclusive working envieonment angl welcomes increased female representation
at @l levels. However, the Geoup currently toes not consider it appropeiate
10 sot any specidic gander target for its workiorcs. As an equal opportunty
empioyer, the Group also takes into account other elevant factors in s hiring
decisions, and given It airaady maintains at 36% fomale represantation in »
traditionally male-dominated industry, the Group considers that the gender
rabo of the workdorca af the Group is appropriate for ts curment busness model
and operational noeds.

Remuneration Committes

The Company established a Remuneration Committée on 14 November
2005 with terma of reforence in compéanca with the Code. In view of tha
implementation of the Stock Exchange's consultation conclusions on
*Proposed Amendments 1o Listing Rules rolating to Share Schemes of Listed
Issuers and Housekeeping Rule Amendment” affective On 1 January 2023, 8
revised terms of refarence of the Remuneration Committee was adopted by
the Board on 30 November 2022
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Committes 35 at the dato of this report wre as folows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing [Charman] (ceased on 14 February 2029)

Ma, HUANG Jingshu
M. MO Fan (ceased on 14 February 2025)
Ms. JAO Jia (appointed on 14 Fabruary 2025]

The primary duties of the Remunaration Committes are 10 review and detorming
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
10 Deectors and senior management. The Company has adopted tha model of
ramunenation commitiee as describad in Cods Provision E.1.2(cX) of the Coda. As
such, the responsibility for determining the smunanlion packages of individual
exscuthve Directors and senior management of tho Group has been delegated to
the Remunention Conynition,

Durng the year, the Remuneration Committea consigarad and reviewed the
isting terms of remuneration of all tha Dirscions basad on factors inchuding
tiens commitmant and responsbiitios of the Directors, employment conditions
gsgwhere in the Group and desirabiity of performance-based remunesation.
Tha Remunaration Committee considered that the existing terms of
ramunarations of the Directors werm fair and ressonable. The Remuneration
Committes aliso reviewsd tha cperation and mantenance of tha share schemes
ol the Group.

Detads of the remuneration of e sanor management by band for the year
enced 31 December 2024 arw 51 ot below:
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Romuneration band Number of individual
Ll AR
HKS$1,000,001 1o HKS1,500,000 1,000,001 7 % 1,500,000/ 7= 2
HKS2,500,001 1o HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7i: 3,000,000/ 7 1

Details of the remunaration of the Drectors for the year ended 31 Decermber
2024 are set out I nota 11 10 the consolidatad fnanciat statements.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

One maeting of the Remunaeration Commities was hald during the yaar to

EREARE

HEShe (3
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roview the reruneration structure of the Directors, The attendance of esch SR A Z MR WRBHMT -
member 56t out as folows:

Meeting attended/
Name of members Number of Meeting held
RAEW Bl.ltl/lﬁ'lul
Ms. HU Gin Ing (caased on 14 February 2025) PINB (O P EF BT RAREHES) n
Ms. HUANG Jingshu Rzt ”
Mr. MO Fan jreased on 14 February 2023) BARXS (BT _AF_ATEETHRIERE) ”n
Executive Committee RITHAN

The Board has dilegated 10 the Executive Committes the authority of dealing
with the operational matters of The Group, save for thase matters which am
reserved for the Board's decision and approval pursuant 10 the written tarms
of reference, which includes taking in charge of major decision making in
reiation to the day-1o-day business operations of the Comparly, adminsstaring
the Company’s routing resciutions and dealing with ad hoo mattars, ensuring
adequate hunding and repasting periodically (o the Board, As at the date of
this rapost. the Executive Committas consists of four executive drectors and

assumes ful accountabiity to the Board for o operations of the Group,

To comply with the requirement under the Code In respect of the
responsibilities for parforming the comorate governance duties, the Board has
delegated its respansibilities 10 1he Exacutive Coammitiee 10 devalop, revew and
monitor iha polkcies and practices on corporata govemance of the Group and
make racommendations 10 the Board, 10 review and monitor the Company’s
policias and practices on tha iegal and eguiatory compliance, 1o raviaw and
monitor the code of conduct and etfecal behavior applicable 16 the Drectors
and empioyeas and the traling and continuous professonal development of
Directons and senfor management, and to review the Company’s compllance

with the Code anc! cisclosurnss i the camaote govirmance fepon.
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Six meetings of the Executive Committes wore held during the year, The S NASEARTAARTIATRA - SORNZ Y

attendance record ol sach member is sot out as folows: RWREHNMT

Name of members Number of Meetings held
RAER HERWAR WTRARR
Ms. HUANG Jingshw (Crarman) waftarizx) &6

Me. TANG Shouchun poased on 31 March 2024) BRBREMN-—F-REZA=1—BTR/EZERHK) "

Mr. YE Xingan ENTRT: 8%

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan KaRxEs 8%

Ma. LI Yites FRFE B6

Tha Executive Committes reviowed the Company's compkance with the Cooe
and the reguiatory and statutory requirements duning the year under review,

anxd the daciosures of this Comanmte govRmance repon.
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Risk Management And Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's risk management and
Internal controls system and for reviewing its affectivensss. Such systems
o dasigned to manage mther than to eiminate the risk of falure 1o achieve
busingss objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
sssurance against matenal misstatement or Joss. The Board is committed 1o
Implamenting an etfective and sound memal controis system to saleguard the
interests of sharghoiders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated
10 the management the implementation of the system of intemal gontrols and
tha review of all relavant financiad, operational, complance contrels and risk
managemant function within an estabished framework.

“The Company has estabéshed niiernal sudit department 10 monitor complance
with policias and procedurss and the effectiveness of intornal control
structuras of the Group. The internal audit dapartmeant reports directly 1o the
Audit Commifitse annually and ensura the Internal contrals are In place and
functioning propedy as intended.

The Audit Committee has conducted review on the effectiveness of the risk
managament and internal contral system during tha year under review and in
fight of the aforesaid, the Company considers them effective and adoquate.

The Company's internal audit department independently reviews the
offoctivenass of the intemal controls and risk management, induding financial,
operational and compliance controls, in the key activites of the Company’s
business, The haad of the Company's intarnal audit depantmant reparts to the
Auat Committee, and submits reparts for its raview In accordance with the
Bpproved review and audit machanisms. Tha internal audit department submyts
o detadied report at least once a yes 10 the Board for s teview and monitors
the atfectiveness of the system of ntemal control and risk managoment of the
Group. In case any materiad intemal contral dofect is dmcovered, the Board
would requing reporns on iho causs ot and proposed sokution for emedtying the
defoct ba submitted by the interal control department and follow up with the
defoct unti it 5 restlvecd.

For the year of 2024, no sigrificant risk or critical intermai control issues have
been identified,

Tha Company has procedures and Internai controls for the handling and
dissamination of inside information. The Group strictly prohitits unauthorisect
us2 of insdde information. The Group strives 10 identdy inside information and
any information which may potentially constitute inside Information at tho
earfiest practicabio opportunity, which is then assessed and handed to the
Board for decision on the nead for disciosure, ingide informaton and other
humnmnuhemmnnwudwuuanumnmuxmuwu-n
the SFO will be cesciosed in accordancs with all applicablo requirements in due
course. Inside information would ba kept strictly confidential until disclosune of
such insica information is made.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dvidend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) In January
2019 which sets out the guicksines for the Board 1o datarmine the deciaration
and payment of dvidands.

The recommendation of the payment of any divdend s subyect 10 the absciute
discretion of the Board, In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
tike Into account, inter alia, the Group’s Sinancial results, cash flow situation,
sharsholders' inforests, general business conditions and stratagies, futura
operations and eamings, capital requirements and expenditire pians, taation
congiderations, statutory and reguiatory restriction (f any) and other factors the
Board may deem relevant at such tme, Any payment of the dvidend by the
Comparny s slso sublect 10 any restrictions under the articles of association of
the Company and ol applhcabie lws and reguiations.

The Board wil reviaw the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, and there |1s no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
peniod.

Company Secretary

Ms. LAM Ho Ki was appointed s the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”] on 10 September 2024, Ms. LAM is'a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Cetified Public Accountants and has taken not
less than 15 houwrs of relevant professional training during the Year to comply
with Ruke 3.29 of the Listing Rulps, All Diroctons have access 1o 1he advice and
sanvices of the Company Sacratary 1o ansure that Board procedures, and al
apphcable nies and reguiations are folowed,

The Company Secretary will roport to the Board and the primary
contag! person of the Company with the Company Secretary is
Ms. TENG Yi, Doputy Manager of Corporate Financa.

Shareholders’ Rights
1. Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")

One or more shareholders holding, &t the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth al the paid-up capital of the
Company having tha right of voling at genert mestings can doposit a
written request 10 convens-an EGM at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong (the "Hong Kang Office”), for the attention of
the Board or the Comparny Secretary. If within 21 days of such deposit
of the requisition, the Board fais 10 proceed 10 convens such meeling,
the requistionistis) himsalf (themselvas) may do o in the same manner,
and o masonabie exponses neurred by 1ho feQuISions{s) &s a result
of the falure of the Board shad be raimbursad 10 the requisitonstis) by
tha Company,

In respect of tha notice periad 1o be givan (o all the registered
shareholders, the EGM shall be calisd by notice in wiiting of not jess
than 14 clear days.
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Shareholders' Rights (Continued)

2.

Right to put forward proposals at general meatings

Thera are no provisions afowing shargholders 1o move New resckutions
ut the genarl meetings under the Cayman Iskands Companias Act (as
revise) o the articles of association of the Company, Shareholdars who
wish 10 move a rasolution may request the Company 1o convens an
EGM as stipulated in abave paragraph 1.

Right to propose a person for election as a director

¥ & sharehoider of the Company wishs 10 nominato & person other than
# refiting Director or 8 person recommended by the Board 1o stand for
giection as a Diactor of the Company, the shareholoer concemed shall
lodge with the Compsny (for the atiention of the Company Secretary)
at the Hong Kong Office or at tha Company's teanch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor investor Services Limited, a duly signed nomination
form which Inchedds, infer aia, the intention (o propasa thal person for
election as a Diroctor, notics In writing by that person of his wilingness
16 be slected, and the informition required by this Listing Rules.

The period for lodgement of the nomination form will commaence no
earfer than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the ganeral
meeting appeointod for such eection and end no later than 7 days peior
1o the date of such genersl meeling and the minimum length of the
period during which the nominstion form and associated documants
may be given to the Company will ba at lsast 7 days.

Right to put enquiry to the Board

Sharehodars have the right 10 put enquines 10 the Board. All enquies
must Da I wiiting with contact information of the parson making the
enquiry and daposited at the Hong Kong Office for the attention of the
Compeeny Secratary.

Datailed procedures can be found in the documaent entitled
*Sharsholders' Fights” which & avaiiable on the Company’s website.
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Communication with Shareholders

Sharsholders are encouraged 10 attend annual genaral meetings of the
Company. The Charman of the Board will attend the annual general meeting
and invite tha Chairman of Audit Commities, Nomination Committae,
Remuneration Committes and other Board Committesis], or in thesr abisence,
other mambers of these Board Committeeds), 10 attond the annual general
meeting.

The Company held the annual genesal mesting on 31 May 2024,

Detgliz of Directors’ attendance record of ganeral meelingis) during the year
andad 31 December 2024 are as follows:
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Annual General Meoting
REATAR
Maeting attended/Number of Meeting heid
EANRAR/BGRNIN
Executive Diroctors nrEy
Ms. HUANG Jingshy (Crawrmany Keliztizn) "
Mr, TANG Shouchun (Chi/ Erscutve Offcer] ERGEzL(fiREN) NATBA
(resred on 31 March 2024 (W=F=E=N=+—E8K)
M. YE Xingan: SRERS n
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuen waRze "
Ms. LI Yulei FRR)H n
Independent Non-Executive Directors ROEQTEE
Mr, WANG Jng jreseed on 31 May 2024) INELE(N-F-BERA=1-HRE) o
Ms. U Gin Ing frssgrn on 14 Fabnary 2028 BRERT (M-P=-B¥=FIBEEE) 10
e, MO Fan fresgnad on 4 Febrary 2025 RARS(P-—P_E¥_F{B5NE n
Mr. CHAN Koo Fat fapponted an 30 Auuast 2004) BURRE(N=F-NENA=+ENEE) NAFRH
Investor Reiationship and Communication HERAAMERNS

Tha Company strives 16 achiave a high leval of transparency i communicanng
with sharaholders and the investment community st arge. Brigfings and
meotings with institutonal investors and analysts are conducted &t oppartune
timas. The Company s committed 10 continuing 1o maintain én opan and
affactive Investar communication policy and 10 update investors on ralevant
Information on s busingss in @ timely manner, subject 10 relevant rRguistony
requiraments. In ocdar 10 ansure effecthe, clsar and Accumte communications
with the investors and analysts, all comarate communications are armanged
and handied bty the executive directors with the assistance of an independent
corperte communication frm end designated senior exocutives according
10 estabished practices and procodures of the Company, The Campany has
announced results of the year undar review I a timely mannar.

The Board regulady raviews the shareholders communication polcy (which has
bean made avalable at the Company’s website), to ensusa that Sharoholders
and potential investors at @arge aro provided with ready, equal and timoly
acoess 1o balanced and understandable information about the Company,
Including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, 10 enabla
Shareholders 1o exorcise thair rights In an informed manner, and 10 aflow thekr
active engagement with the Comparny,

Based on the review undertakan, the Board considers that the sharsholders
communication policy has been paoperly implemantect and affectve during tha
year,
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Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has amardied (ts:
memorandurm and amices of association for the purposss of, among others, ()
bringing fhe memorandum and articies of association n ina with the relevant
requiraments. of the Listing Rules, including the expanded paperiess listing
regime end mandatory electionic dssemination of Corporate commuNIcations
by listed ssuers and the relevant amendments made 1o the Listing Rules
which 100k effect from 31 December 2023, and the appicable laws of the
Cayman tslands; and (i) making other housekeeping amandments, including
conseéquential amendments (n line with the above amendments 1o the
memorandum and articlas of association.

An updated version of the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company s availsbie on the webstes of the Companry and the Stock
Exchange.

Directors' and Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsibia for the preparation of consolidated financial
statemeants which give 2 true and fair visw. In praparning such consolidated
financial statements, it |8 fundamental that appropriate accounting palicies 3o
seiacted and applied consistently, The Directors were aware of the material
uncertainty reiated to going concern of the Compary.

During the year ended 31 Dacember 2024, the Group Incutred & net koss of
RMBES,434 milion and as at 31 Dacemmber 2024, the Group has borrowings
amounting to RMB30.505 millon (including bank and other barrowings of
RME30,833 million, debit compoenent of convertite bonds of RMB142 mision
and domastic corporats bonds of RMB130 milion) that aro ropayabio within
ona year al he end of the reporting period. of which RMB30.485 million
becoming immaodiately repayable on demand duas 10 defaults or cress datauts
triggered, Al the same date, the Group has cash and cash equivalents
amountad 1o RMBS97 millon, In addition, 8 winding-up petition wis fed by a
leridar at the High Court of the Hong Kong Specal Administrative Region ("High
Court”) against the Company on 4 Fabruary 2025 due 1o default in certain
notes issusd by a subsidiary of the Company and certain financial obligation
guaranteed in connection 1o 1he notes provided by the Company,
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Directors' and Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Management of the Company has been undartaking a number of plans and
measwes 1o improve its liquidity and financial poation, to restructurs the
axisting borrowings and 10 oppose the windkng-up petition with the lender,
includng:

) sesking legal advices from a legal advisor (o rosolutely opposa tho
winding up petitions and avold winding up petition heing confirmed by
High Court with consaquence of kquidation;

® complating the debt restructuring of its offshore bank and othaer
torowings;

W) negotiating with the Group's axsting lenders for renewal or extension for
repayment of the Group's borowings untl the Group 18 able 10 securo
sufficient funding to repay,

v dravang down necessary funding from the loan facilities grantad and
anter N0 naw oans with financis! insttutions for compieting/starting of
@dsting/new proparty deveopment projects:

V) achieving budgeted saies and pre-sales volumes at current market prics
for s existing deveropment proects:

(M amanging payments 1o construcion; and suppliers on schedule, and

ivi)  wenbiying buyeris} for chsposal of specific propenies and tmaly coliect
he relevant sules proceeds from sales of ts propertios.

Tne Group has been in negotiation with lenders on debt restructunng, The
Diractors have taken Into sccount this ikeéhood of success of the plans and
measures bong implemented in view of the progress of the discussion with
tha lencers and ace of the cpnica thal tha Group wil have sufficen) working
capital o maintain its operations and to pay its financial cbligations as and
whan they fall due for at least twelve months from the end of the reporting
pariod. Accordingly, the consolidated firancial statements have been prepared
0N @ basis tha the Group wil be able 10 continus a8 a gong concem,

The Audgit Committee has raviewed the facts and ciroumstances leading 1o
the Disclaimer of Opinion, discussed with the: Auditor- and the management
of the Comparny on matters and the basis for the Disclamer of Opinion, and
taken ino account the Drectors” views tharmto and the plans and measures
undertakan (and continus 1o focus on) by tha Group 10 suppoet tha going
goncarmn assumptions used In preparation of the consolidated financial
statomonts.

After carofu! analysis and prudent assassmant of the aforemantionsd plans
and measures (I effectively implemanted) in mitigating the Sauidity burden,
oplimising tha Group's operations and improving #s financial pOSTon, cash
fiow analysis and discussion with the Directors on its progress of discussion
with lenders, the Audit Committas concurs with the Directors’ assessment
and the basis for foming such @ view with respect to adopling going concem
assumptions in the preparation of the Consolidatad Financial Statomants.

The auditor's responsiblity is 10 axpress an indepandent opinion, dased on
their audit. on those consolidated financial statements and (o regort ther
opinion to the sharcheldets of the Company, as a body, and for no other
purpose. The audktor does not assume responsibiity towarnds or accept Eabiity
10 any other parson for the contents of the indepandent auditon’s repart.
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Directors' and Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Notwithstanting the mensures taken by tha Company, significant uncertainties
‘st a8 o whather tha mansgement of the Group Is abie 1o iImplemaent the
said plan and measures with favourablo outcome, As at the date of approval
for ssuance of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, given the.
exacution of the plans and maasures are in preiminary stags or 1 progress and
no writlen contraciual agropments of othar documentary SuppOMing evidence
from the relovant banks. lenders o other financial inshtutions and potential
buyers ae availabie 10 the Group for extending the going ConGE Assessment
tho suditons of the Company wers unabila 1o obtain sulicient approprate audit
evidence that they considered necessary 10 35sass the lkelhood of sucoess of
the plans and measures currently undertaken by the Group in acoordance with
appiicable acoounting standard, According 1o the auditors, thare wers no other
satistaciory audit procedures as at the date of this repart that they could adogt
1o satisty themiaives that the appropriateness of the drectons’ use of the going
coneem basis of accounting and adequacy of the related disclosures in the
consobdated fnancial statemeants of the Group,

In light of the aforesaid, the Directons (inchuding the Audd Committes) and the
auciocs form ditferant views on the Qoing conoem assessment,

The Duectors acknowledge their rasponsibéities for the praparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give @ true
mwmummdzmauammdmmmm
for that year, In propaing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 Dacamber 2024, tha Directors have selected sultable accounting
policias and appliad them cansistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpratations; made adjustments and estimales that are prudent and
remsonabie; and have prepared the consoldated financial statements on the
going concam basis, The Directors also ansum the timaly publication of the
consolidated fnancial statements of the Group,

Auditor's Remuneration

The tea in respact of audt and non-audd services (including interim review
Serice, tx consuitancy senvice and othr agroad-upon procedures: provided
o the Group by Indepandent auditor for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted 1o AMB2 872 000 (2023 RMES.312.000) and RVE 1,959,000 (2023
RMB1,678,000) respectively.

B2 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUAL

FEPCHT 2004

58&&&“&1%"5!&#'2!&

STAZAEEWNS S ENTRWRSI KT LAMHM
BESEAMAMBRNAEXOTHEES L3N
BEMBWARAPREN FRERIHHIMENHRE
NEREIMERIERGT HAFREQRGNELE
RS REAUXCESUMANERERENATSNE
REXGTHEHIRN  HRANKRENEEHNE =
ANARHAESHRRAFZ A BHFRENSRE
REIMILWEAE  URETEMERROMNIELM
ST AR L) T BT - AR RBE R - SRR E BN
DMOLES AGROEENAEREN  LeREAER
SERMERnizanigaiseNsamaman
HRER I

ERA LS SR (REHESHE) NERSRERN
RHEHTREE

EFHEE ARRAUTEUXFEFANTARNTLT 2
ERTSRRAURNBFRIRMRNEARZHAM
RHS - RERE—F-OF A= +—HIEER2E
EHENEN ESERARERAMSRZNITEN
FRERGHOMMIEEEN  SORHBRRER
NEEMEFHRRERIEN - SLURREFERRRES
HEWS - MR FERENFRERE2RAMBREE -

ERTME

BE-S-OE+-AS+-HREFS - RUBREN
FUBECHERDVEEREN (REPRENES -8
HEREERN R FEF I RERZRAABAES
28720005t (=S ==« ARM331200070) BAEN
19590007 (ZF =4 - A KM1,678.0007) *



FEXBEEHT FID AR E N E G 2024 FEHE

| b

Independent Auditor's Report

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
{fincomaorated in the Cavman iséands with imited Eabéity)

Disclaimer Opinion

We were engaged 10 awit the consolidated financi statements of LVGEM
(China) Heal Estate Investment Gompany Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidianes {colleciively referred 10 as the “Geoup”) set out on pages 67 10
185, which comprise the consoldatad statement of financiad position as at 31
Dacember 2024, and the consoiclated statement of (wofit of loss, consolidated
staternant of profit or loss and other compeahensive income, consokdated
statomnent of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then onded, and notes 10 the consoldatod financial statoments,
mcluding matenal accounting policy information and othar explanatory
information,

Wa do not express an opinion on the consobdatad financial statements of tho
Group, Bacause of the significance of the matter descnbed in the Basis for
Disctaimer of Cpinion section of our repord, wa have not boan abis to cotain
sufficient appropriate audt evidence 1o provide a basis for an audit opinion on
thess consoldated financal statemants. In ol other respects, In our opinion the
consolidated financial statements have been propery prepared in compiance
with the deciosuss requiremants ol Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer Opinion
Going concern

As descrited In note 3.1 10 the consolidatad financial statements, during the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred a net ioss of RMES,434
milion and as at 31 Decamber 2024, tha Group has DOrowings amounting
1o RMEB30,805 miliion (Including bank and other bivrowings of AMB30,633
millon; dabit component of convertbie bonds of RMB142 millon and domestic
corporate bonds of RMB130 milion) that are repayable within one year at the
and of the reporting period, of which AMB30,485 million bacoming immediitely
repayable on demand due to defaults or cross defaulls triggerad. At the sama
date, thy Group) has cash and cash equivalents amountsd 10 RMBSE7 milion,
In addition, a winding-up patition was fod by a lendar at the High Count of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ("High Count”) against the Comparny
on 4 February 2025 dus to default in cordain notes ssued by a subsidiary of
the Company and certain financial oblgation guaranteed in connection 10 the
notes provided by the Company.
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Basis for Disclaimer Opinion (Continued)
Going concern (Continued)

Management of tha Company has baen undénaking a number of plans and
measures 10 improve s liquidity and financial position, 1o restruciure the
exsting borrowings and 1o oppose the winding-up petition with the lender,
Including:

(0 seeking legal advices from a legal advisor 10 resolutaly oppose the
winding up petitions and avoid winding up petition being confimmed by
High Court with consequence of lguidation;

) compleling the debt restructuring of Its offshore bank snd other
borrowings:

(@ negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders for renewal or extenson for
repayment of the Group's borrowings untl tha Group & abls 1o secure
sufficient funding 1o repay;

(v drawing down nacessary funding from the loan faciities granted and
enler into new loans with financial institutions for completing stanting of
existing/naw propedty dovelopment projcts;

M bohioving budgeted saies and pro-saies volumes at cufrent market price
for its existing development projects;

(M)  amanging paymenss 10 CONStruCions and suppiens on schadule; and

(Vi) Idantifying buyer(s) for dsposal of specific properties and timely collect
the reitvan! sales procoeds from sales of its propartios.

The directors of the Company have taken into account the likelihood of
success of the plans and measures being implementad and are of the opinion
that the Group will have suficent working capital to maintain its operations
and 1o pay its financial obigations as and when they tall due for at loast twelve
manths from the end of the reparting period. Accordingly, the consokdated
financial statements have been prepared 6n a basis that the Group will ba
abla 10 continue 88 3 going concem. Natwithstanding the above, significant
uncertainties oxist as 10 whethee the management of the Group (s abse 1o
Impiament the aforamentionad plan and maiasures with favourable outcoma.

As ol the date of approval for issuance of the consolidatod financial
statarments of the Group, ghven tha exacution of the plans and measures are
In prefiminary stage or In progress and no written contractual agreements or
other documentary supporting evidence from the relavant banks, lenders o
other financial institutions and potential buyons are avaiblo o the Group for
extenticg the going concem assessment, we are. unabie 1o obtain sufficient
approgriate audit evidence we considerad necessiry 10 assess the kalihood
of success of the pians and measures curmently undertaken by the Group.
Thaee wore no othar satistactory st proceduras that we could adopt to
safisty curselves that the appropristeness of the directors’ use of the going
concem basis of accounting and adequacy of the related disclosures in the
consodated financial statemonts of the Group,
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Basis for Disclaimer Opinion (Continued)
Going concem (Continued)

Should the Group fal 1o achiava tha sbove-mentioned plans and measures, or
winding up petition being confirmed by High Caurt, i might not be appropriate
for the directors of the Company to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concem basis. Potential adustments would have 1o be
made 10 the reported financia! Information Including but not imited 1o reduce
ths camyng values of the Group's assets 1o their recoverabie amounts, 10
reciassify non-current labiities as cument liabBties with consideration of the
conlractual tams or 10 recognise 3 liabdty for any contractual convniments
that may have become onerows, where appropriate. The effects of these
adustments have nol been raflected in the consolidatad financial statements of
the Group.

The possbie effects on the conscitiated financial statements of not preparing
0N a going concanm basis could be both matarial and pervasive.

Responsiblilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for th preparation of tha
consolidated financial statements that give 2 true nd fair view in socordance
with Hong Kang Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
HKICPA and the dmclosure requiremants of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such infemal control ai the dractors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consoldated firancial statemants that are Iree
from material misstaterment, whether due 10 fraud or enor.

In preparing the consokdated fnancial statements, The directors are responsile
for assessing the Group's abillty 1o continus 8 & gomg concem, disciosing,
a5 applicable, mmwmmmmmmm
bass of accounting uniess the direcions ether intend 10 Equiciate the Group or
10 caase operations, or have no realistic afternative but to do 5,

Those charged with govemanca are responsibie for overseeing the Groun's
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Qur responsibifty |5 to conduct an audt of tha Group's consolidated financial
statemants in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Audliting ("HKSAS")
issued by the HKICPA and 10 issue an asditor's report n accordancs with
saction 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We da not assume responsibilty towards ot accept latsity 1o any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the matter
described In the Basls for Disciaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficent appropriate BUtk evidance to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated fnancial statements.

We ae Independent of the Group In accordance with the HKICPA's Cate
of Ehics for Professional Accountants (“the Coda"). and wo have futtilod cur
other athical responsbilies i accordance with the Code.

The engegement partner on tha audt resulting in the independent auditor's
report is Lail Ka Chun.,

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

GEREER

For tha year ended 31 Docember 2024
RE-F-oOF A=+ E

2024 2023
—¥-@%F ===
NOTES RMB'000 AMB'000
N ARRFR ARNTR
Revenue we 5 3,713.887 6,117,628
Costof sas ms (562989 (4541374
Gross profit £y 150,934 1,576,254
Other incoms: N A 6 47,987 61,785
Other gains and losses RigEnem 7 (335,1585) 124,167
Seling expanses neR= (151,852) (256,400)
Adminisirative expenses. ARm=E (462,735) (454.252)
Recognition of change in fair vaue ot properties MA@ ARRTERAMR 2 2 0MA
hald for sale upon transfer 1o nvestment PRER
plopenies 14 - 60,586
Fair vaue changas on investment proporties EAmRnSLAMAeEs 14 (2,897,666) (1.212,128)
Finance costs BRES 8 (2,049,474) (1,744,114)
Share of results of a joint venture SE-MAaRoEN - Ul
Loss before tax BRERSA 9 {5,697,961) (1,844,083
Income taux crecht {axpanse) AR () o 264,307 (288.294)
Loss for the year TRSA (5,433,654) {2.132,387)
Loss for the year attributable to: BFATREEEGNR -
Owners of the Company FANRN (5,171,433) (2.126,475)
Non-controling inferests FEETR N = (262,221) (5,812)
(5,433,654) (2.132,387)
AMB cents AMB cents
ARNMD AENSD
Loss per share attributable to the owners of FAXQARKALGREN
the Company during the year 13
- Basic -B% (100.69) (&1,71)
- Dited -B% (100.69) {41.71)

BNRIZHMIBERAARLN 57
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BE-F-mE+-A=t-RLEE

2024 2023
ot et —9=-=%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARNTT
Loss for the year TESR (5,433,654) {2,132,387)
Other comprehensive income (expense) RETmys (mx)
Item that may be subsequently roclassified MERRENIMERS2HE @
to profit or loss: : ;
Exchange ditfaronces drising on transtation LN 3553 83 (131,090) 185,762}
Item that will not be reclassified to profit ~ TRENFSRENZ2HA
or loss:
Fair value changes on investments in equity BLAARBR AR GTRERONE
Irstruments at fair vaioe through other IRERZ2 L MEAR S (OREN)
comprehensive Income, net of tax 156,923 (1.417)
Other comprohensive income (exponse) TERATNAES(NE)
for the year 288 @179
Total comprohensive expense fortheyear FET[HMESH (5,407,821) (2.228,666)
Total comprohensive expense attributable T ALBELENZEN
to:
Dwnars of the Company g (5,138,814) (2,224,180
_ Non-controling Interests nERes _Bosoon 15.306)
(5,407,821) {2,220 .566)
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-y

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

S a MR IRR HR

At 31 Decambor 2024
VoS- R¥E+=—HA=+—H

2024 2023
—S-R¥ ===
NCTES RMB'000 RMB'000
Rt ARW TR ARM TR
Non-current assets #EBRE
\nvestment properties HAMmE 14 38,258,781 40,827,347
Property, plant and equipment nE - /R EEM 15 709,449 816,841
Goodwil aw - 231602
Interest in a joint venture P-MERDFNEY 16 6,051 6051
Amount due rom a joint venture RE-RaWETEON 18 501,179 522318
Equity instruments al fair value through other BEoAMRE ARG RN S
comprehensive income ZHRETA 17 524,303 370074
Rastricted bank deposits and plodged bank SMUBHSTFRBEERRGOR
daposds 2 259,602 2286517
Datorrod tax assets AERNAR 18 612,893 456,963
40,962,258 45.554.813
Current assets RERE
Proporties under cevaiopment for saie RRFFEMR 9 49,071,485 46,947 897
Properties held for sale fAumR 20 4,504,435 4,756,360
Othar invontones MeTFE 733 1,231
Accounts recolvabie ARER 21 68,174 54,537
Deposits pald, propayments and othar CHES - N0 RN S e o
receivabies 22 5,637,356 8,411,542
Tax rocoverabia SwER® 208,015 56,048
Rastricted bank deposits and pledoad bank SEMBTHFRAENMBGER
deposits 23 2,448,765 1,243776
Bank balances and cash BiARERE 24 597,456 486,345
62,624,419 59,957,745
Current liabilitios ERAR
Accounts payable mHER 25 4,444 260 5,020,888
Accrials, doposits recoived ind other pavables MRS ERES SR M BN 26 9,034,261 8,121,633
Contract lisbiities aRAMm 27 8,926,083 4,186,827
Laase iabilties BHAAHK 28 55,951 19,178
Tax kabities HARN 2,475,815 2436286
Bormowings ()4 29 30,633,249 18,041,658
Domestic corporate bonds RARLFRY 3 129,821 B34 576
Deabt component of convertibia bonda MERAHRERS 304a) 142,213 119,808
Derpvative component of comvarntitio bands ARRRSOETINGS 30i) - 2479
Other current labiities Rempmam 32 3,509,392 585,860
50,441,085 39,379.480
Net current assets HRERERN 3,183,354 20,578,265
Total assets less current liabilities BEREREBAM 44,145812 66,133,078
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BAMBHR
At 31 Decompber 2024
VoS- AS 8

2024 2023
—®= =B=-=%
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz ARMTR ARN T
Non-current liabilities #FADAM ,
Borowings R 2 1,828,128 16,214,154
Domestic corporate bonds b ke ttl o 3 845,265 120,718
Leass flabfites EHaAam 28 317414 182265
Detorrod tix fabisties EELAARN 18 3,633,509 3,984,379
Other non-curtent iabiitios REpEBR 0 32 13,540,003 16233540
20,164,409 36,744,054
Net assots nEA0 23,981,203 20,389,024
Capital and reserves HERAR ‘
Share capital B* a3 46,702 42485
Reserves B_! 34 17,992,912 23,135,963
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARERARENE 18,039,614 23,178,428
Non-controling intorests HEREE 5941589 6210596
Total equity L ET L 23,981,203 29,389,024

The consolidated financial statoments on pages 67 10 185 wors approved  MIBTEIBSAZKRAMBNECHERNL -S -5 =
and authorisad for issue by the board of drectors on 31 March 2025 andare A=+ BREEPRTN  EHUTHREAEN
signad on iis betst by:

HUANG Jingshu HUANG Hao Yuan
& xR
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTVE DIRECTOR
HITNW RiTHE
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QE.!_M"'_R = Bltll!

2024 2023
—T-BF =B=-=%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT R ARWTTT
Operating activities ARED
Loss befors tax nEIAN (5,697,961) (1.844,083)
Adjustments for: BERE -
Deprocistion of property, plant and equipmant "R EBELRKETE 61,313 60,313
Dividdond incomé LT P (26,248) (22,808)
Fair value changes on denvative componant of FRBRBEGEIASENI WA
conmvertibia bonds £ 3 (2,488) 52.060)
Fair value changes on nvestment properties RABRNOAMESY 2,697,666 1.212,128
Fintnce costs BREE 2,049,474 1,744114
Loss {gain) on disposal of property. plant and equpment HEMmR - BRI O8E) 4 1]
Impairmont loss recognisad for sccounts rocoivatile, net REEBRAAFNRLSN 4,990 3
Impairment loss recognised for gaodwil HEWAEMENED 231,602 -
Iropairment foss recognisad lor amount due from a joint BR-MEeRANBARASHNEE
venture 21,139 -
Impairment loss recogriasd for amounts dus from related. M ORREE 5 20 918 (A5 M S
parties 93,610 -
Write-cown of propestios undor devilopment for sal BERRTFHRDRLNETR
andd properies held for sale 667,121 -
Inteest income HLa A (19,599) (32,983)
Net foreign axchange gen BRgEsm _ (13,118) 61,116
Racognition of change i fair vtk of propertias hald for MEARERIRRDAZZLNE
S5 Lpon Yransfer 10 ivestment properties L 4 UE - (60,588)
Gan on non-substantial modfication of domestic RARIAMHEZHFDAEFRS
comperste bonds - a1
Share of results of a joint venture RE-MARLUIRA - 1
Operating cash flows before Movmants n warking capital KERZB|RNNERE SRR 267,505 942,610
Increase in properties under development for salo and ERTHRDALGARRAN , ,
properties hoid for saie {836,931) (1,838,352)
Decreasa (noreasa) in other inventones Risgwarsn 498 (3801
Increase in Scoounts recaivabie BREVNE (4,173) 3,165)
Decraase (increase) in deposits pald, prepayments and EHER - WORARXAMN NN
other recehvables X% ) 708,446 (8.567,382)
Decroasa in 8oCounts payabia 01 19 O (572,872) {430,066)
Increase in contract liabiities EL S B 4,374,235 1,290,831
Inctease in accruals, deposts received and other payables BT R CREEANGAERA
R 67,185 5,343,625
Cash from (used in) operations BREVHRB (AR NS 4,003,893 {3.262.279)
incomo ases psd B RS T -]
Net cash from (used In) operating activities HRERFAFRIRLFN 3,634,005 {3.627.721)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SFEeRTAER

For tha year ended 31 Docamber 2024
RE-F-oEM¥ A=+

2024 2023
—¥=-8% ===
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT R ABRNTR
Investing activities BRED
Placement of restricted bank degosts GHERHEAGTTR (11,203,702) (10,250.627)
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposts ROSRVBGTTR 12,031,574 8.758.648
Purchase of property, plant and equipment MASK HREEEH (448) 2,144)
Proceeds from disposal of proparty, plant and equipment IR S8 R T BT B B 21 192
Adcttion to nvestment proparties AEARDR (785,954) {1.288,353)
Proceeds from disposal of investment proparties HegEnERnEn 801,257 238,241
Advances to related parties 0t L 8 3083 (503,655) (2.1468,287)
Repayment kom related parties 1% 655,198 2304317
Advance 10 a non-controliing nterest MRS RN (2,524) -
Rapayment trom a1 non-controling nferest hERESER 5,399 -
Procesds from disposal of equity instruments af far value HBEL MR AR ERR R 2
throdgh other Comprenensive NCome BETNSAEA 53,750 -
inferest reconad EXHn 25,976 28,007
Net cash from (used in) investing activities BRIVFA (AR AEFE 1077180 (2.:358.006)
Financing activities MEERD
Proceeds o new borrowings T 1 S 08 TR 4,543 535 13.0890.076
Rapaymants of borowings LE A (6,315,485) {6,166,228)
Intorost pad 2i¥e (2,176,752) (3.088.721)
Advances from redated parties REMESBR 3,159,926 6,094 486
Repayment o related parties ey e (3.637,158) (775,742)
Repayment of leass fabiites REEANMN (39,323) 20,077)
Repayments of domeshic corporata bonds R 2 AN - (114,570)
Ropayment of convertiblo bonds Wma] R - (543,605)
Repayment of senior notes MEEFAES - (2,623 ,493)
Proconds on disposal of partial interests in subsidianies HAERARIEANE Mgy - 1,135,852
Dwidend paid 10 3 non-controfing interest BERRESL G - 500)
Nat cash (used in) from financing activities RAEW (FR) HANREFR (4,465,257) 4977278
Not increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents WEEMEFMPA0(RL) FH 246,798 {1,008,445)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEREPRNEW (135,687) 75,141)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of theyear ~ FHMERRE KA 486,345 1,569,835
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year SERAARMELEAN
ropresented by bank balances and cash HRTERLRE 597,456 486,345
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GENERAL

LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the
*Company”) was incorparated In the Cayman Isianas with imited kability
snd s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange:
ol Hong Kong Limitad (the “Stock Exchange®). The addresses of tho
Company's registered office and principal piace of business In Hang
Kong are Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit 2501, NEO. 123 Hol
Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowioon, Hong Kong raspectively, lts ultimate
controling pacty is Mr. Wong Hong King ("Mr, Wong?), the father of Ms.
mmumwmmdwo«m
and Mr, Huang Hag Yuan, an Executive Director of the Company.

Tha Company acts as an investment holding company. Tha principal
activities of its principal subisdianes are st out in note 45,

The consolidated financial statements are presentad in Renminbi
(*AMB"), which is aiso the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amondments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has appiad the Jolowing amendments
1o HKFASS issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cartified Public
Accountants (*HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorly effective
for the Group's annual periods beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consoldated financial statemeonts:
Amandments 10 HKFRS 16 Leasa Liability in a Sale and
Leasoback
Classification of Liabiites as
Current or Non-current
and retated amendments
10 Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
Non-cutrent Liabiities with
Covenants
Supplier Finance
Arrangements
Except as described beiow, the application of af ather amendments 1o
HKFRSs in the curmont year has had no maderal impact on the Group's
fnancial positions and performance $or the currant and prior years and/
¢ on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statenants.

Amendments 1o HKAS 1

Amendments 10 HKAS 1

Amondments 1o HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

ANNUN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease
Liability in a Sale and Leasoback

The Group has applied the amendments for the firat time In the
cumant year. The amandments add subsequent measuremant
requiremants for sale and leasoback transacticns that satisfy
the requirements of HKFRS 156 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers ("HKFES 157 1o be sccounted for as 8 sale
The amendments require 8 seller-lessee 10 determing “lease
payments” or "revised lesss payments” such that the seler-Rsses
would not recogriss a gam of loss that relates to the right of use
retaned by the seller-lessee. The amendmants also clarily that
applying the equirements does not prevent the seller-lesses from
Trecognisng In profit or loss any gain of 0ss reliting 10 subsequent
partal or Ml tormination of & lease.

Accoeding 1o the transitional provisions, the Group has appled the
naw accounting policy retrospectivoly 10 the sie and leasaback
ransactions entered into by the Group as the seller-sssee after
tha inttial application of HKFRS 16 Laases ("HKFRS 16%). The
appiication of tha amendmants has no matenal impact on the
Group's financial postion and parfoamance.

22 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the "2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Lisbilities with Covenants (the “2022
‘Amendments”)

The Group has apphad the amendmants for the first time in tha
cument year, The 2020 Amandments provide clanfication and
avditonal guidance on the assassment of right to deder sattiemant
{or at least twohe months from reporting date for classification of
kabities as cumrent or non-current, which:

. spacily that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-curent should be based on rights that are in
exstence at the end of the reporting period. Spaciticaty,
the classification should not bo affected by managemeont
ntentions or expectations 10 settle the Gabilty within 12
monins,

. cinrty that the satfiement of & labéty can be a ransier
ol cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the countarparty. Il o kabifity has terms
that could. at the option of the counterparty, resull in
its sattigmant by the tranater of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these lerms do not affect its classification
as cument or non-current ondy If tha entity racognises the
opbon separatoly s an equity nstrument applying HKAS
32 Finandial Insinaments. Presentation.
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For the year endod 31 Dacomber 2024
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

22

‘A

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabiiities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments"} and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants {the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For nghts 1o defer settiement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendmants specifically clarlfy tha
only covenants that an enlity (s raquired o comply with on of
bafore the end of tha reporting penod affect 1hs entity’s right
to defer sattlament of a kability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even it compliance with the covenant is
assessed only-after the reporting date. Tha 2022 Amandmants
also specify tha! covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the
classification of o labiity &3 current or non-curment at the reporting
date. Howaver, if the enfity's right 1o defer settiemant of a labilty
18 subjest to the entity complying with covenants within tweha
months after the reponing penod, an entity discloses information
that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk
of the liabilities becoming repayabe within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include indormation about the
covenants, the carrying amount of reiated liabiities and faots
and crumatancas,  ay, that indicate that 1he entity may hve
difficiatias complying with the covenants,

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
appliod 1he naw accounting policy 1o the classification of Kbty
a8 cument or ron-current retrospectivaly. The appiication of the
amenamaents in the cument year had no matera impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolida

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not eany agpled the icllowing new and amendments 1o
HKFRSE that have béen issud but aro ot yot effactive:
Amendments 1o HKFRSS  Amendments o the Classification

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financal
Instruments”
Amendments o HKFRS 8 Contracts Reterencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dapendant Blectricity’
Amendments 1o HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets batwaen
and HKAS 28 an Investor and ks Associate or Joint
Venturg'

Amengmonts to HKFRS Annual iImprovements 1o HKFRS

Accounting Standards Accounting Standards - Volume 117
Amendments 1o HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeabiiity”
HKFRS 18 Prasontation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

Effactive lor annual periods beginning on or alter a date to be
determinsd.
5 Eftective for annual paniods beginning oo of aftar 1 January 2025,

' Effectve for annusl perods beginning on or after 1 January 2026,
* Effectiva for annunl periods beginning on or after 1 Janwary 2027,

Except for the new and amandmants 1o HKFRSs mentioned balow,
tha diractors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRSs will have no materal impact on the
consoldated financial statemants n the foreseaable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 ciandy the recognition and derecognition
for financial @sset and financial ability and add an exception which
permits an entity to deam a financlal labiity 10 be dischargad before
the settiement date 1t & settiod In cash using an slectronic payment
system f, and only if cenain conditions are met.

Tha amincments alsa provics guidancs on the assessment of whethae
the contractual cash flows of & financial asset are consistent with 3
basic lending amangement, The amendments specify that an entity
shouid focus on what en entity is being compensated for rather than the
compensation amount. Contractual cash fows ae inconsisient with a
basic lending arrangement If they are indlexed to a variable that is not a
basio lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in-some cases,
2 contingant feature may give rise 10 contractual cash tiows that are
conssien with a basc lending amangement both bafore and after the
change In contrachual cash flows, but the naturs of the contingant event
itseif does not relate divactly 10 changes in basic lending risics and costs.
Furthermore, the description of the term *non-recouwrse” is enhanced
and the charactenstics of *‘contraciually fnked instruments® are clarfied
i the amendrnonts.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSa in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
(Continued)

The discicswre requirements in HKFRS 7 In respect of nvestments in
equity Instruments desgrated at fair valuo through other compraehensve
Income are amendead. In particular, entities are required 10 disclose
the fasr value gain or Ioss presented in other comprehensive income
during the period, showing separately thase related 1o investments
deracognised during the reporting pariod and thoss related to
Investmants hald at the end of the reporting period. An entity is also
requiredd 1o dsclose any transtars of the cumutative gain of loss within
aquity related 1o the investments derecognised during the raporting
period. In agdition, the smendments introduce the requirements of
quaitative and quantitative disciosure of contractual terms that could
affect the contractual cash flow based on 3 contingent @ven not dirctly
redating 10 basic knding risks and cost.

The amendments are eflective for annual reporing penods beginning on
o¢ after 1 January 2025, with early appiication permitted. The appication
of tha amendments s not expected In have signiicant Impact on the
financial position and performance of the Geoup.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFES 18 Prasentation and Disclosurs in Financial Statements, wiich
sets oul requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
stalermonts, will roplace HIKAS 1 Presantation of Financial Stitements.:
This new HKFRS Accounting Stantard, while carmying forward many of
the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements 10 present
specified categonies and definedt subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provide disclosures on managoment-defined parformance
measures in the notes to the financial stataments and Improve
aggrogation and disaggragation of information to be disciosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
‘Statemant of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Eamings per Share are aiso
made.

HKFRS 18, and amandmonts (o other standards, will be offective
for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with aarly
application panmittad,

The sppiication of the new slandard s expoected 10 affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group s in the process of assessing
the detafed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidatad financial
statements.
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 =
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL B
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements 31 HAeHEN&ZANEE

The consolidated financial statements have bean prepared
in accordance with HKFRSS issued by the HKICPA, For the
pupese of proparation of the consolidated feancial statements,
information is congiderad material |t such information is
reasonably expected 1o Influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consclidiated financial statements inchude
appiicable dscioaures required by tha Rules Governing the Listing

.of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

("Listing Ruses”) and by the Hong Kong Campanis Ordinanca.

Duning the year ended 31 Decembar 2024, the Group incurred
a net loss of RMBS.434 milion and as at 31 December 2024,
the Group has borowings amounting to RMB30,905 milton

{Inctuding bank and other bomowings of RMB30,633 mition, debt

componant of convertibie bonds of RMB142 million and domestic
comporate bonds of RMB130 million) that are repayable within
one year at the end of the reporting penod, of which RMB30,485
millon becoming immediately repayable on demand due to
ofaults or Cross defaults triggerad. At the same date, the Group
has cach and cash aquivalents amountad 1o RMBSS7 milion, In
addition, o winding-up patition was filed by o lender {"A Lender”)
at the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Raglon
(Hgh Court") againat tha Company on 4 February 2025 dus to
default In certain notes issued by a subsidiary of the Company
and cortan financial cbligation guaranteed in connection o the
notes provided by the Company.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
hove undartakan a number of pians and MEasures 10 mprove the
Group's liquidity and financial position, to restructure the exdsting
mmwmmm@mmwA
Lender, nckudng:

() The Group is seeking the legal advice from a legal advisor
in tespoct of the winding-up petition as to resolutely
oppose the winding-up petitions in order 1o avoid
winding-up potitian being confirmed by High Court with
consequence of iquidation;

0] mmmw;wmm-w
Baivisor (the "Advisors”) 1o assist it with a restructuring of
#s offshore bank and other barowings, in order 1o reach a
consensual soiution with al the stakeholders (inchxsing *A
Lender”) a5 500N &3 practical;

(# The Group has been actively negotiating with existing
lenders for renownl or extension for repayment of the
Group's borrowings untl the Group i able 1o securg
sufficent tunding 1o repay;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
{Continued)

31

w‘awamwm.
(Continued)

M The Group wil continug 10 draw down necessary funding
trom the loan facilities granted and actively negotiating
with several financial institlutions 10 oblain new loans for
completing/starting of axisting/new property development
projects;

M The Group witl continua 1o actively make efforts 10 acheve
the latest budgeled sales and pre-sales yolumes at cument
markit pice for its existing development propcts;

M) The Group will maintam continuous communication wih
tha major constructons and supplers to amange payments
10 thase vendons; and

Vil The Group wil continue 10 Sk opportunity 1o dspose of
13 properties 1o generate more cash INSows 10 Improve the
uicity,

The directors of the Company have reviewad the Group's cash
fiow proections propared by management, wivch cover a period
of not less then twelve months from 31 December 2024, Thay
are of the cpinion that, taking into account the abole-mentionad
plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working captat
1o finance is operations and 10 pay its financial obligations as and
whan thisy &l cue within twsive months from 31 Decembar 2004,
Accordingly, the drectors of the Company are safishiad that |t s
approprale 10 prepace the comsoidated financial statements on @
oINg concernm basis,

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncerizinties exist as o
whother tho management of the Group is able 10 implement the
atorementioned plans and measures and continue as a going
concarn which depend upon the Group's ability to genarate
adoquate-cash flows through the tollowinn [} successtully
oppasing the winding up petition resolutely and avold winding
up patition being confimmed by High Court with consequance
of kquidation; (i) successtully and timaly complation of the debt
restructuring of its offshore bank and other borrowings: (i)
succossiully negotiating with tha Group's edsting lenders for the
renawal Or extensian for repayment of tha Group's borrowings:
W) successfully securing promct devalopment loans for qualifiect
project In & timely mannar; (v) successiully carrying out the
Geoup's business strtegy plan ncludny) the scoaention of the
sales of properties and timaly payment to the vendars: and (W)
successtully dsposing of the Group's properties.

B0 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 20024

3.

31 SANBHAZANERW

) TRESARSEPHCEARZDIREDR
FRES SWENETCHMMEN - X
NS RRRTL/MARYFROERBR
mne :

M AREERRBESDANNHVRAE L
ERTARMERAANANLANER

M ATEBENIRRERLAATABAAN
0RERRRERSAR- B

M AARFAMGRAREARNRUELE
SREEN  KFARZBRE -

FATMESERNETIESFANS TSNS RS
BN -BUNERE S _nr+ A=+ —-B&
T2+ -—GANKM - KETE2H REE LGN
REfER ZEARAEEREREANEES
HRE BEARN_F-_mE+-_A=+-HE
= RSARFNOMERE A X2THS
A%  ERASRESRNGAMBRENENR -

SEWLTHIE RRTIME TG LAHNE
BRZHARRRFOAMAHTHREER - S
FETERRERNLTERREER MBS -
AENRAZHASEN ALNBIRABF
FURRAR S BRI (AR B TR ORI T B
B0 400 5 0 00 A ()P S 0 O 0 AR
ASDENCEORE RSN - (MR DB H
DERBEAE RBAE VRN MR NRKTH
SENERESH N - REGRARDRUENN
RAAE BMEmHExEEnHR -



FEXBEEHT FID AR E N E G 2024 FEHE

ﬁ%% BHEME

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZlﬂ‘ﬂ&!X.ﬁ

directors of the Company 10 prépare the consolidated Financial
statemonts on & going concern basis, Potentlal adjustments
would have to be made to the reported financial information
Including but not limited 1o reduca the carrying values of the
Group's assats to they realisation amounts, to provide for fnancial
Sablities which might arfse, and 1o reclassify non-cumant assets
and non-current Kabiities as cutrent assets and current kablitios
respectivaly, If appicabla. The sffects of these adjustments have
not bean rafiscted In these consclidated financkl statoments.

The consciicated financiai statements have been praparsd on the
histoncal cost Dasis except for Nvestimont propertios and carnan
financial instruments that ans measired at fair values at the end of
oach reponng penod, as explained In the accounting policies set
out batow.

Histarical cost Is genarally bassd on tha fair value of tha
considerabion gven in exchange for goods and senvices.

Fair valuo is the price thatl wousd be received 10 sell an assat or
paid to transfer a kabdty in an ordery transaction between market
participants at the measuremant dato, regardess of whather that
price is dirsctly observabie or estimatad using another vakiation
tochnigue; In estimating the far value of an asset oc 8 labilty,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
Kabilty if market panticipants would take those charsclanisics inlo

.mmmmmanyatmm

date, Fair value for measurement 3nd/or AISTIOSUNe PUIPOSES N
these consolidated financial stalements 15 determined on such
2 bagis, oxcept for share-based payment transactions thal are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based! Payment, leasing
transactions that are acoountid for in accordance with HKFRS
18, and measurements that have some similarities 1o fair value
byt are not fair value, such as nel reaksable value In HKAS 2
lnventones o value in use in HKAS 36 impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurament of 8 non-financial asset 1akas into
account a markot' participant’s ability 1o ganerata economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best Ls2 or by soling
1t to another markst participant that would use the asset in ifs
highest and best use.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEW

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financiat statements 31 HRAMBHAZARE2(W
(Continued)
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In adgdition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are cateqonsed Info Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fak valup measurements are
obiservable and the signdficance of the inputs 1o the fair value
maasurement in 15 antiraty, which are dascribed as follows:

. Lovel 1 inputs are quoted prces {unadjusted) in active
markats for identical assets or Rabilities that the entlly can
BCCess at the maasurenent date:

e Low 2 inputs are Inputs, other than quotad prices included
vithin Leved 1, that are observabie for the asset or lability,
either directly or indrectly: and

. Loved 3 inputs are uncbsarvable inputs for the asset or
Sabuty,

2 Material Accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statoments of the Company and entities controlied by the
Company and s subsidianes. Control is achieved when the
Company;

* has power over the investoe;

. is exposad, or has rights, 10 varable retums from its
nvolvement with the investes, and

*  hasthe abiity 10 use fis power 10 atfect its returms.

The Group reassesses whather or not it controls an investes i
tacts and ckoumstinees Indicate that thee ar changes 10 one or
mare of the thres slements of control #sted above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary beging when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases whan ihe Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of 8
subsidisry acquirad or disposad of during the year ara included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control untll the date when the Groun ceases 10
controt the subsidary,

Profit or joss and each item of other comprahensive income
are atiributed 10 tha owners of the Company and 10 the non-
controlling Interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidanes
is atributed 1o the ownets of tha Company and to the non-
controlling interests even If this results in the non-controling
intorasts having a deficit balance,

B2 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 20024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Whan necessary, adjustimants are made to the financial
statements of subsitianies 10 bring their accounting poicies in Ina
with the Group's atcounting policss.

All intragroup assels and [abilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows refating 10 transactions between mombers of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation,

Non-contraling inferests in subsidianes ars presentad soparately
from the Group's eqolty therein, which répresent present
ownorghip interests entiting thesr holdars to 2 proportionate share
of net assats of the relevant subakkanes upon kqudation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or 35) & performance
obsgabon is satisfied, L.e. when "control” of the goods or services
underying the particular pedormance cbiigation is transtemed 1o

A performance obligation reprasents a good of service (or 3
bunidio of goods or services) that 18 distint or & series of distingt
goods or services that are substantialy the same.

Control is transforad over tme and revenue 8 recognised over
tima by relorencs 10 1he progress towards compiste satistaction
of the relevant performanca abligation i one of the follwing
criteria s mat:

*  the customer Simultancously recoives and Consumes the
benafits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group parforms:

o the Group's performance creates of enhances an assol
that the customer contrals a5 the Group pedoris; o

o the Group's performance does not creata an asset with
an alternative use 10 the Group and the Group has an
enforceable nght 10 payment for peronmance completed 10
cate.

Othorwisa, mvanua is racognised ol 8 pont in ima when the
customer chlains control of the distinet good or senice:

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating 1o
CONMaCts with customexs i provided in noto 5,

A contract fiablity represents the Group’s oblgation to transfer
goods o senices 10 3 customer for which the Group has receved
consideration {or an omount of consideration & due} from the
custamer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMERNAZNNRERE AN
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEAE®
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
32 Material Accounting palicy information (Continued) 32 BASHBEAHI

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complote satisfaction of a performance obligation

For property manogerment senice, as a practical expedient, the
Group recognises ravanie in the amount 16 which tha entity has
& 1ight to invoice, as tha Group has a right 1o consideration from a
customer i an amount that corrasponds directly with the value 1o
the customar of the ontity's parformance complated 10 date.

Inforrnation about the Group's accounting policies rediting 10
contracts with customers & providad n note 5,

The Group assesses whather a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at incaption of the
contract. Such contract will nat be reassessad uniess the terms
anxi conditions of the contract afe subseguently changsd.

The Geoup as 2 lessos
Alocaton of consideration o components of a contract

For & contract that containg 8 lease component and ond of Mors
addtonal lease or non-dease companents, the Group allocates
the consideeation in the contract to sach loase component on tha
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the laase compaonent and
the sgaregate stand-alona pica of the non-ease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership Intarests of a
proparty which includes both leasehoid land and non-lease
bullding companants, uniass such aliocation cannat be mads
roliably.

The Group appies practical axpedient not {o separate non-loase
components from iaase component, and instead account for the
Wsase component and any assoclsted NoN-ease COMPONGNts as
3 single leasa companant.

Shoet-term Bases

The Group applies the Short-1onm 18358 recognition exemption 10
leases of rental pramisas that have & leese term of 12 months or
less from the commencement data and do not contain a purchase
option. Lesse payments on short-1em leases 6 recognised 838
expense on a stralght-ine basis or another systematic basis over
the aase torm,

B84 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 20024
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZlﬂ‘ﬂ&!X.ﬁ

. the amount of the inital measurement of the leasa abiity;

. any lease payments mada at or befora the commencemant
dole, 985S 8Ny lease ncentives recived;

o anyinitil direct coats incurmed by the Group, and

. an estimate of costs to be incurrad by tha Group In
dismantiing and removing the undedying assets, restonng
the sito on which it s located or restoring the underying
asset 1o the condition resuared by the terms and condtions
of the leasa.

Right-of-use assats heid by the Group met the dafinition of
investment property and are presented within “investment
proporties” and measured under fair value model

Rtunciatie rental Geposits

Fatundabie rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
emmmnmnwmmmu
Talr value. Adjustments to fair value at initis! recognition are
oonsidered as additional lease payments and included In the cost
of night-ol-usa assety.

Loase &abdnes

At the commencement date of & lease, tho Group recogrises and
measures the lease iabaty at the praesent value of lease paymants
that are unpaid at that date. in calculating tha present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borowing rate
al the isase commencement date If the intorest rate implict in tho
359 15 NOt readily delermmabie.

The lease payments include fixed paymants (including In-
substance fixed payments) oss any kaase INcontives rmosvable.

Alfter the commancement date, loase llabiities are sdjusted by

The Group presents lease lishiltes as a separate line em on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EARHEWNEHW
Leases (Continued) HRW
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or operating leases. Whanever the torms of the lease transfer
substantially 2 the rsks and rewards incdental to ownership of
8n undenying asset to the lessoe, the contract is chissifiad as 8
finance leaso. Al other leases ae classifind a5 operating leases.

Rental Income from operating leases is recognised In profit of loss
on & straght-ing basis over tha term of the relevant lease. Initil
direct costs incurred in negotiating and amanging an operating
laaso am adaded 1o the camying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs and recognised as an expense on a straight-ine basis
over tho ioase lerm axcept for Investment properties measured
under far valua model.

Rental incoma which s derived from the Group's ondinary course
of business are presented 3s revenus,

Alocation of consiceration 10 componeants of & contract

When a contract includes tioth leases and non-leasa
components, the Group applics HKFRS 15 to ailocate
consieration n 8 conlract 10 lease and noo-keass componenls.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on
the bisis of their refative stand-alone seling prices.

Ratndablo rental deposits

Rofundable rental deposits recelved are accourted for under
HKFAS § and inttially measured at fair value, Adjustments 1o
for valuo at initial rocognition aro considered a8 additonal aso
payments from lessoen.

When the Group s an mtermediale jessor, 1 aceounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separata contracts. The
subiease is classifed 49 8 fnance O oparating lease by reference
1o the rfight-ol-use assets arising from the head lease, not with
referance 10 the undedying asset.

B6 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HeW ﬁﬁZ.ﬂ‘ﬂ&!X.H
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEW
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 RARHARNAHW
Leases (Continued) oA
The Group a5 a lessor (Continpad) SHWFALEAG
Lisgse mociication HRASLT
Changes in conalderations of lease contracts thal ware not FTREFHMEDRFGHERSHALMAR

part of the onginal tanms and conditions are socounted for as
forgvenass or reduttion of rantals.

The Group accounts 5or 8 modfication 10 8n operting lease s a
new loase from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued laase payments relating 1o the onigine!
lease as part of the iaase paymants for the new lease.

The Group sppiles the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sai and lnaseback transaction constitites a salo by the
Group.

The Group s a soller-lessee

For a transfer that sabsfies the requirements as a sai. the Group
25 & sefier-lessen measires thi right-of-use assel arising from
the leaseback al the propartion of the previous camying amount
of the asset and HOOGNISHS BNy Gain of loss thal reiales to the
rights transfared 1o the buyer-essor only, Right-of use assst and
accordance with 1he Group's accounting polcias abave,

nunﬁnﬂndﬁnmﬂﬁmunhﬂnuh&unmsul
the fair value of the assal, of if the payments for the lease are not

At market rates, the Group makes the (oflowing adjustments 1o
mMeasure the sale proceeds ol tar value:

(@ sy below-market tenms & accounted for as a prepayment
of lease payments; and

b) any above-markel terms is socounted for 85 additional
financing providad by the buyer-lessor 10 the sallee-lasses,
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. &
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BE
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

in preparing the financial statemants of each individual group
sntity, transactions in cumencies other than the funclional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) ars recognised at the rates of
changes prevaling on the dates of the transactions. Al the end
of the reporting period. monetary fams denominated in foraign
currencies e retranstated al the rates prevaling at that date.

Noa-monstary llems carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevalling on
the date when the far value was dstermined. When & fair value
gain or loss on a non-monotary itam s recognised in profit
or loss, any exchango component of that gain or 1oss is aiso
recogrisad In profit or loss. When & talr value gain or loss on 8
non-menetary ftem i recogrised in other comprohansive Income,
any exchange component of that Gain of 108 i aiso recognised
in othier comprahenaive income. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in o foregn cumency am not
rotrarsiated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlerment. of monetary
items, and on the retransiation of monctary Rems, are recognised
in peofit or loss 11 the perod in which they atlse, excent for
exchange differences on monstary items receivadie fram or
payabla 10 a foreign operation for which settiement is neither
pianned nor ikaly to occur {therefore forming part of tha net
investment in tha foregn operation], which are recognisad initiaty
in other comprehensive Income and recisssified from equity (o
proft or loss on disposal of the foreign oparation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated tinancial
statements, the assats and labiities of the Group's operations are
transiated info the presentation currency of the Group (Lo, RMB)
using exchange rates prevalling at the end of each reporting
panod. Income and expenses kems are transiated a! the average
axchange rates for the penod, unkess exchange rates fluctuate
significartly during that periad, in which case the exchangae
ratos &t tha data of transactions-ate used. Exchange differences.
arising, i a0y, ire recognisad in other comprahensive income and
accumulated in equity under tha heading of exchanga resenve
{attributed 10 non-controfing interests as approprate).

On the disposal of & foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a forelgn operation, of & disposal
involving 0ss of control over a subsidiary that inchidas a foraign
operation, or & partinl dsposal of an interest m & joint amangement
or an associate that includes a loreign operation of which the
reganed intarest becomes a financial asset), sl of the axchange
differences accumulated in equity in respact of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified (o
proft or loss.

In addition; In refation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
goes not result i the Group I6sing control over the subsidary, the
proportionats shara of accumuiated axchange diffprences @ e-
attributéd (o non-controling interests and are ot recogrisad in
proft or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZlﬂ‘ﬂ&!X.ﬁ

Borrowing. costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or producton of qualitying assets, which o assats
{hat necessarlly take a substantial period of time to get ready for
thexr intended use or sale, are added 10 the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for thei
Intended use or sake. For properties undar development for which
revenue 1§ recognised over time, the Group ceases 10 capitalise
BOrrowing costs @ so0n as the properties sre ready for the
Group's intended saie.

ssset iy ready for s intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing poo! for calculation of capitalisation rate on
goneral borowings. nvestmant incoma aamed on the temparary
Investment of Specific bamowings penting ther expendiuics on
qualtying assets is deductad from the bomowing costs siighie for
caplalisation.

All ofher BOMOWINg costs are recognised In proft or lass In the
pariod In which they ane incurred,

Employee beneflits
Rotirement banofit costs

Paymants 1o delingd contnbution retiremant benafil plans are
recognised as-an expense whan employees have rendared
senvic entiting tham 10 the contrbutions.

Tenmination benefts

A linbility for a termination banafil is recognised at the eatlier
of when the Group entity can no langer withdraw the ofter
of the termination benefit and whaen it recognises any rotated
TBSICILNNG COSIS.

Short:tarm amployee benetits

Shaorl-term employee benefits are recognised at the undscountad
amount of the benefits expected (o be paid as and whan
employees renoered the sarvices, All short-term amployee
banefits aro rocogrEsad &5 &1 axpenss uniess another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
nssal,

Aflabiity s recogrised for banefts acoruing 1o employees (such as
any amount aiready paxl.
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The tax cutrently payable is based on taxable profit for tha year,
Taxable proft difters from Joss belore tax bacguse of income or
8xpanso that afe taxable oc deduciibie in other years and lems
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's fability for
cutrent fex is calculited using tax rates that have been anacted
or substantively enactad by the end of the reporting perod.

Deterrod tax Is recognised on temporary differsnces between
the carrying amounts of assats and Rabiities in the consoldaled
financial staterments and the corresponding tax bases used n the
computation of taxabie profit. Deferred tax katwlitios aro gonersly
recognised for All taxabie temporary differences. Deterred tax
assots are genorally recognisod for all deductible temporary
diferences 10 the exient that it is probabls st tlaxable profits wil
be available against which 1hose deductible temporary diteronces
can be utlised. Such defermed 1ax assets and liabilities ars not
recognised if the femporary difference arises from the initial
recognition {otheér than in a business combination) of assets and
fiabiities n 0 transaction that affects naither the taabie profit noc
the accounting peoft and a8 the time of the transaction does not
e rse 10 aqual taabia and deductile ternpocary difterances, in
addtion, deferrad tax iabiities aro not recogrised if the temporsry
difference arises from the inial moognition of goodwil

Deferred tax Rabilities are recognisad for taxable temporary
differences associated with invesiments in subsidiaries and
intetests in joint ventures, axcept whero the Group 1s able to
control the reversal of the temporary differance and it i probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deterrad tax assets ensing from deductible tamporaty
Gifferonces associotod with such investments and intorasts are
only recognised 1o the aitant that | is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which (o utiise the benalits of the
tamporary differences and they are expected 1o reversa In the
foresnoabso futuro.

The camying amount of defarred tax assets  raviewed af the end
of sach reparting period ang reduced 10 the axient that It is no
longee probabla that sufficient taxable profits will be available 10
aliow sl or part of the asset 10 be recovered,

Deferred tax assets and llabfties are measured at the tax rates
that ane expactod 10 apply In the pedod in which the tabilty
sattied or the assat i5 realisad, basad on tax rate (and tax fawa)
that have been anacted or substantively anacted by the end ol
the reporting pericd.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZ.ﬂ‘ﬂ&lX'H

-gottle the carrying amount of 4s assats and flablites.

For the purposes of meanuring deforred tax for investment
properties that are measured usng the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed 1o be
recovered entirely through sale, unlass the prasumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebuttad when tha investment
property is depreciable and Is hald within a business modal
whasa abjective i fo consume substantialy all of the economic
benefits embodiad in tha investment property over time, rather
than through sale; oxcept for freahold land, which is always
presumed to be recoverad antirely through sale.

For the purposes ol measuring deferred tax for leasing
franeactions in which the Groun recognises the fight-of-use asseots
and the reiatedt lease kabites, the Group first determines whether
the tax deductions are attributable to the nght-of-use assets or
the lease lablities.

For leasing transactions (n which the 1ax deductions are
attributabie 1o the lease kabilties, the Group apphes HKAS 12
Income Taxes requiremants 10 isase isbiiies and related assats
saparaloly, The Group rocognises @ dofarred tax easel related 10
leasa liabdities 10 the extent that it is probablo that taxabie profit
wit be availabls against which the deductible temporary differsnce
can be utiised and a deferred tax ksbty for all taxable temporary
differences,

Doforrid tax assets and kabities arm offset when thera & 8 logally
mewawumwwm
Sablities and when thay neate 10 INcome taes lavied 10 1he Some
laoastie entity by the sama taxation authorty.

Current and delerred tax are recagnised In profit or loss,
okaept whon thay relato 10 ifems that are rcognised in other
comprehansiva income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised In other
comprehensive income o diractly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income fax treatments,
the Group considers whather it Is probable that the rolevant
tax authority will accept the uncertam tax treatmant used, of
proposed 10 be use by individun! group entities in thes income
tax fiings. I it is probabie, the current and deferred taxes are
detanmined consistently with tha tax treatment in the income tax
filngs. It 1t is ot probable that the relevant taxation authortty wil
BOCOpt an uncertaln tax treatment, the effect of each uncentainty
s refiacted by using ether the most liely amount o the expectad
vahue,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN
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a5 established at the date of acquisition of the business Joss
acoumulated impairmant losses, If any,

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodvwill is aliocated 10
each of the Group's cash-generating unit that is expscted 10
benefit from the synerges of tha combination, which ropresent
the lowest ievel at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpGsas and not farger than an oparating segment,

A cash-ganerating unit to which goodwill has been allocated &
tasted for Impairment annually or mor frequently when there s
indication that the unit may be impaid. For goodwll arising on
an acquisition in a repanting pericd, the cash-ganerating unit to
which goodwil has bean allocated s tested for impaiment before
the and af that reporting perdod. i the recoverabile amount is ks
than its camying amount, tha mpairment loss is aliocated first 1o
raduce the carmying amount of any goodwil and then 1o the other
83015 0N 0 péo-mia basis based on tha camying amount of each
asset In the unit.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-ganarsating unit within the group of cash-ganerating
units, tha attributable amount of goodwill 8 included In the
detormination of the amount of profit or 10ss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an oparmtion within the cash-ganarating
Unit, the amcunt of goodwill disposed of is measured on the bass
of the resative values of the oparation disposad of and the portion
of tha cash-generating unit rataned.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or senvices, or for
under construction as describod below), Proparty, plant and
equipmant are s1atad in the consoldaled statement of financial
position at cost lass subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent scoumulsted impairment loases, f any.

Froohold lands are not depreciatyd and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumuiated mpainmeant losses.

Construction In progress in the course of construction for
production, supply or administralive purposes e camed at
costs directly stinbutable 10 bringing 1he asset 10 the location
and condition nacessary for it to be capabls of opersting in the
manner intended by management and, for quaiifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised In accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy, Depreciation of these assets, on the same
bass as other property assets, commences when tho assots an
ready for their intended uso.

G2 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZlﬂ‘ﬂ&!X.ﬁ

thelr estimated useful Ives, using the straight-3ne method. The
astmatod useful ives, residunl values and depreciation method
are riviewed at the end of each reporfing period, with Ihe effect
of any changes in estimale accountad for on a prospectvg basis.

An ftem of property, plant and equipmant & derecognised LEoN
disposal of when no fulure economic benefits are expacted o
arise from this continued uso of the asset. Any gain or loss ansing
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equpment is determined as the difference betwoen the salss

proceeds and the canying amount of the assal and is recognised

n profit or loss,

When the Group makes payments jor ownership intasests of
properties which includes both leasehold tand and bullding
olements, the entlre considaration s allocated batwoen the
leasshold iand and the building slements in praportion 10 the
relative faic values st inftial recognition. When the conssderation
cannot be allocaled reliably botwesn non-lease buiding element
8nd undivided intarest in the undenying lsasehold land, the entro
propenies are classifiad as property, plant and equipment.

It & property becomas an investment property because s use

“has changad as avidenced by end of ownee-occupation, any

difterence between the carrying amoeunt and the fair value of
that ftem (including tha refevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assata) at the date of transfer s recognised in other
comprehensive income and pccumutatad i “property revaluation
reserve”. On the subssquent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant rovaluation resane will be transferred directly to
rataned profits.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment properties are propedies heid to esm rentas and/or
for capltal sppreciation (including properties undér construction
for such purposas).

Investment proparties also Include leased properties which are
being recognised as nght-of-Use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, ncluding any
droctly attributabie oxpenditure. Subseqient 1o Injtal recognition;
Investment proparties are measured at falr value, adjusted to
@ickids any prepikl or sccrued OPerating lease NCome.

Gains or losses orising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties dre induded In profit or Joss for the period
in which thay arise.

Construgtion costs incurrod for invastment properties under
davelopment caomprises development expanditura nciuding
professional charge directly attributable to the davelopment and
bomowing costs, and these costs are capilalsed as part of the
camying amount of the investment properties uncier developmant.

An itwestmant propery s darscogrisad upon dispossl of when
the investment property & parmanently withdrawn from use and
no fulurs sconomic benafits ans axpectad from 1s dsposal. Any
gakn o 1oss arising on dercognition of the property (calculited
as the differance batween the net disposal procesds and the
canmying amount of the assat) is included i profit or loss in the
period in which the property i derecognised.

If 3 property becomes an owner-occupled property because
its-use has been changad as evidenced by commencemant of
ownar-occupation, the falr vidue of the property at the date of
changs In use is considered a5 the deemad cost for subsequent
accounting

94 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)

Propesties under development for sale which are intanded 10 be
sold upon completion of development and properties held tor
sale are classified as current assets. Except for the laasehold
land element which is. measurad at cost modal in accordance
with the accounting policies of nght-of-use assels, properties
under devalopmant for sala/properties held for saie are camed
at the lower of cost and net melisabie value. Cost is delerminad
on & specific identification bass including alocation of the related
davelopment expenditure incurred and where appropriats,
borrowing costs capitatsad. Net ractsable value represents the
estimatod selling prica for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary 1o make the sales. Costy
necessary 1o make the sale include incramenial costs directly

-attributable 10 the sale and nonvincramental costs which the

Group miust incur 10 make the sale,

Propertiss under development for sale are transterred 10
properties held for sale upon complation.

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development/properties heid for sale o investment property when
thera Is o change In use fo hold the property 10 eamn rentais oe/
and for capftal appreciation rather than for sake in the ordnary
coursa of business. Any differencs botween the tar value of the
property at the date of transter and its previous Camying amount is
recogrised In peofit oe ioss:

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a poesent
oblgation flegal or constructive) 85 a result of a past event, it is
probabie that the Group wil bo raquinsd 1o settie that cbligation,
and 3 reliable estimate can be made of the amaunt of the
obigation,

The amount recogrusad as & provision is the best estmate of
the consicleration requied to settle the prasant obiigation at the
end of the rporting period, taking info account ths riaks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Whet a provision is
mmwmmmwmnm
oblgation, s carmying amount s the present value of those cash
flowa (where the affect of tha tme value of money is matesial).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)

Fnancial assets and financial fabilities are racognised when 8
group entity bacomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Al regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised 00 @ trado date basis, Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sules of financial assels
that require doivery of assets within the time frame estabished by
reguiation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial labiities ar nitially measured at
fair value excep! for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which aro Intlally measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15, Transacton costs that are directly attributabie to the
atquistion or issus of financial assets and Snancial Sabilties (other
than financial assets oc financial kabilities at fair valua through
profit or loss [FFVTPLY)) are added 10 or detuctad from the falr
vakue of the financial assets o financial kebilties, 23 approprate,
on initial recognition. Transattion costs directly attrtatsbio to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial Habilities at FVTPL are
recognisad immediately in proft of loss.

Tha effective interest method s a method of caloulating the
amortised cost of a tinancial asset or financial lablity and of
aliocating interest ncome and ntarest expanss over the ralevant
penod, The efectivir interost rate is the rte that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments lncluding all fees
oand points pald or received that form an integral part ol the
eftactiva interest rate, transaction costs-and other premiums
ummmmbamw&'ma
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, 10 the
neét camying amount on initial recogrtion.
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HeW ﬁiz BREAD W AR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EARHEWNEHW
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAW
Financial assets THMER
Classifeanon and sibsequent measurament of financly assets FHREZ2BAN &N
)  Amortised cost and interest income ) BEEERFARA
interest income is recognised using the affective interest ERAFZHEGAERRENS X
metnod for financial assets measured subsequently at HERRARERARFARWAETAGH
amortised cost and debt instruments. interest income is RoFeR AN ERAEZE
calculated by applying the aftective interest rate 1o the LE R E BCR £ 80 Big BN B
gross carrying smount of & financlal assat, except for REMERABZRBRENN LT
financial assets that have subsequently become credit- L) HRAEAARRAZERAS
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have RoHpRARAHT-—R=NM
subsequantly become crodit-impaired, interest incoma FREEZ MRS AR R T
is recognised by applying the effactive interest rata to UEE - BUREREARIAZAN
the amortised cost of the financial assot from the next BRNFEE - UREMAETHY
reporting penod, If the credit risk on the credit-impaired BHRRAN MR SRS AE
financial Instrument improves so that tha financial asset is HETATAHNERRARZ BE
no longer credit-mpared. interest Incoma is racognised MEMaN - HeRASETeO2
by applying the ettective interest rate 10 the gross camying JE IR 1R P DL
mtuwummmwwmam
ropcrting period folowing the determination that the assat i
00 longer cradit-mpaired.
L] 0 WEBRLZMANAKBREERE

Equity instruments dasignated as at fair value through other
comprehansive income (FVTOCT):

(TERARMES ARCSHEE]) =
BEIR

Investments in equity instruments al FVTOC! arg ELARMRGARERTREZRE
subssquently measured at fair value with gains and IABRRRESAMEN R - X2
1osses arising fromn changes In falr value recognised In AMUBBEL2RERBML K

other comprahensive income and accumulated in the
nvestment revalustion reserve; and are not subject to
Impainnent assassment. The cumulitive gain or loss will
not be reciassified 10 profit or loss on disposal of tha equity
investiments-and will continue 1o ba held in the investment

Dividends from these investments in equity Instruments
arn racognisad In profit o oss whian the Group's right 10
feceive the duvidends is established, uniess the dividends
clearly represent a acovery of part of the cost of the
nvestment. Deidends are included In the other income Ine
o In proft or joas.

FMEE TR EHRREEER
BTRIE  ABARGTRANG R
HusaEsmTeiiehanne
ANAATAS ENEAREAR
RN -

BESEERBL NN KT -
KEBSHFIARANKS N MG
LR e T
BRGE BN AREBNREA
ME .

NRI=WIBERAARLT 07
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.

32 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets {Continuad)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject o
imparment assessmant under HKFRS 9

The Group padorms impairmant assessmant under ECL mode!
on financial asseis (ncluding accounts receivable, deposits
paid, other recelvables (including amounts due from relsted
parties and non-controliing interasts), amount due from a joint
venture, restrictad bank deposits, piedged bank deposits and
bank balances) and other items (financial guarantes contracts)
which are subject 1o impairment assessment undar HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reparting date to ralisct
chinges n okt risk since indial recognition.

Lifetvno ECL reprosents tha ECL that will resuit from o possible
delault avents over the expected e of the relevant instrument,
In condrast, 12-month ECL (*12m ECL") reprosents the portion of
Htetime ECL that is expected 10 result from defact svents that ane
poassbie within 12 months after the reporting date, Assassments
are done based on the Group's historical credit J0ss expenience,
adjusted 1or factors that ara specific 10 the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
condtions At the reporing dato &5 well as the forecast of future
condtions,

The Group ahways recognises ietime ECL for account receivabies-
without significant financing component,

For all other nstruments, the Group mesasures the Ioss aliowance
numznea.mmmbm-wm
in credit risk snce initlal recognition, in which case the Group
recognises liletime ECL. The assessment of whather Matime ECL
should be racognised Is based on significant increases In the
lieihood or risk of a defaull oCoUMng SINGE Inital recogrition.
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Notes to the Conso

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continuad)

Impairment of financial assats and other items subject to
Imparment assoessmeant under HKFRS 2 (Continvad

)  Synificant ncresse in credit sk

In assessing whether the cradit risk has Increased
signiicantly since intial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of 8 default cocurring on the fnancial nstrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a dalault occurring on
the financial instrumint as at the date of intial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitativo informatian that is reasonable
and supportable, Including historical experience and
forward-looking infarmation that = available without undue
©ost or eflort,

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessmant,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since Initial recognition when contractual
paymants are moro than 30 days past due, uniess tho
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
cemOonstrates othanwise,

Despite the aforegong, e Group assumed that tho crodit
sk on a debt instrumaent has not increased sgnificantly
Enoa iniflal recogrition ff the debit instrument s detaemined
10 have low cradil risk al the raporting data. A dabt
instrument s determined to have low credit nsk if () 1 has
 dow risk of defaut, {7 tha borrower has a strong capacity
10 maet 18 contractual cash flow cbigations in the near
torm and (W) adverse changes N economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but wil not nocessarly,
reduce tha ability of tha borrower to fUlfit its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a dabt
nstrument 10 have low credit risk when It has an internal o
anmdaulm&cd1M~h‘!¢tﬁﬂnpr¢u~»
understood definitons.
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets {Continuad)

Impairment of financial assets and other ltems subject o
imparment assessmant under HKFRS 9 (Contined)

() Sgniticant incroase in credt fisk (Continue)

For financial guarantea contracts, the date that the
Group becomes & party 10 the imevacatis commitment
 consderad to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impalrment. In assassing whethor
there has baen a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of & loan commitment, the Graup
conaiders changes in the sk of g default cocuming on
the loan 10 which a loan commitment relates: for francial
guarantes contracts, the Group considers the changes
in the risk that tha specified deblor wall default on the
contract.

The Group ragularly monitors. the effectiveness of the
triteria used fo identily whether thera has been a signdicant
ncraase in credit risk and ravises them as appeopriata 10
ensura that the criteria ore capatile of identilying significant
Incragsa in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

() Detinition of detautt

For intermal credit risk maragemant, the Group congiders
an event of default ocours when information daveioped
ntemally or obtained from external sources Indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its craditors, including the
Group, in full twithout talang Inta account any colaterals:
hald by the Group).

Imespactive of the above, the Group considers 1hat gatauft
mmmammnmmmm
past due uniess the Group has reasonabilo and supportable
information to damonstrate that & moce lagging default
critenon i more appropriate,
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Notes to the Conso

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continuad)

Impairment of financial assats and other items subject to
Imparment assoessmeant under HKFRS 2 (Continvad

()  Crodit-smpaitad financial assets

A financinl asset i credit-impaired when one of mora
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
{utura cash tiows of that financial assat have occurred.
Evidance that a fimancial asset is cradit-impaired Includes
observable data about the folowing events:

&)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer ot the
bomower;

) 8 breach of contract, such 85 a délault or past due
ovent;

fc)  tha lendar(s) of the borrowar, for economic or
contractual reasons relaling 1o the borrower's
financial cficulty, haning granted 1o the borower a
concassion(s) that the lenderfs) would not othenwiss
consider; or

{d) # 8 bacoming probabie thal the borower will enter
bankruptcy of other financial reorganisation.

v} Wiite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when thare is
information indicating that the counterparty 18 in sovora
financaal difficulty and there s no realistic prospect of
rocovery, for example, when tho countarparty has booen
placed undar liquidation or has entared into banlkeuptcy
proceedngs. of in the case of rade recanables, when the
sooner. Financial assels written off may atll bo subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking Into account lagal advice whara
approprate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any SUbSHAUENE MCOVanes Are recogresad in profit of lnss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 Material Accounting palicy information (Continued)
Financial assets {Continuad)

Impairment of financial assets and other ltems subject o
imparment assessmant under HKFRS 9 (Continved)

M  Messuamant and recognition of ECL

The measurament of ECL 1 a function of the probabiity
of default, loss given default (l.e. the magnitude of the
Koss if the is a defaull) and the expasure 2t default. The
assessmant of the probability of default and Joss given
dafault is based on historical data snd forward-looking
nlonmation. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probatility-weighted smount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring &S the weights,

Geanerally, the ECL s the ddierence batween all contractual
cash flows that are dus 10 the Group in accordance with
tha contract and the cash flows that the Group expects 10
receive, dscounted at tha effectve nterest rate determined.
atintial recogrifion, For a ldase recelvable, the cash flows
ugtad for datermining the ECL i consistant with the cash
flows used in measunng the base receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

For financial guarantes contracts, the Group s required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in secordance with tha terms of the inatnument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, tha ECL is the present value of
the @xpactad payments 10 resmburss the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs jess any amounts that the Group expects
10 roceive from the hoicor, the debior or any othar party.

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts recenvably ane considred
‘an a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information &nd refevant credit information such as forward
looking macroaconormic nfarmation.

For collective assessment, The Group 1akes into
consitienstion tha foliowing chataciorstics whae formutating
the grouping:

. Past-due status.:

. Nature, size and industry of debtors: and

. External credit ratings where avaliable.
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE—F-EF A= +—HIEYE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZlﬂ‘ﬂ&!X.ﬁ

The carrying amount of financlal sssets that are denominated
in 2 foroign cuttency is daterminad in that forsign currency and
ransiated at the spot rate at the end of sach reparing penod.
Specifically:

. For financial assets measured 8l amortised cost thal ars
not part of 3 designeted hedging relationship, exchangs
diftarences are recognised in profit o loss in the ‘Other
gaing and losses’ line lem (note 7) as part of the net
foresgn exchange gains: and

. For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
difterances are recognised In other. comprehensae income
hmmowmmm

Dearecognition of financial assets

The Group darocognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights 1o the cash flows from the asset expire, of
wher it transtars the financial assat and substanially &l the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another enity.

On deracognition of a financial asset measured at amortsed cost,
of the consideration recaived and receivabis is recognizsad n profit
orloss,

On deracognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elacted on indial recognition 16 measure at FVTOG!,
the cumulative galn o loss previously accumulsted in the
nvestment revaluation rasecve is not reciassitied 10 profit o loss,
bet is transferrad 1o retained profits.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 RARHARNAHW
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAW
Financial assats (Continuad) THEZ®
Forgign exchange gains and losses HERBEEN
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 Material Accounting policy information (Continued)
Financal kabdties and equity
Cussiication as detit or oquily

Debt and equity Instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as aquity in accordance with the substance o! the
contractual amangements and the definitions of & financial kability
e an aquity nstrument.

Equaty instruenents

An equity instrument i sny contract that evidences a residual
interest in the asssts of an entity after deducting af of Its liabiites.
Equity instruments issued by tha Company am recognised at the
proceeds received, net of girect issus costs,

Einancial Sabities

All financial Eabilties are subsequently measured at amonised
cost using the eflective infarest method or at FVTPL

Finégnoial kabiities at amortised cos!

ﬁuﬂﬂhﬂhﬂﬂﬂﬂnuﬂuﬂpﬂ&&chrumuu
borrowings. debt component of convertbla bonds and domestio
corporate bonds are subseguently maasured ol amornsad cost,
using the effectivo interast method.

Financial guarantee contracts:

A findncial guarantes contract 15 a contract that raquires the issuer
10 make spocified payments 10 remburse the hoider 1or a loss it
incurs because 2 speaified deblor fals 10 make paymants when
G In 5coordance with the torms of o debt nstrument, Financiel
guarantse contract labllitias are measured Initially ot thes fair
vales: It s subsequently maasured at the higher ot

. the amount of the loss allowanceé determined In
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount intially recognised less. where appropriate,
cumulatvg amortisation (ecognised over the guarantes
penod,
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE—F-EF A= +—HIEYE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Sal ﬁﬁ?..ﬂ‘ﬂ&!x.ﬂ‘
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EARHEWNEHW
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAW
Financial labilites and equlty (Continuad) ERARBRA R
Convertibie bonds contain gebt and devateg componants: BURBEGELAED 2 THRMAE
A conversion option that will be settled other than by the BLARERARMLET AN BRES -

axchangs of a fxad amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Group's own equity Instruments is a
COMVErson Cption darvative.

Al the cate of issue; both Ihe dabt component and dervalive
components are recogrised at tair valua. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertibia lan notes ia camisd at
amortsed cost using the sflactive interast method. The dervative

Trangacton costs that ralate 10 the Bsue of the convertibie loan
notes are allocated 10 the debt and derivative componants in
propartion 1o their reiative fair values. Transaction costs refating
10 the derivative componant ‘are charged to profit or loss
immediately, Transaction costs relaling to-the debt component
aro Included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over tha perod of the convertibie 1oan notes using the
SICIVE INtacost mathod.

Fongegn exchanpe gains and losses

For financial labiities that are denominated in a foreign currency
wmmawumumdmm
panod, the foregn exchange gaing and iosses are determined
based on the amortised cost of the Instruments. These forsign
axchange gans and losses are recognised in the ‘Other gains
and jossas’ line item in profit or loss (note 7) as part of net
forexgn exchango Gaing for financial labilties thal am not part of i

The fair value of financial kabilities denominated in a foraign
currency s dotermined in that foroign currency and transiated ot
the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.
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The Group deracognises financial llabilitles when, and only
when, the Groun's cbigations are dscharged, cancalied or have
expired. The difference between the carying amount of the

payable s recognised in prot or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with 3 kender of a financial
fiabylity with substantially differant tenms as an extinguishment
ol the original financial Kability and the. recognition of a new
financial abiity. A substantial modification of the tarms of an
pasting financial Kabiity or a part of & (whethér &t not attributabie
1o the firancial dificulty of the Group) is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the origna! financial sbiity. and the recognition
of a new financial kabiity,

When tha contractual terms of a financial Rabilty are modified, the
Group assess whuther the ravised lerms result in a substantial
modification from origina terms 1aking Into account il retovant
facts and crcumstances including qualitative factors, if qualitative
nssassrnant i not conchisive, the Group congiders that the temms.
are substantially different il the discounted present vaiue of the
cash flows undor the new terms, including any fees pald net of
any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, ks at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of tha remaining cash flows of the orginal financial
Kabiity, Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for
85 an extingushment, any costs of fees incured are recognisad as
part of the gain or oss on the extinguishment. The axchange or
modification is considered as non-substantal modification when
such dfference Is isss than 10 peroent.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED - ﬁg%&&i;&z.ulﬁ&lxtﬁ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEAE

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

{Continued)

32 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 NAMHBEEAHW
Financial instruments (Continued) SHIRW
Financial labiities and equity (Continued) SMAMERAR
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Notes to the Consoli
SAyBRENE

For tha year ended 31 Docember 2024
UE-F-NN A= —HIEYE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. H&r ﬁﬁZ-ﬂlan!K'H‘

Domestic corporate bonds issued by the Group that containg
both liabllity, sarly rademption option and interest rate
adjustments (which is closely refated to the host contract) is not
sepsuated intd host contract and embedced derivative on nitisl
recogrition. Al the data of issue, the domastic comorate bonds
e recognsed at far value.

In subsequent perods, the sbilly components of the domestic
comorate bonds are carmied at amortised cost using sffective
ntarest method.

Transaction cosis that related (o the ssue of domashic comporato
bonds are included in the carrying amount of the domestic
oomocate bonds and amortisad over the period of the domestic
corporata bonds using the effectiva interest mathod.

Denvatives are nitially recognsed at fai value af the date when
dartvitive contracts are entered into and 310 subsaguently

remeasured to their fair vaiug at the and of the reporing period.
The resulting gain Or 1088 s rocognised in peolit or loss.

A derivative s presentsd a5 & non-current asset or & non-current

Nabiity if the remaining maturity, of the instrument is mare than
1zmrmumumpmawm12
months. Other dervatives are presented as current assets of
current liablities,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEN

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EARHEWNEHW
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAW
Financial labilites and equtty (Continuad) ERAMERA R
Domestre coporate bonds HNRARE
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the appication of the Group's accounting pokcies which i dascribed
In note 3.2, the directors of the Company are required (o make
Judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
The estimites and associalod assumptions s based on historical
exponence and other lactars that are considarsd 10 be relsvant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and undedying assumplions & reviewsd on an cogoing
bass. Revisions 10 accounfing estimates e recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revisad it the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods i the revision affacis both
current and future perods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apant from those invoiving
estimations {see balow), that the directens of the Company have made
in tha process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consoboated finoncial statements.

WWMWM

For the purposes. of maasuring delerred tax llabilities or daferred tax
MMMWWN“MM
tha fair value model, the directors of the Company have determinsd
that certain of the Group's nvestment properties as at 31 Decamber
2024 smounting to RMBS0,435,796,000 (2023: RMB32,248.314,000)
situated in the Maintand Ching are heid under a busness modal whose
objective s 1o consume substantially all of the econamic benefits
ambodied in the investment propertias over time, rather than through
sale. The presumplion that the carnying amounts of certain of the
Group's (nvestment properties situated in the Mainiand China are
recovixed entiroly through sale has been rebutted and the deferred tax
on the changes In fair vaiue of these investment properties is recognised
aocording to the relevant tax nules. For remaning investment properties
stuated in Cambodia and Hong Kong amounting to RMB7,822,985,000
mmmmmmmmnmm
of thase vestment proponias maasured using far valuo model were
recovered entrely through sales was not rebutted and no defemed tax
on the changes in far valus of these investment properties 18 recognised.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concermng tha future, and other
key sources of estmation uncenainty ol the end of the reporting pericd,
that may have & significant nsk of causing & materal adjustment 1o the
carying amaunts of assets and labiities within the next financial yoar.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair values of investment properties

invesiment properties with the aggregate carrying amount as-at 31
Decermber 2024 of RMEA8,258,781,000 (2023: AMB40,827,347,000)
Ao stated at falr value based on the valuation performead by Indapendsnt
quaitied professional valuer and the directors of the Company. The
fair vaive of the investment properties was detarmined by referance
to vaiuations conducted on these properties by an independent firm
of proparty valuer and thes directors of the Company using property
vaiuation techniques which involve certain assumptions. Changes in
assumptions may resull in changes In the fair value of the Group's
investment properties which are reported in the consolidated statemant
of profit or joss and affect the carrying amount of these properties
Inctuded In the consolidated statement of financial posttion,

Information about valustion techniques, inputs and key assumplions
used in the cetermination of the faic value of investment properties ame
disclosad in note 14.

Write-down of properties under development for sale and
properties held for sale

As explained In note 3, properties undar development for sale/properties
held for sale are camied at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
directors of tha Company make signiicant judgrments in datermining tha
estimated saling prices of the properties under davelopment for sale/
propanias hakd for sata and the sstimaton of future costs 10 completion
of the properies under deveiopment for sale. Based on the experience
of the directors of the Company and 1he naturs of the subject propertios,
the directors of the Company detorming the net realisable value of
the properties under development for sale/peoporties hald for, sale by
redarenca 10 the estimated markst prices. which takes info account a
number of factors iInchuding the recant prices of simiar property types
in the same project or by similar properties, and the prevalling and
foracastod rea astate market conditons.

The drectors of the Company ostimate the futre cost to complation of
the properties under Gevalopment for sals, by referonce 10 the actual
deyelopment cost of the Group's completed projects, adjusted by
certain cument market data.

I there s an ncrease N costs 1o completion or & decrease in seling
prices, this may result in write-downs 1or the proparties undes
deveiopment for sale/properties held for sale. Such writa-downs require
the use of juoigmant and estimates of the dractons of the Company.

As at 31 Decomber 2024, the carrying amounts of proportios
under davelopment for sale and properties held for sale were
AMB49,071,485,000 and RMB4,504,435,000, respectively (2023:
RMB46,947 557,000 and RMEB4,756,3689,000, respectivaly).

A write-down of the properties amounting 10 RMBE57,121,000 (2023:
nil) has been made in the consolidated statament of profit or loss and
other comgrahensyo Income for the yeae ended 31 Dacember 2024,
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERSEAH

Revenue reprasents the income from property develapment, property
leasing and provision of comprehansive sendces, net of business tax
and other sales refated taxes and after deduction of any discounts.

AERFAMIVR WEERRESRLERS
YA - EI0N R MR RN A SRR
i .

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year Is as folows: NIRRT HNT
2024 2023
—®=-RE —¥==
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ABRM T
Saing of proportios’ ;|ERN 2,627,834 5,010,846
Ravenue from hotel operation, propedy management R AAGER mIEREMLARE '

_ service and other services BENES 419,543 405,928
Revenuo from contracts with cusiomerns REEFANNRS 3,047,477 5,416,774
Rental income: HERA 666,410 700,854

3713887 6,117,628
Timing of revenue recognition from contracts with FERNEFEHRANEM

customers -

At a pont in time RN MNED 2,627,934 5,010,846
Over time Lo §44 419,543 405,928
Sales of propertios aRne

For contracts enterad info with customers on sales of properties, the
refovant properties spociiod in the contracts aro based on customers’
specifications with no altemative use. Taking Into the consideration of
relovant terma, the legal environment and relevant logal precadent, the
Group concluded that the Group does not have an enforcaabla right 1o
recaive payment prior 1o transfar of relevant properties 1o customens.
Révenue from sales of residential propartios and commercial bulidings
Is therstore recognised at a paint In time when the cotnpiated propety
s transforrad 10 customers, being at the port that customar obitains the
control of the completed property and the Group has pesent right 10
receive paymant and collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group recenves an ugfront payment for different propecties: from
customars for tha subscription of properties and such amount will
be treated as the deposits from customars after signing the sale and
purchase agreement. However, deponding on the markat conditions,
the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the listsd
sale price, provided that the customers agree to pay the rest of the
consdaralion aarber,

For contracts entered into with customers on salss of properties, the
expectod ouration of satistying the performance obligation of which is
around one 10 two yoars.

The Group considers the advance payment containg significant financing
componant and acoordingdy the amount of considanmtion |s adiusted
for the offects of the tima valup of monay taking into considaration the
credit chamctenstion of the Group. As this accrual increases the amount
of tha contract iabiity during the perod of construction, It incresses the
amount of revenue recognised when control of thi completad property s
transierred 10 the ustomer.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
{Continued)

Rental income

Revenun, inchude both fosd and varabie rents, generated from leasing
of commarcial properties, office promises, apartments and car parks. 18
accounted fof in accordance with HKFRS 16,

Revenue from hotel operation, property management service and
other services

Revenua from hotel oparation ind property Management sarvice i
recognised over time by reference 1o the progress towards completa
satistaction of the relevant performance obligation, 8s the customer
simuitansously receives and consumes the benefits pravided by the
Group’s performance as the Group pedonms.

All hoto! oparation sarvicas are for periods less than one yaar and foe
the property management service, the Group elected 10-apply practical
Expodient by recognisng revenue in the amount 10 which the Grouy has
right 1o invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction prica
allocated fo thase unsatsfiod contracts is not disclosad.

In identifying its operating Segments, the executive direciors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers, generally folow
the Group's service lings, which reprosent the maln products and
senvices provided by the Group. The Group has identified the loiowing
reporiable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Sagments:

-~  Bea astato Cevelopment and sales: sales of properties

-~ Commarcial proparty Investment and operations: laase of
commercal properties, office premises, apartments and car parks
-~ Comprehensive sendces: hotel operation, proparty management

Each ol these operating segments i managed separately as each of
thasa products and senvon ines rmquires different resources as wel as
marketing approaches,
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERIEAENN
(Continued)
‘Segment revenue and results FMGHERR
The foliowing & an analysis of the Group's revenus and results by ATATERESREARNSARINHQUEES
operating and reportable segment; U Eobd
For the yeor anded 31 Docember 2024 RE-—F-_EES A=A —BUTR
Commercial
Real estate property
and sales  and operations services Total
). 21 4 mRRR
mREHN sANER BEES o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®FR AERFR ARMFR ARMFR

Revenue: Wit
Fram extemdl customens NENERS 2.627.934 666,410 416,543 3,713,887
Intor-segment revenue AMmeEs - 11,683 176,117 167,700
Total segment revenue SEKHeN 2,627,934 677,993 595,660 3,901,587
Reportable segment results S 2 WS MEA (603,510) 624,089 130,355 150,934
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE—F-_=F1_R=+—BU R
Commercaal
Reagl estate propety
and sales and opemtions sences Total
Bz Lok £04 3
meEEe BRaa R 53238, 2 ;i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNTR AERTR AERMTT ARRTR
Revenue: L85
From extemal customars FANBES 5,010.846 700,854 408,928 6,117,628
Iritar-segment revenus aMmus - 12,774 185,972 178.748
Total segment revenue ansERn 5,010,846 713,628 571,900 6296374
Reportable segment results T EHGRARMA B1B.476 648,257 108,621 1,576,254
Inter-segment sales are at mutualy agreed terms. ARMAEEAREETZSRMNT -
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Notes to the Consolid nancial Statements
*For the year ended 31 Docambor 2024
RE-F-oE¥F—A=+—HI¥E
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 RERGEENGE
{Continued)
Reconciiiations of reportable segment results TEWSERR S
The Group does not aflocate fair value change of properties undor FEEEEUSERFRRAGLZANSIRLE
developmant for sale/held for sale upon transter to investment HFEHAMAIMPAR /BANIEUANR
properties, falr vaiue changes on investment properties, other income, GBLrMALL - URRENDLMERY - N
othor gains and losses, impairmant loss recognised for goodwill, WA RERLAREN ARSASNEE ne .
depraciation of property, plant and equipment, financa costs, share of REBRMGN  BAKE AL -MARANE
resilts of a joint venture and corporate expenses 1o Indmdual repontabie MELIMESKENIASWAIMINEN - F
segment profit of loss for the purposes of rasource aslocation and EARRNAEEIMAEIES ARNRER
performance. sssessmant by the chisl openting decision makers whila WERIAM-

the investment properties are allocated 1o the segment of “commercial
propesty investment and operations” for prosanting segment assets.

Thie accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportalie segment ANGEHABANFERZRITARMMES2
nformation are the same as the Group's accounting polices dascribed et m2 RHENEN -
nnote 3.2.
2024 2023
=t 2=4:F 3 =S-=¥
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR AESTR
Reportable segment msults DEL Pt E 150,934 1.576,254
Recognition of change in fair value of properties BEAEHRELANRZ M
ek for sai8 upon Uanster to investment propedies AR BEIE - 80,586
Fair value changes on investment ropenies ROV MARE (2,897,668) {1,212,128)
Other incoma ke A 47,987 81,795
Other gains and losses ST (325,155) 124,167
Depraciaton of propery, plant and equipment BN -EH BRI (61,313) 60.313)
Fnance costs BEMRE (2,049,474) {1.743,114)
Sharo of results of a joint AE-WARLTSN - L))
Corporate exponses. R E (553,274) {650,339
Consofidatod ks beford tax BREARAanH (5,697,961) (1,844,093
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BERISASEN
(Continued)
‘Segment assets and labilities SERBRAM

ATAEENET L HRER MBS HRMIH
HEBAURNIELNAZNUEARN NN
FURM AxrsTHERES -

The folowing Is an analysis ol the Group's assets by reportabie and
operating segment, no liabilitios are presanted as the information is
not reportable 10 the chief operating decision makaes in the resource
miocation and assessment of perfarmance: !

2024 2023
b=t 1.1 3 —%==
RMB'000 RAMB'000
AEWMTR AR®TT
Assets nE
Feal ottate developmant and sales RizENBL AN 61,215,269 80,546,802
Commarcial property invesiment and oparations EEhESEEER 39,131,250 41,743 579
Comprehonsive sanices HERY 351,043 385,767
Reportable segment pssats FERNUAE 100,708,471 102,676,228
Goodwil "W - 231,602
Equity instrumants at FYTOC! EaxMAltARRSARS2 RS
IR 524,303 370,074
Bank balances and cash RORERRE 166,407 129,780
Restrictod bank deposits and pledged bank deposits  ERMBGFRRERRGER 705,415 504,447
Deferrad tax sssets AEERAS 612,893 493,963
Interest in @ joint venturs and amount due fromajoint  B—-MESRANMBERRKE-MS
ventuero B2 MM 507,230 £28.350
Deposits paid, prepayments and other recavables EHES AR ALARAEERS 17871 27815
Amounts due from related parties BEEmALERR 95,780 187,804
Amounts due from non-controling intarests EEHTEREEER 10,006 12,881
Corporate assats mERR 238,301 250,615
Consolidated 10ta) assets paARa 103,586,677 105,512,558

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and alocating
resources between sogments, all assets are aliocated 1o operating
segments other than goodwill, eguity instruments at FVTOC!, certain
bank balances and cash, certan restricted bank deposits and plediged
bank deposits, deforred tax assets, intorast in a joint venture and
amount duo from & joint venture, certan daposts paii, prepaymonts
and other receivables, amounts dus from related parties, amounts due
from non-controling interests and corporate assats.

Geographical information

The Group's operations arp located on the Mainiand China, Hong Kong,
the United States of Amenca ("USAT) and the Kingdom of Cambocdia
(*Camboda’). Revenue from extemal customearns am mainly ganarated
from the Mainfand China for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023, Information about the Group's non-curment assety is presentsd
Based o0 the geographicl location of the assets,

114 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 2024

AEMIMERESNMOABAE - HFAR - F
SAMBHARGSHRBIBETA - ETRE
BRERE  BTERAMNBRGTRRERBRGTIR -
BERGES -“-MaRafinEasee—m
SRLFNEA - FFEHRE - NERARREN
RO R A L BN - AR TR SN
DAKARN FARESEZERIM

EMENEHOCRPRAS - §8 - RUELRR
(fRm)REgEIRm(iaR) - w==—9-n
FR-FS-CHFTTAST-HLESR -XANES
EENLEBEERGORMAE  TRENFEOA
ERPERESRIONLY -



FEXBEEHT FID AR E N E G 2024 FEHE

ﬁ%% BHEME

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE—F-EF A= +—HIEYE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RERGEENGR
{Continued)
Geographical information (Continued) HERAH W
2024 2023
—®=-3F ~¥==5
ARNTR ARWFR
Maintand China pENe 30,655,657 32513460
Hong Kong a2 7,698,205 8,380,452
uSA 2N 165,158 173378
Comboda_ bt 539,212 566.958
39,058,230 41,642,288

Note; Non-curren! assets excluded goodwlll, mierest in & joint venture,
amount due from a joint venture, restricted bank deposits and
pledged bank deposits, equity instruments at FYTOCH and
deferrad tax assols.

it FRVABZTEERN - -B-RNARLNN
BE SR-MERTARS - LWMMRT
UERRESANHE RO WEHANE
FERRZBFATADSERAAS -

EFREFRHA

BE-—S-_REB-S_-S+-A=+-HiHF
RYRITEXCETEMENNBEL10%

No major customers cantributed over 10% of the total sales of the
Group o the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023

OTHER INCOME 6. MW

2024 2023

et el o F 3 ===
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNTR AN
Interast income nawA 19,599 32,983
Diigend income BAWA 26,248 22,808
Government grants (nofe) BEWRIAAE) 2,140 8,004
47,987 81,795

Note: It manly reprasented unconditional cash recelved from the local
government 10 encourage the business operations in the Mainkand

China.

R BERLARURARFTEANBRE SR
MANERBEREBMRERD -

NRIERIBERANMLT 15
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7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. RpEEEESN
2024 2023
—¥-RE —9-=%
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMTR AEMT R
wmmumm. BEERRASNAZEN
(4,990) S
mmnumwumndnm‘ BE—-MERLTNNRASN
joint venture #m (21,139) -
Impament loss recognised for amounts due from R ORI ‘
rolated parties - 93,610) -
Impairment loss recognised for goodwil g P ATl E o {231,602) -
Net foreign exchange gains LR $-0 3 13,118 61,116
Fair value changas on dervative componant of HRBRstiisIAanL L
convertible bonds (note 30b) a8 (57 E500) 2488 52,050
" Gain on non-substantial moddication of domestic: RAEDERPZNEABNGE
corporats bonds (e 31) (#i31) - 3n
[Loss) gain on disposal of property, piant and HEDR - BEERE2 (M)
equipment W @ 2
Others ik 584 10,691
(335,155) 124,167
B, FINANCE COSTS 8. M¥EEXE
2024 2023
—¥-HmE =R==¥F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNMTR AN T
Intorest on; He }
Bank and other borowings 50 -2 80T 5 ¢ 3,007,178 2723515
Convertible bonds AMBMT 24,561 79,625
Domastic corporale bonds BARR RS 84,182 162,041
Leass labilties HERARR 29,218 15,986
Cartract tabiites AANK 359,155 -
Less: Amount capitakisad in ivestment properties A-BEERRADRERRPHE
undier davelopment and proparties undoe WRRFEZEWMME) -
devaiopment for saie (note) (1,005,725) 1,237,083
Interest of contract Kibtles capitalised SEAREEE {359,155) -
2,049,474 1744014

Noto: Tha finance costs have been capitalised ot rates ranging from
4.50% 10 24,00% {2023: 4,50% to 24.00%) per annum.

M BMARIDNESTBFL50%E24.00%(=F
S8 A50%F24.00%) WA
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE-F-RFE A= —HIEYE

9. LOSS BEFORE TAX 9, BRENES
2024 2023
@y ===
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNMTR ARSTR
Loes before tax is arived at alter charging {craditing): Nelsimm R (A -
Cost of properties held for saie recognised as expense BB ANERFABRARE 2,564,323 4,182370
White-down of properties under development for saia BARHEFHBRDHIADNEME
and properties hald for sale fincluded In cost of sales) (S AMNART) 867,121 -
Dupreciation ot property, plant and equipment nw - WHRRBHE 61,384 80465
Less: Amount capitalied in ievastment propertios A BRERSABRBBEPH
undsr development and properties under fAEmERAEZEM
development for sale (51) 152)
61,313 80.313
Gross rental income from investment properties “SAMRASHL AN 686,410 700,854
Dirict openating expenses incurred in respect of HerERETHEIRAGER
Investment properties that generated rental income MEAREENARERNE
during the year (42,321) (52.597)
624,089 648,257
Expensa relating 1o short-temm leases 52 M AL R 3,859 4510
Auditor’s remunenation HRENE 2872 3312
Staft costs Arm=
~ Directors” emoluments (note 17) — MRz 5,608 7778
- Salaries and other benafits in kind ~EERA MR EHE 402,761 446,980
~ Amount recognised 25 expenss for retirement -FEnAREHELREN }
bennfit costs =9 29,160 29,861
Less: Amount capitalised in invastment properties K- RALERSAMERMN S
undier sevslopment and prope nies Lndor AEmERTEHSE
devalopmant for sale (87,055) (114,795
350,474 360,824

NRIERIBERANRLE 117
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BE-F-oOE-AST RN
10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 10. iR (E2)ME
2024 2023
—®=-@E =, =
73 ARMTR ARMTR
Current tax Ly R
~ Tha Paopla’s Regublic of China - PPARRRR(HRIER
("PRC") Enterpriss Wcoma Tax ERBIERRBR)
e @ 108,185 206,151
- PRC withhokding fax on dvidends  — 2 BIR RSP ANR ,
distrbution 870 112317
109,055 408,468
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (LAT) ML A K ([ LR EE)) ) 147,496 115,553
Deforred taxation jnote 18] MIERA a8 (520,858) (235,727
Total income tax {crecit) expense ARRER)MEan {264,307) 288,204
Notes: m -
()  Under the Law of the Peopie’s Republic of China on Enterprise () WEEPMARKREBEREBER((2H
Income Tax {the “ETT Law’) and Implementation Regulation of the BRE)REXFERAREIN - A-FS
EIT Law, the tax rate of the Mainland China subsidiarins is 25% NE-A-BY SEALKHELNMEES
from 1 January 2008 cowards, 25% ¢
(6)  Under the Provisional Rules on LAT Impiementation Rules of B MER-ANE¥-A-+CARAMENRN
the Malniand China implomented on 27 January 1895, all gaine HEEANREGTENREEN  FRNEAN
from the saies or transfer of land use rights. buiidings and their ENREFRNEOLAENN - BFERRE
attached tacilities In the Malnland China are subject 1o LAT at MESSRAHRL - SREWLaan
progressive rates ranging from 3% 1o 80% on e appreciation BERTegam (NN eroeass
of land value. boing the proceeds of salas of properties jess ORZE REIBEHERSERANES
deductile axpenditures Inchuding cost of tund use rghts and ail BME) AR N - mI0REEONTH «
property deveiopment oxponditures.
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant 10 the Cambodia tax iaws, a subsidiary of the Group is
entitlad 1o preferantil tax treatment with full axemption from Cambedia
Corporate income Tax for theee yoars from 1 April 2019 1o 31 March
2022. No astimatedt assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 and therafore no Camboda Corporate Income Tax has
bean provided.

Under the U, S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the U, S, comporita incoma tax
rate has charged at fat rate of 21% during both years. In addition, unter
the refevant rules of state tax in Califoria of the U S., the state tax rate
is charpad 3t 5.84% (2023: B.84%) dunng the year ended 31 December
2024,

No Hong Kang Profits Tax and U. S. corporate income tax have been
provided for as the Group had no estimated assessable profits foe both

mmm.mwuummmwwm
foss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit o loss as
foows:

10.

:ﬁenaﬁama

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE-F-EF A= +—HIEYE

FERGER) W=

BEYUERZ *2EO-MMRAGH-®
—hENF-BRE-VS-_=—=/=+—-8H1
CEFRIARESRAN NEREeRNSD
RABR -MBRE-—F-_AYR-C-_=F+=A
SH-HLEREMGEHEHRRRDY - Huk
UEATERAMBENITGW

ERAMAWRHURER - RREAMBREERN
FNERCRE-BREINME -4 RN
mHMEAERNAN P RE-F-BE+=H
ST—8TNERMN ST ==F 884%) 1
HEBREER -

ENTARNERETEEME T AT ARER
HUENMYFSHERINRE RFFRIHIRM

FRZHARERL)METME2NRROERA
PRREET

2024 2023
= ik =¥==F%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNT R ARNFIT
Loss befor tax RRRSN (5,897,961) (1,844,093
Tax at the PRC EIT at 25% (2023: 25%) ESRP RN HREY
(Z¥==% 225%) (1,424,490) 481,023
Tax effect of expanses not deductible for tax purposss. T A HIRMEGHEER 539,546 524,932
Tax affect of ncome not taxable for 1ax purposes e BT PNGEE (33,119) {36.888)
Tox affact of lax losses ot recognised ' ARMERAGMNOKEER 263,382 84,301
Utiisation of tax losses previously not recognised RREHEERzZRIASR - (12,382
Tax alfect 0f daducttie tempony diforonces not AWMEZINRERZE2UE
recogrsad ER 277,368 5
Tax affect of temparary diffaranca arsing from FRYMBLSASGRUBMETERN
withholding tax for undistributed profis of the PRC. WS S BIHREMRBERE
subscharios 870 100,791
PRC LAT charge PREEANEES 147,496 116,553
Tax affect of PAC LAT charge PREMBARTHIUNEE (36,874) (28.888)
Others Het 1,514 1803
Income tax (Grodk) expenss foc the year FEFRBROIER)ME {264,307) 288,294

NRIERIBERANMLE 118
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BE-F-mE+=H= - HLEeR

11. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' 1. HEEREANE
EMOLUMENTS
{a) Directors' emoluments {a) HBNE
The emoluments pad Or payabiie 1o sach of the drectors an o RHESHERSAMENRET -
folows:
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-S-—DBF+-A=+-HLEE
Contributions
Equiy-setied  to retirement

Solriesand  share-Dased benelt
Faes  siowance  payments scheme Total

uRgx
. EEEH  HREN
Ut BAEI PRY BEOR o
Aoz RVE000 RI8'000 AMB'000 RMB00 RMB0X0

L2 ABNFE ARMFE ARNFZ ARNFR ARWFR

Exscutive direcions L L

M Harg gy LIS Bl 2 @ = a -]

W Vg Sacha O Sensie O BRBESFARN) b - Eo) - a £

wYorgn ¥REzs - 15% - ] 184

A, Harg Hio Yian Famzs - 15 - £ S 15%

s Uil R E - - - 15 A
N s - 18

dpendant ma-tmectvedeeclors  RZEWIET

1 Wang Jrg b4 32 | # - - - 8t

s UG w ﬂIk s 4 “ F-7] - - - )

W A F nAss © m - = - ar

M Cran Koon Pt RaRis B i - - 3 n
L] - - 3 o9
) 4TS - 16 56
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE—F-BNF A=+ —HIESE
11. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES® 1. SEEHEAR2 (R)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued) (8 MEME(W)
Year sndad 31 December 2023 BE-S-_=%4+=-A=+—Bu¥E
Costutirs.
fqaymkd  © =t
Sewmwc  vastawd tereft
fois  doex (et e Tod
URNRN
s Anan
LT 33 1) nes I LH] LY
Aotss REW RS0  REID RS0 AVEIY
173 ARSTRE ARSTZ ARSFR  AR®TR  JENTR
Execetive denciors niKs
W Harg Jrgeu LT ) - L - z (3
W T Sochn hWeFease Ofn)  BRELETARE8] [ ~ 288 - 17 248
W, Y X KEEss - 2005 - b 202
W Hoang Hao Y Ramss - 158 - ] 158
kv Rl = i = B
(5] - o 7089
Independent nen-axecutive drectors ALERTER
M, Warg Jrg 2 333 [ ™ - - - b
s Hilnkg BiEss @ %! S = - !
W MoF HRA% v ™ - - - 2
7] - = - ]
b} (37 - o i

NRZHIBERANMDN 121
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11. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES'
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

{a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

ANNUAL

Notes:

(a)

g

= ¥ 8 ®©

Appointed as chief executlvs officar of the Campany on
31 March 2024,

Wumcumm&mmtmmumm
officer of the Company on 31 March 2024.

Retitad on 31 May 2024,
Resgnad on 14 February 2025,
Rasignad on 14 Fobruary 2025,

Appomted as an independent non-axecutive director of the
Company with effect from 30 August 2024,

Tha axecutive directors’ emoluments shown above were for

their servicas in connection with the management of the aftairs

of the Company and the Group. The indepandent Non-executive
draciors’ emoluments shown above wers for their services as
directors of tho Company,

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
wmlbnw-smwm&wplomdbwmam
inducament 10 join of UPoN joining the Group o 8s compensation
for inss of office.

122 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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H REREANE (W)

{a) MWEE (W)
L

(8 #“-P_RF=-A=+—-SNREny
aFETReN -

GoS-REZA=+-BUERLY
WHTMRRTREMN

g

HCF-RFRA=tT-ERE.
oS _EF-_ATREER

ST _HF N THERE -

S & 8 8§

N-S_ATNA=TERERGMS
LTNIPNTESE

FRAFBRTNEEME HUEFTRT LR
GREEREBRCEENNM - L RFN
RUABTESMWEDNEFAELLE
MEHRRTEEAEN -

RE-—S -SR-S =S+-_HA=+—
BT TSNS R R
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE—F-QF A=+ —HIENE

11. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' 1. BERMARE (R)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b)  Employees’ emoluments (b)) WAWE
The five highes! paid employees of the Group during the MEXN TEEFOSREMANS T -&
year included 2 directors (2023: 3 dirgctors), Detalls of the 2N (¥ -5 ‘38EW) 5=
remuneration for the year ended 31 Dacember 2024 of the T4 A=+ HILERB TR (=
remaining 3 (2023: 2) highest paki smploves who is neither a FToSF 2R EERNNENEESH
director nor chig! executive of tha Company ars as follows: RARZEREENERZEMENST ¢
2024 2023
—®¥=-BmF —
RMB'000 RAMB'000
ARMFR AR
Salaries and alowance BMERL 4316 4,089
Contriutions 10 cetirement benafit scheme BN BEER 255 205
4571 4204
The numbser of tha highest paid employee who & not the directors TETHRENBEZLHLDTINRZER
of tha Company whose remungration foll within the foliowings HMENAROF
bands is as folows:
2024 2023
ZSC-@E —S=-=%
Hong Kong Dollar ("HKS") 1,000,001 to 1,000,008 7% ([ 7% ) &

HKS1,500,000 15000008% 2 1
HKS$2,500,001 to HKS3,000,000 mmazisammi 1 -
HKE3 500,001 to HKS4 060,000 3,500,001 7T 24,000,000 7. - 1

12. DIVIDEND 12. RE
The directors of the Company do not recomymen the payment of any FATERTRRBRE S NER 9=
dividend for the yoars anded 31 December 2024 and 2023, +=A=+-BiFAADEENY

NRIZWIBERANRMLNY 123
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. GREN
The calcuiation of the basic and diuted joss per share attributable 1o the ALTAMNBEERETEBNERATELUTN
ownars of tha Company is based on the following data: Hitw
2024 2023
== =t =2 ——
RMB'000 RMB000
ARNTF T AERMT X
Loss sR
Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss par HANSRATESAENN -
share &0 (5,171,433) (2,126,475
2024 2023
= =k —¥==9
000 ‘000
FR F®
Number of shares BHNE
Waightad swrage numbir of ordinary shares ot the  BIRITNGBREA DRSO S 20N
Company for tha purpose of basic loss per share L3 BT 3 5,136,060 5,087,704
. Effect of dilutive potential orfinary shares in respectof  BENMTARF U TRANYE
~ Share optioris -man -
- Convertbia bonds —H R - -
- Convertibla profarance shaves — ] S AL - -
Waighted avorage number of ordnary sharesof the FIE M NSRBRERHEL TR
Cormpany for the purposa of diited loss per share Tyl Rt 5,136,060 5.087.704
The computation of diuted loss per sharte for the years endad 31 HARE=—S-—NFB-P == +=H=+—-8
December 2024 and 2023 does not assume the converaion of FYEHURREDEY  EHFRTEMAATT
wmmmmmmdn METANRELTAREEEEER BEAR
Group &S the conversion woukd result In a decrease In loss per shafe. RBNBHRBNARL -5 HERE-—Fo®
Moraover, the computation of diuted 10ss por share does not assume FE=S==F4+ASH-BUFRERTRR
the exercise of the Company’s shars options bacause the exarciss price BEGEMBELWMEFUNM - AT RERBAN
of thosa share options was tighet than the average marke! price for M EMBURSNRETTIE «

shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Tha Group lsases ol vanous offices, residential proparties. retal stores
isases typically run for an mitial period of one 10 twenty yean (2023: one
o hwerty yearg), with unilsteral nghts 10 extend the jease beyond initial
peniod held by lessees ondy,

Tha Group & not exposad 10 forsgn cumanty risk os 8 resilt of the lease
amangements, as al lnasas are denominatad In the respective functional
currencies of group antities. Tha lease contracts do not contain any
residual valus guarantees of any lgssee’s option to purchase the
property.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash outtiow for
leased properties under subleases clissified as investment properties s
AMBE3,601,000 (2023: RMB38,043,000),

ﬁ#maﬁama

14, BRWR

ARNABEREARLHSMELT - HEHR
THRAMRERR BEBEASH - ARER—
RN — -+ F(=8==5 1 —8=+%F)
ERBANAEEHRERTEET BB Z &
oy

SHENRAERSUNERES aOWIENNITE
RAEBHBEEREAMAZANER - BAS
HEFRUIEFHNNMAINCGREATRERH
MELEMR TN

BE-W-mE+-BS+—BULER IWMAE
AHRZAHATRANRZESR LS A
RS0 000 L (=F==F - AKM35,043,000
).

Investment
Completed  properties under
investment development
properties &t fair value Total
#LLMA
EER ABZBRS
RRUN 3 4] 15
FAMB'000 AME'000 AMB000
AERTR ARWMTR AE®MTR
At January 2023 NoS—=-5-H-H 243520835 16,150,382 40679017
Additions A 7424 1286353 1,560,594
Transfor upon complation RRERENR 1,060,055 (1,069,955 -
Transter from properties held for sals nod) LB I8 00 875 105,460 - 105,460
Decreaso i fal viluo recopnised nproft ot B EAEEZ 2 M
foss B (1.019.040) (183,068 (1,212,128
Diapossis e {236.241) - 238.241)
Bxchange sjustments Hins 130645 - 130645
At 31 Docember X123 HZS==F+=R ,
=+-8 24,653,655 16,173,602 40,827 347
Addtions an 211,245 785,955 997,200
Transfor to proparty, plant and equpment HAEDR - -BORRA (41,225) - (41,225)
Docresss in far v recognisad npeofit o RRENREZ 2480
s ny (2,050,336} (847,330} (2,897,666)
Disposals e {801,257) - (801,257)
Exchange adustments B ] 174382 - 174,382
At 31 Dacember 2024 ®-S$-HuT+=A
=+—B8 22,146,464 16112317 38,258,781

Note: Inciuded the transfer from properties neld for sale a8 an investment
property, fal value gain of approximately RMB60,586,000 and
fak value gain of approximately RMES2,620,000 huve been
racognised at the date of transter.

All the completed investment properties are rented out under operating
i2ases or are hakd for captil Bppreciation PUpasas,

ME HAMBANAMENRANR - L MEX
HEMNAENGS580,000 B0 ARARER
MARMSG0000TE X ARE NEE -

FAEREARMEECTUNETERLERAR
FREROTSH

NRIZWIBERANRLN 125
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

14, KRANR(H)

The fair vaiues of the Group's nvestmen! propearties with aggregate
camying value of RMEX3S,268,781,000 as at 31 December 2024 2023:
AMB40,827.347,000) wers arrved ot on the basis of valuations carried
out on thoss dates by Jones Lang LaSake Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited (*Jones Lang”) and the directors of the Company,
Jones Lang is a firm of independant qualified professional valuer not
connacted to the Group,

- For completed investment properties, the valuations have been amived at

using incoma capitalisation approach and dract COMPaNison ApHach.

For income capitalisation approach, the market rentals of all fettable
units of the propenties are assessad by referance to the rentals achisved
in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar properties i the
nesghbournood. The capltalisation rate sdopied is meda by reference
10 the yield rates observed by the valuer and the directors of the
Company for the similar propenties in tha localty and adiusted basad on
the vakier's and the drectors” knowledge of tha factors spedific to the
respective proparties.

Direct companson approach is arved at by raferenca to comparable
market transactions and Suppose that evidence of relevant transactions
In tho market place can be aximpolated to smilar properties. subject to
allowance for varable tactors.

For imestment properes under divelopment that ars measured &t faic
value, the vakuations have been amved at residual approach and direct
comparison approach assuming that the investment properties will
be comploted in accordance with tha devolopmont proposals and the
relavant approvals for the proposals have been obtained,

The key inputs in the residual approach include the market value of the
complated investmant propertios, which are estimated with reference
to sales evidence of similar properties In the nearast locality, with
adjustments made 1o account for differences in locations and other
factors spectlic 1o the respective properties based on the valyer's and
mm?mm-.mammm.mmm
account Incuding construction costs, finance costs and professional
tocs, b5 wol 85 devoiopar's peoft margin which rofiects the remaining
risks assocsted with the development of the properbies at the valuation
date snd the rotum that the doveloper would require for tringing them 1o
compiotion @atus, which s determined by the valuer and the directors
based on s analyses of recent iand transactions and mivket value of
Ssmilat completed properties in the respective locations.

Direct companson approach is amved at by referance 10 comparable
market transactions and suppose that evidence of rmievant transactions
In the market place can be extrapoiated 1o similar propernties, subiect 10
alkwance for varabio cios.

In estimating the fair value of the swestment propentes, the highest and
best use of the investment properties is their current use. The i values
of cirtain rwestment proparties hive boeen adusiod 10 exclude prepaxd
o aconiad oparsting jease Income 1o avoid doutie counting.

125 LVGEM ([CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNL FREPOST 20024

Z¥-AEF-AStH-BARRETAN
BAEM38258.781.0007T (ZF == | ARY
40827 347.00070) 2R EMB T D e BMRA
FHRGERFSRMMARAE (TR BRED
SEFRREMETNENES - HEANTEE
FRAMEISANI RGN

ACERRADRGE - BENDEHEA AL
JEBN RiLOEE -

LA R SE AR E « SR NFA A HENE
HMEE SN HERO U R RN
MEARTESNERETRGE  HRZARLL
FNEMCASEEL NEFRND AT RN
AEFYRAFEUBSRARFUTRRNURLG
Be -

ARCRZNERAIRERTEARY - ZHTH
BEANENTSEHNMUDRNHEE 10
EERTHSNNE.

UELAMARZVRFRAVER T - SAD

BERMEBARCREEEBSRRMEHEN
PRANEENSNERANNREET -

RAZNTER)\PULEERREAMRONW -
DEEEARREUERONS SR - B
HEERHEREAROTREROZRURER
EORETFRANKEC NS - BENARMER L
RARS  QHEBRES BAREOERRN R
REANHAS (RENERRERMITHMBR
MANMBREORBERRMIFRNER -8
TR 07 O 2 0 0 2 W 3 S L s S AR
A A 2 5 15 (0 1 0 5 A T

RELRZMESRLRTERS - RETE
ATEHEMZ[EHH NS R LRS- 3
EERPRBEE

EHARSEALLMES - RRENZHENRE
BESEEERE - ETRAPDROALAMABDN
ERMOEEHERRRUANRLIAR - HR20
RN -



FEXBEEHT FID AR E N E G 2024 FEHE

Notes to the Conso

:ﬁenaﬁama

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE-F-oN P —A=+—HIIYE
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14, SRWR (N

The miajor Inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’'s Ro-S-RER-—S-={=A=+—H &%

major ivestment properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 ars sat EiZEANRZ2LMANRAAZIEGAR

ot below: BEETR:

Imestment properties

held by the Group in the Relationship of

consolidated statement of Falr value  Valuation technique Significan unobservable inputs

fimancial positica hierarchy a0d key puts tnobservabie inguts 1o tair vabue Sensitivity

HBAMBREAN pEd | | TARSRARY

EXARENNARNR SE  GEEERZERARN IRTIRERARS HOSWEZWE (113

Completad investrset
peogartss.

CELARASR

Compietid nestmert propeies Ul oo Coplalieton Avecsen  Cagialisation i, Yakng rd The hgnes e capaleafion A sigh ncssiase 1 e Caplaliation
bcated 1 o Medard] Ching 2000t e coptiieation of et 1, o lower e talo ugad woukd et n &

Wit g amourd of The bty rputs s incoms potartial. tetse of the e Soyvicant decreess i B vale
VB 854 558,000 Z023: grepery 30 prenaing et 0 vod Wik
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14, KRANR (W)

Investment properties

heid by the Group in the ' Relaticaship of

‘consolidated statement of Fair value Vashustion technique Significant unobservable inputs

financial position Nerarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs 10 fair vakoe ‘ Sensdivily

NEEHENRAN L4%a FIRENARE

EIANAGNARAR $8  GEAERIENARA ERTHERNARD LEEL [Pl 1 L

Cotghtnd mesmont properties  Lawd 3 Income Copltalsaton Agproath  Caphalisation e, tkng o Tho higher e ciptalesn A sight nomase n 9 Captaiaation
cated f Hong Kong with &0 ot teoptsaon ol ae Yebwr el 1305 Usd wouk! st i &
AQQreGae Caying amount The hey eputs a: incone poerfel e o e vile signficant dacrpass 0 ek,
of AVEBT.181,208,000 200 Popety ) paaing maket 0 W virss.

M7 2R 557,000 (1) Capaisstion raer and condtion, of 280% (003 265%)
@ Mormly maket frt.

ERNAREEARERN E BZE  QARIiNE SHENIAESQAR, B2 NICLSER 040  SEAscaENERRRRD
ERRRAZY7,16:.208000 EREIROR ATLLdn  ABE-. RMEXERE - K2R
RIZS==%: AEN FERARERT: 2000 =% 28N)

TABSRNINT)
(UNR £ 2042 39
@ FHRE.

Monfrly maket rert, Sorg i Th highar B morily A sgréicant nonesee 1 ha monkily
Cosd T R0Eoe YO G madat e, the gher et 1ot el woki Rat
taciory, sich 8 dertaga o ot vk 2 sgicat nomst nBewle:
0, between o compsation nd e verss.

d e poperty, P commene
saction 3 the oice scion #t &
aseran of & range Fom AVERTO
0 FMB330 RO VB0 1o
RNBS10) v from RABZTD

10 RNBC 2025 AMBI00 1o
B0 resoactely per sm 0
mordh on gross foor e tase.

DAARMNESARGRRND MUASER 0490  FRESSESGSNRNRL:
TR2CRRUGRRERNE MR fEAMAN-RZaN-
EIEE RARELANGR
SEURBRZARSANT
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SOR(ZF=8  ARS2
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KR20ISARSOR{=Y
S8 ARRNXOEEARY
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uestment propares urow fowd  DrectCompummonApronh  Seling prces per s Dased o0

Notes to the Consolid nancial Statements
SREMBmENE
For the year ended 31 Docembor 2024
RE-F-NGF—A=+—HIIYE
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14, BRWER(N)
Investment properties
held by the Group in the Relationshp of
consoldated statement of Fair value  Vialuation tachnique Significant uncbservable inputy
HREHBHEAN axga FIRRN RN
EERRRNNEANR 5@ GARERZEN RS FATIRUN RN RAARAZEE {114
Investment propertes under
development ot tair valve
ELAMANBZRNTRAN
1 3

Treigper theselingonces A sgniicant romsss e ssling

ovepment oaed n arkt chsoraibl rnsactiors of  pex S, e hgher e proes par S wsed wouk gt
o Manid O wih v The hey nputs were iy popetet dangefom ke I & sonfiort nosase n
agregats camg arourt of FMBY) 081 10 ANBR2 252 223 s, 3] VOS yes3.
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ECTRE L Vi A et
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W403M5)

@ EBERER

BHEURENIRRAYRAN STAARMGEE- SESCRRAT GEaAGR
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HRDERESSENTARN
NOTEAZRR RIS
=5 \NERTSRSAR

SafiEzgy-Raans

Thi riok ciscours farke, Shing en - ThaNigher ha sk oo A sigrvicant romase 1. sk dscount

oot Pesgorg conpiien facto, e bwer e
i of okocatn oot ofh vl

ook umed would resct 8
sorifcan Suore b e,
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Thete wore no transines in or ot of Lavel 3 during both years.
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Notes to the Co

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.
(Continued)

Mmmmdmmwwwmm
mnmwmmmmm ot the end of the
reporting penod nctuded both the leasehoid land and tiding claments
in property, piant and equipment, 23 in the apinion of tha directors of the
Company, mummmmmw
land and bulkiings slements cannot be mads retiably.

The above ftems of propenty, plant and equipmant, axsent for freshold
fand in USA and construction In progress, are depreciated on a straght-
8 basis a1 the folowing rates por annum:

ﬁ%%ﬁimﬁ

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE-F-S G —A=+—HI*E

R BEREM(R)

RS AMBEARERRANLER L BMET
BANGE  NERANE NS RNLLES
(881 Z&AER LR ERFHADR WA R
REANER LB RRTS -

EXRMZEE M RRMNE (RS K
ARMLBSERTHRN) DHERERHTE
e

Hotel praperty in USA 5% 10 10% ZENEMe 5%E10%
Leasohokd land and buldings in.~ Oyerthe shorterof thetermol QR RBZ ER T RWF BN R2%E6%
HK the lesse, or 2% 10 5% (AEETEAR)
Leasehold land and buidngs in~ Overthashorderof thetermol B REABIBRATBREF  ERNE2%RESN
1he Maintand China 1ho ease, 0r 2% 10 5% (ABEARR)
Buliding Improvements 10% 10 33,.% WERS 10%233,,%
Motor vehicies 20% 0 25% nam 20%E26%
Machinery and slectronc 10% 0 33 % REARTRME K 10%833 %
equpmant and othars ,
Computar software, humiture 20% 10 33,,% HERRG  GRLENE 200333, %
and fodures
16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNTDUE 16, - MESRASNEE Ha-N3
FROM A JOINT VENTURE | B 8
= =ch 3 el
mi ARRT ARNMTRE
Cost of investment in g jont venture. 2 — WA RAF2 BRAE 9,620 9,520
Share of post-acqustion lossesand MIEEMRBARNEFERZ -
other comprehensive expenses, et TR EIRZ RS
‘of thvidends recatved (3,469) {3.469)
6,051 6,051
Amount duo from a jont vaniure Ax—-ma s ) 501,179 522.318

NRIEWIBERANRMLT 131
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18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNTDUE 16 R— M2 FINEE RU—MS
FROM A JOINT VENTURE {Continue) 25N (N)
Notos: L
(@) Particulars of a joint venture as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 f8) M-S -—EFR-S-=Ft-A=t—H—
aro s folows: MEs2MEmPBWNT
Proportion of
- Place of voting right and
Form of establishment Paid-up  percentage of
’ REERFHAE
QANER L1353 RUREmaR eERx BEAL2EN ZERE
ARMFR
Sherzhen Anyusn industrial: Estabished Mainiand China ‘23600  40% {2023: 40%)  Proparty
Developmont Co,, Lid. (2023: 23,800) devolopment
(Amyuan’) (RN EEX
R RIR AR )
RYMETRIDRARE BT HRAR 23,800 40% WEER
mnisER) (=9==%: {(=%==%:
23.800) 40%)
() Amount due from & [oint veniura represents sdvances to & ) SE-MALNBMAMEHFARDONS
jomnt venture which is unsecured, Interest-free and has no fixed R -KRAREN 20 HEMEERRN
Tepayment tarms, M
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Notes to the Consoli

ﬁéﬂtﬁﬁim&

For tha year ended 31 Docember 2024
UE-F-NON A= —HIEYE

16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/AMOUNT DUE . W N‘Sl"ﬂﬁ?lﬁ ‘HE—Ma
FROM A JOINT VENTURE (Continua) ® L5300 (N)
Summarised financial information of Anyuan after adjusting for any FREMETE LRI N 72 R RSO
diffarences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation 1o the carmying BRNEE  URANFAMBERENESYN:
amount in tha consolidated fnancial statements, are disclosad below:
2024 2023
—®=@E —$==F
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMTT AR®F¥x
Non-curment assets SFRVAL 29 29
Cunent assots mRAE 547,610 551,810
Current liabiites BBAMR (532,512} {B36.712)
Inchuded in tho above amounts ae; AN
Properties under development for sae DETFHAANS 439,913 430,902
Cash and cash equvionts ReEBRNEEMD 63,797 67,997
Amount dus 10 a shareholder At —ZWERA (522,318) {522.318)
Loss and tolal comprohonaive expense fortheyer  SERMLE RNz 2R (1) 2
Raconciliation of the above summarsed financial information to the HEMBRARMBRELBANEREREZAR
camying amount of the interast in the joint verture recognisad in the NERERNE
consoldatad financial statoments:
2024 2023
=t Bl 3 ===
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR AEMTR

Not zssets of Anyuan EaARESNA 15,127 15,127
Proportion of the Group's owneship interest in Anyuan ARERE AREN 2@ 2HEH 40% 0%
Carying amount of the Group’s inferest in Anyuan FEMAEAZEAREN 6,051 6,051
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17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. gﬁn-mﬁxxmemn&hznx

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
= . ZS==%
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARWMT T ARNTRT
Investmants in: REREA2ER :
~ Equity securities fisted in the -BaREAN LN ESES
Mainiand China (note 1) (Rfz1) 521,738 ‘340413
~ Equity Interests in certain unlisted “RETHELTATZEN
companies inofe 2) (#1322} 2,565 20,681
524,303 370,074

Notos: i

1) The above listed pquity Investmant reprasants 0.4% aquity 1) EREHERRERN-MERNeLNDLR
nbmnmuuyumnmwdn- Z204%8 N -

2)  As ot 31 December 2024, the amount represent unlisted equity 2) P -HS+-AS+—-S-BEEmR
interests in a fung managamant company In the PRC (2023: ~MFHELERBLN2Z2HENRE (=T
unlisted equdy interests In a fund managemsnt company and a ZESF R-mMEfzaARaR-MNE
fimited company in the PRC), Dunng the year ended 31 Docembar REZBLINHRN) -BE-F-_O%+-§
2024, 10% of the unlisted equity Intecests was disposed at the S4-BUFR ORI LEHEMURBAR
price of RMBS53. 760,000, 53,750,000 W «

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they e held for ERAREANFAR HERAMBRAENN -

long-term sfrategic purposas. The diractors of the Company have BRAATNSENEHERRENBRZZAM

piectod 10 designate these investments in equity nstrument as FYTOC!H (5 783 28 W0 30 75 17 £ 30 O 00 A1 A SR SR B

88 they balieve that recognising short-term fluctuations in these ERENZDRAZNE  RESTEABEENES

Investmonts’ fair values In profit or loss would not bo consistent with the BREIAZRRBES A MAMANLLWRE -

Group's strategy of holding the nvestment for long-term pumosss and
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18. DEFERRED TAX

Tha movaments in defarmad tax assals fabiihas) ansing from temporarny

'Notes to s CONTSeH:

i ﬁéﬂtﬁﬁimﬁ

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE-F-QF A=+ —HIENE

18, EERSN
ENEFRTEOBERRAAM (AR HRBET -

diflerances are as follows:
Witthsidng ‘
ke Acxelerated
wngstrined W faroe  Acnalfe  Pesse et
Taxlosses prolts dopreciation  adutmerts W dosdy cpeimton Toud
KORER i
RAER  BAEE RRMNGA NERAFN QANEAS R ANER MRSt [ 1]
RET0  REW  RED ARSI RABI AENI ARSI AEM AEW)
ARMER ARNTZ AK®IR  ARSIR  ARESR )ERIT ARRFE  ARNIR  ARESR
R ooy 063 L= = e X PEON  AmER s 87 om0 WM BE s
[PENE R TR TER T PR i
re gy mR I Al - @Sy am mm ;m
Wetddy i ) EEREREY - e - - - - -~
Oetootwoonpdeme  HXSEEIEN)
rane I S e e B B
3 Gecerroer 223 BoRoIeoASH-E MU PO pEXR pErQ EUT R R - O - S
Cagpicsdntapotorkn EHEIRRAREY
oo g ;| g o= ) - LYol s (45 S
Wenddglemdie ) 2HRERIMEY) - [-5] - - - - - - 0
Qupndtecrpvens  PRLFEIEIN ,
feone - = - - P - - .
A3t Decerter 20 [ 5 -t 2o 2 - (EON QMY pERY IR WSR WS own e

The following Is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances for

UM BEREHNAY  MERNAMSEET

firancinl reporting purposes:
—¥=B¥ —¥==5F
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMFTR ARNMFR
Dalormod tax assats RS T 3 612,893 493,063
Deferred tax kabdtios BERAAN (3,633,500) 13.984,376)
(3,020,616) B.490416)
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18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 18. WER S (#)

The EIT Law and fts implamentation nies Imposs a withholding tax LCRAVBEBRAXBRALTY A=FT/\ ¥~
at 10%, unless reduced by a tax trealy or arrangemant, for dividends A—BE - FRARERCKVMMURINAS
distibuted by the Mainisnd China-resident entarprises 1o thaér non- RELEELERARFZNHR LA RI0UN KT
Mainiand China reskient comporate investors for profits eamed since 1 MEMIABENEHNREARAL) - BRENS
January 2008. Undar the Sino-Hong Kong Doubla Tax Arrangement, NERR2VIVBEETS  EATRSR/AAIEN
2 quaiied Hong Kong tax resident is entiied 10 a reduced withholdng RRHFENBERBARN ERANEARED
tax rate of 5% if the Hong Kaong tax resident is the “baneficial owner” REERABERLNOENSsRME - pi =
and holds 25% or more: of the equity interests of the Mainland China EWINMA BEEMETRAANERTNR
enterprise directly. Since the Group controis the quantum and timing of FOMESNM SERARREUNMEGRL
distribution of profits of the Group's subeidiaries in the Mainland China, ERABONMBYABIERM -

daforred tax fiabiites are only provided fo the @xtent that such profits
fare expected 10 be distributed in the foreseaable future.

As at 31 Dacember 2024, 1he aggregate amounl of temporary =P -BFEIT-_AZt+-B RPRHN
differences assoclated with undistributed sarnings of the ANEIEUNENAESZRARR AR
PRC subsidiaries amourited 1o AMB15,270,959,000 (2023: M16.270,059, 000K (Z R == : AEW
RMB186,876.472,000). Deferrad taxation has not been provided for in 16.876,472,0007) *FAMBHRETERIEP R
tha consolidated financial statements int respect of lemponsry diferences MM B RV RARN1330405,0007T (=F
attributatie to accumitated profits of the PRC sublidiares smounting Z=F 1 AN14,910,472,0007T ) (%55 2 WA D
1o RME12,304,859,000 (2023: RMB14,910,472.000) as the Group BHERA ghEnrRECRAESALMAN
has sot aside such fund for o busingss developmant in tha PAC and PRAARNVE - FEBTURHEDREN -
Is able to confrol tha fiming of the raversal of tha tamporary diferences HESEAZNETARRZNTRARRE -

and It is probable that the temporary diferences will not reverse in the

foreseeable fulure.

As at 31 Dacamber, 2024, the Group nas deductible temporary RoR—EBY+_AS+-E - ANEARED
differences of RMB667, 121,000 (2023: nii) from write-down of LERZNPRFHANGENESEBERARN
Inventaries of properies 10 net realisatie value and RMB1 14,740,000 867121000 (—F==F %) R ER%—
(2023: nif) from impament fecognised for amount due from a joint MERSTBAEMRMES AR RSN MNEN
venturs and amounts-due from related partes, No deferred tax asset ARM114740000% (= ==% 1 ¥) r 60T
has besn recognised in reiation 10 such deductibie temparary ditfarence HR AR RE NG U AR e am
as it is not probabie that taxidie proft will be avaiaie against which the BHESRENESSHEANSEMNFROSRLN
deductibie temporary ifferencas con be utiised. ANE-
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18.

19.

Notes to the Conso

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unusad tax sses
of RMB2,383,213,000 (2023: RMB1,663,821,000) available to offset
aganst future profits. For the yesr ended 21 Decamber 2024, a daferred
tax asset had been recognised In respect of such tax losses amounting
1o RME nil (2023: FME320,708,000) and no deferred tax assot had been
recognised In respect of the remaining tax losses of AMB2,383,213,000
(2023: RMB1.343.113,000) due to the unprediclability of future
profit streams. Included I unrecognised tax losses are 10sses of
RMBSE04,997,000 (2023: RMB486,853.000) wit expirs in the foliowing
years, other losses may be camied forward indafinitely!

18.

:ﬁenaﬁama

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE—F-EF A= —HIEYE

EERSE(R)

RESBR ASRARARERRUZADE
BHEAAA N2 150007 (==
AR 8638210007 *RE-S A5 +=A
S+—-AuYN - URFREASHARSS (=
To=F  AEN320,7080007T) MR ERER
ALARFRRNEFTORM SEsUNHE
HBNAE®238321300L (S ==F AR
F13431130007) SURERARRE - AWEZ
EARMERANSEARNe04997,0007 (Z ==
W AEN4BEASS 000X ) MU THEEEN - H
R HPET MR IR

2024 2023

et S} 3 <t =
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMFR AEMFTR

2024 et il 2 N/A

AR 13,428
2005 —S-EHE 81,560 81,560
2026 Pt Sy 2 106,811 106,811
2027 —¥=tH 99,272 99,272
2028 == )/\¥% 185,783 185,782
2029 =S-hF N/A
331,571 il
804,997 486,853

gz&PERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR

Included in the proparties under development for sale as a1 31
Decembaer 2024 is carrying value of AMB31,130,729,000 (2023:
RWCM724MMM3MMWWN“
properties expecind 10 be reksad after tweive mooths from the end of

19,

RESGEOR

WoS-mE+=A=+—H HHBESAND
%2 MM A KN31,130,720,0007 (= F ==
% - A\ M44,395724.0007) - HEMEHEEE
PREE U PRI T T R Tt

the reporting perod. The Group's properties under development for sale ROEmRsBULERNERESR
are mainly sltuated in the Mainksnd China and Hang Kong.
Anayss of lgasehoid lands: R0z AN ¢
2024 2023
= =T —§==
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARNTT ARMF
Camying amount L3 1) 2,938,753 3,042,180

The camying amount of leasehcid lands is measured at cost less any
values are determined as the estmatad dsposal value of the easshold
fand component. No dapreciation charge is mada on the leasshold lands
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2024 a0l 2023,

ERte2BEALERxREERGANRER
RASWEN - RARWEAER L REH 2 Gt
HAMOA - SHEN S —NER-S_=F+=
A=+ -BI2ZAHRA SERSERLe 2GS
®M -
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20. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 20. SWNR
The Group's proparties heid for sale are situated i the Maniand Chira, 3 4l .tk fodatd b g
Analysis of laasehold lands: BN D5
2024 2023
=t 5 ]2 —$=-=3
ARMTRT AE®TT
Camyng amount IS TN 679,013 815278

21.

The camying amount of leasehokd lands is maasured at cost lass any
sccumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual
values are detenmined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehoid
land componant. No depraciation charga is made on the leasehold lands
taking Into account the estimated residual vaiues as ot 31 December
2024 and 2022

AT 2BHMNERIREFARETNRES
RASHUEE -SAENEARR RSS2 EH
HAMA-BHER P —_NFR_F-_=F+=
At —BZAHSN - BEARRLGHESRN
nm -

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 21, MUUER
2024 2023
—S-EF —¥==%
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT ARMTIT
Accounts recesabin rom: RETHEROMERR
- Contracts with customens -BFaK¥ 38,372 36317
- Lense neconvables ~Rgnn 35,490 18,845
Acoounts recoiobia BREX 73,862 55,162
Loss: Alowanes for cradit losses X RRSHRN (5,688) (625)
68,174 54,537
As at 1 January 2023, trade recehables from confracts with customers R-F==F-A-H - FURFERORRENR
amounted 10 AMB41,360,000. I A F£8641,360,0007T

Accounts recelvable reprasent rocenables arising from rerntal income
trom leasing propérties and comprehensive senvices (Including hotel
operation and property management). For the recevables arging from
rental income from leasing properties, monthly rents are normally
received in advance and sufficent rental deposits are heid 10 minimise
credit risk. For acoounts recenvabie generated from hotel operation, the
credit tarm 15 payable on demand. For acoounts receivable genarated
from propery management, receivablie generally have credit 1orms of
30 to 60 days (2023: 30 to 80 days). Accounts recetvabies are mainly
danominated in RMB.
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Notes to the Consoli

21, ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the Group's accounts receivable, based

: ﬁéﬂtﬁﬁimﬁ

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE—F-BF A=+ —HIENE

21, MEHER (N)

ARMAUBBOBHEAMEANKNEEAA

on Invoice dates for rental income from leasing properties and BREAESRMBEANTNT
comprehensive 3anvices, i as follows:
2024 2023
—®=-HE —==%
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMTR AT
Within 1 month AN 24217 22,115
1 %012 months 1Z1260A 33,501 28811
13 10 24 months 135248 A 10,458 asn
68,174 54,537

As a1 31 December 2024, incluged in the Group's accounts receivabie
tadanca are debiors with aggrogate canmying amount of RMBA3,857 000
(2023: RME2,422,000) which are past due a5 at the reporting date.
For bafance of AMB22,805,000 (2023: RMBS.941,000) which has
been past due 90 days or more, it s not considered as in detault due
1o tha fong-tarm/an-going refationship and good repayment record of
balances,

RoP-EF+=AZ B BASEEAWE
$4 48 > S0 MRS B 9 A B A843,957,0007% (=
o= ARM32,422,000%) ZMEBH - 2
REBEEW- A0 HY RN R0 HARE
BRSMKENAL - %R MEBBOB R b
21890 A RM22,6050007 (= F ==& - AN
8.941,0007) REMBHUY - SRWEMBKS
RIS A T IR -

Tho movemant in the alowancs for cradit Iosses i as foliows: ERGPBOERBDNT

2024 2023

=t 413 ===
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARNTR
At 1 Janusey ) B 825 145,488
Impaiment loss recognisad, net EREXAENFN 4,990 3
Less: wite-offs e b - {148.203)
Exchanga reatgnment HRiEwEe 73 2337
AL 31 Decamber r+=A=+-H 5,688 625

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group apples
the HKFRS 8 simpilfied approach to measura ECL for accounts
recelvable based on lifetime ECL except for lease receivables
with significant balances that would be individually assessed.
Accounts recavable have been groupoed based on shared crodit riskc
charactenstics and the histoncal observed defaull rates have baan
atiusted by forward looking estimates.

BE-_S-—BER-_S===+-A=+—-DIk ¥
B-AEMEENIRM NS R EOROMEH
TR TR E4E R M A MRS e RURIR
AR -AEARBZRARAIGBAKRTERS
ERst RERPEESNARERARE S
BEROFSE  DRARGEHNY -

MRIZWIBERANRMLY 136
8 Sl .1 2 3 |



FXBEEHT FID AR EAE G 2024 FERE

LS

Forthe

BE-FoAE AT —RLEYE
22. DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 2 Efffd MAMARREREEE
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
= .73 =$==%
Notes RMB'000 AMB'000
e ARNF T ARMTT

Deposts pad and prepayments BHESBRHER @ 5.284,582 5,647,798

Other recaivablas R e 246,390 563,064

Amounts dus from related parties BRERAERA ) 96,378 187,804

Amounts dus from non-controling BRESENSERA fc) _

Interests 10,006 12,881

Tota) &5t 5,637,356 6,411,542

Notos: mig

{1 Tha balance mainly reprasents propaki construction costs of ) HMRIEAMTFARRRFENAAERE
RMB4,632,760.000 (2023; RMBS,381,242,000) 10 the contractors B2 M IR AR IR A A £ 4 852,760,000
for the Group’s property dovelopment promcts. RIZF == AEM5,381,242.0007%) *

[ty Amocunta ous from related panies, in which the wtimate controliing m) SERESZRAMSEEIAMRPEAES
party has beneticial interests. are non-trade nature, unsecured, ME)MESBER BER 2pRRER
intorest-free and repayable on demand. WA -

(€}  Amounts due from non-controlling Interests amounting to (&) SESEBEERARAENMNI0006000/ (=
RMB10,006,000 (2023: RMB10.006,000) is secured by squity WS - ARW10,006,0007) « MEME R
Interasts held by 1he nan-contralling party, interest bearing at BEFBRRZRENES  E¥HABIRI=
6.37% (2023 6.37%) per annum and repayable on demand. FoEF GAMNINARAERDRE - 2Rk
Remaining dalance of amounts tue from pon-controfiing mtorests NERBERRZATRRRENISER-&
i non-trade nature, unsecuted, inteces!-rae 8nd repayable on Ef copmmeRme .
domand.
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Notes to the Co
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
RE-F-S G —A=+—H I

23. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND PLEDGED 23. BEREB T FRREENTROER

BANK DEPOSITS
2024 2023
—e¥-0F ZS=-=%
ARNTR AENMTR
Resirictd bank doposts comprise: ERMURAHBRY
~ Funds under reguisation -gEER: 1,935,436 2,862,865
- Others -Hé 17,231 5,854
1,952,673 2868.719
Plecigad bank deposts for bomowings SR SR M BT IR 753,604 661,574
Classified as; SN
Current E3 Y 2,448,765 1.243776
- Noavcurrent F0B 260602 2286517
2,706,367 3,530,203
The effective intarest rates of restricted bank deposits and pledged bank ERUETHTRRUFBITTRARTHEN
deposits are in the range of 0.10% to 2.25% {2023, 0.10% 1o 3.03%) QI0%S226% (¥ ==F | 0.10%EZ0%) «
per annum,
Tho pledged bank deposits for bank loans and funds undor reguiation METRBEMOETTREAMBRGARSESLR
for bank loans will be relessed upon the settisment of relevant bank HREBLEVRT RBEAREENE
joang.
Cartain amounts of proceeds from pre-saias properties will be reguiated HEPROETHARRASLERERSRENE
by Housing and Urban Rural Development: Bursau and will bo roleased B -IRABNBMREILETESHEY -
mummumwum
24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24 BOEHBRAS
Bank balanoes camy nterest at market rales which range from 0.01% to ROBRETEMEH N - NENFONRETS0%
1.50% (2023; 0.01% 10 1.61%). (ZR==2:001%F1.681%) «
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25, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 25. MM

Accounts payable manly represents amounts due 10 confractors and AUBRBEIENEDREMBRRAAMGECA - X

government authorities. Payment to contractors & made by refarence fREmRNS SR RIPR TSR SERN

of progress of the respective Consinction work and agmed miastonas. HemfEARAENSE AN L EMmMNE

Payment fo govermment suthorties s made by referance 10 the agreed ERR e -

milestones for payment of land premium.

The folowing Is an ageing analysis of accounts payabls presented BHEEAENESRAMAHWT ¢

based on the invoce data:

2024 2023
—¥-aF ———
RMB'000 AMB'000
ABRMTR ARM T

Within 1 month AN 1,903,996 2,660,839

11612 months 1512888 1,872,320 1,761,681

13 10 24 months 138240 H 530,680 480,505

Over 24 months H#24@A 137,284 1arem

4,444 260 5,020,886

The average cradit perod for purchass of construction matenials ranged MARBUHATEHANBAWAE-FTH

from six MONths 10 ane year,

26. ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER 26. BHEM - SRR EEHmESERR

PAYABLES

2024 2023
‘ —s-m¥ V==
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
{3 ARMT T ARMT R

Rental deposits received BERERS 181,660 190,209

Receipis n sdvance Hig B 37,031 1846

Other payabies and aconals Rt RAnan wm 1,034,297 702119

Intprest payable L $cg ot ) @ 742,882 189 534

Amounts due to relafed parties AR TR o) 7,036,235 7.035.496

Amaunts dug 1o non-controling SiESRRERA

inecests = . 2 2128

9,034,281 8121633

Notos: miz

(@  Interest payable includes the interest accrued according to the (0) BrHVMoSPEMSEREANBIHME  QLE
joan contract, as wall as the interast accrued dus 1o default and ' (L2083 4 §oict $33 T A0
cross-default.

)  Amounts due to related parties, In which the ulimato controfing ) SARSSREN(ASETRGFHRPEINNY
party has beneficial interasts, are non-trade naturs, unsecured, RE)BRLEER REAW 200208
interost-trae and repayable on demand. *®N -

(€)  Amounts dus 10 hon-contralling iNtHrests &o Non-1rade Natung, £ SHESERNSEINEIRNE BHES.
unsecurad, interast-tree and repayable on demand. REERERAME -
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE-—F-B A= —HIYE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. EFAM
2024 2023
—s-ng = J=
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNMTR ARSTR
Saies of preperties mRAR 8,903,515 4,170,125
Hotal operation and proparty managament sanvice BERFEDATENS 22,568 16802
8,026,083 4,186,927
The significant incrizase In contract Rabikins In tha current year was SEAAPMANARSRDEBMtUNARAE
mainky due to the advances received from customars in relation 10 pre- BEFZRERNNAENC246ERA
saes of propertes of RMBS,248 mibon.,
Asat 1 January 2023, contract iabiites amountad to AMB2, 857 286,000: WS =-—=F¥-A—-HB &RARMAREN
2.887,286,0007 *
The foliowing tabis shows how much of the revenue recogrised in the TRAFANZENRDNESBETZANEHAN
feSPOCtive yoars (eiates 10 camied-forward contract labities a1 the start B EAEH -
of the respective years.
2024 2023
et St 3 —¥==%
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARNTR AEB®TIT
Sales of properties mENE 1,512,219 2714 407
Hotal operabion and property management sanice BERBEDENEED 16,802 7802

MRIZMIBEBANRLE 143
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HAAM
Lease liabilities payabie: Ei{ERAN:
2024 2023
—¥-AT s St
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR AESTA
Within ona year QN 55,051 19,178
Within & pericd of maoce than ona year bat nol BEHE-VETHEMY
more than two years 84,609 21.386
Within a perod of mare than two years but not AEMBMTRETBRAT
morg than fve yoars 176,881 72,539
Within a period of more than five years ANHETEY 75,834 88,340
. : 201,443
Less: Amount dus for setflement within 12 months . & - JIASBRMEM 128 AKX UM
-shown under curment fabiities. BR=ZS0 (55,851) 19,178}
Amount due for settlement aftor 12 months shown - SR B ol 38 601240 A BN ‘
undor non-current fatsities mEz3n 317,414 182,265
The weighted average incremental borowing fate appled (o lease BARERANA NN I SRRBEHFENTS

lishiities 15 9.17% (2023 B.88%), (Z¥==% '888%) *
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ancial Statements
SAnBRENE

For the year ended 31 Dacembor 2024
RE-F-N¥ A= +—HISE

29. BORROWINGS 20, R
2024 2023
@y ===
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARSTR
Bomowings comprise: MAEE
~ Variabye rate hank oars -ZRGERY 25,612,596 28,771,167
~ Fixed rate bark loans -BAEWERGRR 2,267,563 1,987,308
~ Fixod rate other borowings TR N 4,581,218 3487340
32,461,377 34,265,812
Analysed as: % - -
- Secured —-HE® 30,893,130 32,343,031
~Unseaured =l rse27 1912781
32,461,377 34,255,812
Borrowings repayable within 8 paniod of: BRASRLTRIMAWE
~ Within 1 year —-—%N 289,223 16,773.881
~ More than 1 year, but not exteeding 2 years ~HM—EQ ISy 163,173 7,651,343
~ Mare than 2 yaars; but not exceeding 5 years ~-BERFQISHT 665,340 7.188,343
- Morp than 5 yaars —HEL® 909,615 1,374,468
2,117,351 32,988,085
Borowings that contain a epayment on demand HARRAMESRZAROIAL
ciause {shown undar curment labeities) but repayable:  BYRR) « A TRIMEN RN
~ Within 1 year ——t 983,915 942,448
~ More than 1 year, but not excesding 2 years -~ —FEPHMT 251,139 207,523
~More than 2 years, but not exceeding 5 years ~HENEELNRY - 117,806
1,235,054 1.267,777
Bormowings that am repayable on demand due to REERERNFARERAA2
braach of loan covenants (shown under current WRMALMAR)
lobilties) 29,108972 -
29,108,972 -
Total bomowings SUR 32,461,377 34255812
Less: Amount cue within one year shown under current A - IR U T8 — & X 8
kbilties el 34| (30,633,249) (18.041,658)
Amount dus aftar coe year it o S ] 1,828,128 18.214.154

All tha Group's borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies
ol the relvant group companies (L.e. RMB, USS and HKS) except cortain
bark and other barowings amounting to RAMB1,369,091,000 (2023:
RIMB2,041,108.000) are denominated in HKS and RMB3,559,768.000
{2023: RME3.270,791,000) are denominated in USS.

FATEENR A AN ANT RN
MIMAES - BOMOR)HE-RETRT
R 004 14 B A IR 1.360,001,0000 (= F ==
¥ AR%2,041,108,0007 ) A M TR IR A
R M3,560,768.000T (=F==F : AKM
3.270,791,0005% ) b4 0 4 GERE 5) «
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29. BORROWINGS (Continued) 20. (M)
As at 31 December 2024, the secured borrowings with aggregate Z¥-AET-ASH-B - HESNRRR
amount of RAMB30,893, 130,000 (2023: RMB32,343,081,000) are AR M30,803,130,000T (—F==% | ARS
mwummumm-wnmu the 32.343031,0007% ) N B EREEN 2 F 0
aquity Interests of subsidisnies of the Group. assats owned by o related RE-TEEHEQNZ0E - —ARRTRES
party and/or certain equily instruments held by Me. Wong, REL/AREERMAZETREIAFES .
As at 31 Decembir 2024, the unsecured borowings with aggregate R-F-EEt+-A=t—-E - mERNRSS
amount of AMB1,568,247,000 (2023: RMB1,912.781,000) are MAEN 5682470007 (= F==9 ' AE®
mmhwmumu Wong, Ms. He .9!2.781.@’:)&& R /ERERAT ¥
Yaxing (spouse of Me. Wong), executive drectors of the Company (Ms. CWMELERBLEME L - TLARGTERE
Huang Jingshu and Mr. Huang Haa Yuan), and/or @ non-controling !ﬂ!&i-iﬁlﬁi&/ttll—ﬂﬂleﬂ
Inferest of a subisidiary of the Group, ZRERWERAR -
As at 31 December 2024, the borrowings with aggregale principal RoFoEF+ A=t -H -TRSE RN
amount of AMB2.814,201,000 have been past due duting the year 261201 000N BRESARE-—F _AF+=
ended 31 Decamber 2024, Such detaull events triggered an agarogate A+ -BU¥RRN - KN Rt 98 xS
principal amournt of AMB27,728,968,000 Intarest-bearing cebls 10 S M AR %27,728.968.00070 699 & (A H &R
- bacome repayable on demand due 1o cross-default. Among these, the REMARERAAM KR - FRamn/\Bm
borrowings with aggregate principal amount of RME1,234,197 000 1234197, 000 MU RESAES FREEN -
contain a repayment on demand clause and shown under current ENALRAN - RERNE - XQT NP AR
liabilities. On discovery of the beeach, the directors of the Company RA-ETRERABARFEERKER - H=F
Informed the lenders and commenced & renegatiation of the terms of SHEF A B EREBMNERRE -G
the loans with the lenders, As at 31 Docambar 2024, those negotiations HEAMEZERERERRANEIRINER>N
had not been concluded, Since the lenders have not sgreed 10 wisve HoR=F-AEt-—A=+—H QRAARS
Its right 10 demand immediate payment 5 #t the end of the mportng 20108972000t ZHREEBRUBRZREHD
pariod, the bomowings aggregate amount of RMB28,108,972 000 have MREBRN -
been classified as current llabilities as at 31 December 2024 due 1o
30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE 30. RRMAEDREMASHTETAN
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS 3
() Debt component of convertible bonds ) TRARMBABES
2024 2023
=¥=-as =N==%
ARNMTR AERTR
Net carrying amount as a1 1 January B—R—aMEEFN 119,808 003,189
issuance of convertibie bond, net of sattiement 817 5 IR - HIR KN - 107,915
Interest expense Hams 24,581 79,625
Internst paid 2iiHe (4,264) (172,832)
Repaymont and early redemption ARRELRE - {885,860)
Exchange dilerence LEL3 ] 2018 2,139)
Net camying amount as at 31 December g+ H=+—-BoNAZONE
cassifiod as current kabities: 103 el | 142,213 119.898
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(Continued)

{a) mmummw

m

On 6 November 2016, the Company entered into
a Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the
*Agreement”) with an independent third party, Chance
Talant Management Limited (the "C8 Subscribar®),
Pursuant 10 1ha Agreement, the CB Subscrber agreed
mmnmmmmmwwoa'mm
aggregate principal amount of USS100 millon (equivalant
to RMBB8S millon) &t Intereat rate of 5.5% per annum,
payable by the Cormpany semi-annually in amsars from the
ssue date, with initial conversion price of HKS2.76. The
maturity date is on the second anniversary of the issue
date. The 2018 CB wera issued 10 the CB Subscriber on
18 Novamber 2018,

The holder of the 2018 CB (the "Bondhoider™) has the right
10 convert the 2018 C8 in whole or in part into shares at
any 1ime on or after the issus date of the 2018 CS up to
the respective matunity dato. 254,946,889 new shares
will be issuad upon full conversion of the 2018 C8, An
adustment had besn mads 10 the convirsion prica from
HKS2.78 10 HKS2.696 on 21 July 2017 as a result of the
dividends paid sinca the convirtibla bonds were (ssued,

On 17 January 2018, the Company rechived a notica
from the CB Submariber, requesting for the conversion of
the 2018 CB in the principal amount of LUSS$10,000.000,
Moordtngly the Company has aliotted ang issusd
28,794,063 conversion shires 1o the GB Subscriber at the
conversion price of HKS2 635 per conversion share,

Adiusimants hagd baen mads 10 the conversion price from
HKSZ 695 1o HKS2 635 as a result of alotment of ordinary
shives, sotment of comverible preferonce sihares and the
dividends paid during the year endad 31 Decembar 2018,

Adiustments had been made 1o the conversion price from
HKS2 636 10 HKS2,574 a5 o result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019,

On 3 Octaber 2018, the CB Subscribar, the Company and
Mr. Wong entared into the Doed of Extansion to extend the
maturity date of the 2018 CB to 18 November 2020,
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE 30. IRKRABBEITRRRBGTEIAS
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS % (W)
(Continued)
{a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Continued) W HRRNASMEES (W)
M [Continued) (1 (&)

Tho 2018 CE will be redeemad on maturity al & value aqual
1o the amount equal to the aggragate of (a) the aggregate
principal amount of such outstanding 2018 CB; () any
actnaad bul unpad interest on such outstanding 2018 C8
on tha redemption cate (other than default interest); and (¢)
(if the sum of the amounts referred 1o above () and (o) fall
short of making up an intemal rate of retum of 8% on the
aggragate principal amount of 2018 CB) such additional
amount which wouki maka up an ntermal fate of 8% on the
aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB.

On 18 November 2020, the CB Subscriber, the
Company and Mr. Wmemwodlmmmoead
of Extension 1o further extend the matunty dato of the:
remaining outstanding 2018 ©8 to 18 May 2022 and
amend ceortain terms of tha 2018 CB (the 2018 CB
Amendments”), including amendments to maturity date,
mmmmmmw
the Company 10 the CB Subscriber. Save for the 2018 C8
Amendments, &l other 1erms and conditions of the 2018
C8 shall rermain in Iull force and affect,

Under the 2020 Dead of Extension, the parties thereto
agreed 1o, nmongsi others, tha following principal
amendments:

) the maturity date of tha 2018 CB will bo changed
from the date faling on the fourth annivorsary of the
issUe date 10 the date faling on the slxty-sixth month
from the issue date;

(i  the undertaking given by the Company 10 the
CB Subscriber and the Bondholder that the
sharehoidars' equity of the Company should not be
less than RMB10,000,000,000 for its equivalent in
any other cumency) will ba changed 10 not kess than
RMB11,500.000,000 (or its equivisient in any other
currancyy; and

(6 the undertaking given by the Company to the C8
Subscriber and the Bondholders that the ratio of
the Campany's total assats 1o shareholder’s aguty
% not more than 3.6:1 will be ¢changed to the ratic
of the Company’s total debts {excluding contract
fiability ansing out of sale of properties) 1o the
Company's lotal assets ia not more than 75%.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(Continued)

{a) mmummw

M

{Continued)

The 2018 CB Amondments was offective on 18 November
2020. Based on the conversion price according to 2018
wmmmumd!\om
Convertitie Bonds (the *New 2018 CB), an agaregate of
216,846,307 now shares will be allotted and ssued by the

Adiustments had been made 10 the conversion price from
HKS2 574 10 HKS2.505 as a rasult of afotment of ordinary
shares, alotment of convertible preference shares and tha
dvidands paid during 1he year ended 31 Dacember 2020.

On 18 May 2022, the CB Subscriber, the Company
and Mr, Wong entecad into the 2022 Deed of Extension
to furthor extend tha maturity date of the remaining
cutstanding New CB 2018 10 18 May 2023 and amendad
certain torms of the New 2018 CB (the *New 2018 CB
Amendmenis”], Save for the New 2018 C8 Amandments,
all othar tarms and conditions of the New 2018 CB
shall remain In full force and effect, The New 2018 CB
Amendments: includa but not limited to the following
terms- {)) the redemption of US$20,000,000 (equivaient
1o approximataly RMB130,895,000) of the outstanding
principsd amount of the New 2018 CB, togather with tha
comesponding apphcabie ntemal mte of return pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the convertible bond
subscrigtion agrasment (the “CB Subscription Agreament”)
In an amount of USS3, 116,216 {equivaient 10 approximately
RMB20,914,000), by the Company from the CB Subscriber
being compietad on or before 18 May 2022; (i) the first
instaimont of the administrative 1ee pursuant 10 the terms
and conditions of the CB Subscription Agreament In an
amount of LS$375.000 (squivalent 1o approximataly

AMB2.517,000) being paid in full by the Company to the
cssmcbumuumtamymmmm
payment of tha sccrued interest on the New CB 2018 in
an amount of USS$1,808,178 (equwvalent 10 approxmately
RMB12,813,000) by the Company 1o the CB Subscriber
on or before 18 May 2022, The amendmonts under the
2022 Dead of Extonsion become effecthva as from 18 May
2022, Conditions above have been lufiled diring the year
ended 31 December 2022,
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE 30. IRKRABBEITRRRBGTEIAS
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS % (W)
(Continued)
{a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Continued) W HRRNASMEES (W)
M [Continued) (1 (&)

Under tha 2022 Dead of Extension, the parties therelo

agreed 1o, amongst others, the following principal
amandments;

(% the payment arrangement of the administrative
fee wil be changed from being payable annually in
armars from the sacond anniversary of the ssue
dale 1o the sdministrative fee on the outstanding
principal amount of the New 2018 CB hakd for the
relevant pariod being payable on 18 May 2022 and
18 November 2022; and

(b} the maturity date of the New 2018 CB will be
changed from the date faling on the sby-sixth
month from tha issus date 1o the date faliing on the
savanty-eighth month from the issus date.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the 2018
CB, New 2018 C8 and Now 2018 CB Amendments were
disclosed in the announcaments of the Company dated 6
November 2016, 8 November 2018, 18 November 2016,
3 Cetober 2018, 18 November 2020 and 18 May 2022,
respectivaly.

The New 2018 CB contans two componants, debt
componant and derivative componant. The effective
interest rata of the dabt component is 14,09% per annum
as 3t 31 December 2022, The defnvative componant Is

measured al fak valup with changss in far valug recognised

In profit or loss. Tha fair valua of conversion option is
HK$2,868.000 (nquivalent to RMB2,851,000)) as at 31
Decomber 2022,

On 11 May 2023, the Company entered into a
Convectile Bonds Subiscription Agreoment (the *CB
2025 Agreemant”) with the GB Subscriber. Pursuant
wmcammmes&wmw
1o acquire the Convertible Bond (the *CB 20257 with
aggregate principal amount of 1S$20,000.000 (equivalant
to AMB139,142,000) at interest rate of 6% per annum,
payable by the Company. semi-annualy in amears kom the
issue date, with Initial conversion price of HKS2.00. The
mmmummmmaum
date. The CB 2025 wers issued 1o the CB Subscriber, the
same subscriber of Now CB 2018, on 18 May 2023,
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Notes to the Consoli

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(Continued)

{a) Ihuummumdunmﬁhhnhwmﬁmq

]

(Continued)

During tha yesr ended 31 Doecember 2023, New CB 2018
with principal amount of US0$50,000,000 (equivalent 1o
approximately RMB342,255,000) have been matured,
According 1o the CB 2025 Agreemant, the principal
amount of USS20.000.000 (equivaient 10 approximately
RAMB130,142,000) of CB 2025 would be settied by
repayment of New CB 2018 which constituted a non-cash
transaction. The remaining prncipai amount of New CB
2018 of LUSD$30,000.000 (equivalent 1o spproximataly
AMB203,113,000) has been convarted Into a new
bormowing with the same subscriber which aiso constituted
@ Non-cash transaction,

The holder of the GB 2025 has the right to convert the
CB 2025 in whole or in part into ordinary shares of tha
Comgany at any time from after the issuance date of the
CB 2025 up 19 the respective maturity date, 78,500,000
new orifinary shares of the Company will bo issuad upon
full conversion of tha CB 2025.

Further detalls of the torms and conditions of the CB 2025
were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
cated 11 May 2023,

The C8 2025 contans (WO Componants. dobl component
and dervative componant. The effective interest rates of
the debt component i 18.99% per snnum. The dervalive
component s measured at fair vaius with changes in fair
yalue rocognised in profit and loss.

The fair valug of conversion option is USS4,510,000
fequivalent 1o RMB31,227,000) ot the date of issue.
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For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE
COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(Continued)
(b)  Derivative component of convertible bands

MERTRRRBGTEIAS

®) HRRMABGTEIRES

2024 2023

—¥-Aas —$==3

RMB'000 RAME'000

ARMTRT ABESTT

Net camying amount 8s at 1 Januaty BE—A—BNMESH 2479 22.760

Nt gain arising on changes in fak valuo SAMAERSEETEOSEERN (2,488) (52.050)
Embedded derivatives ot the date of lssus ol BB HEARABBE MRS £

convertitie bonds In - 31,227

Exchange diffarence EoEm L 542
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R4=B=+—HOMhELAR

classified as cument kabiities HENIN - 2479

4]

The methocs art assumplions appbied for the valuation of
tha 08 2025 at 31 Docamber 2024 were as follows:

The tair valus of the derivativa compenent of CB 2025
as a! 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model were
apprommately RME nil and RMB2,479.000 respactively,
which were determined by the drectors of the Compaiy
with referanca 10 the valuation performad by Vincomn
Consulting and Appraisal Limded, a firm of independent

professional valuer with appropriate qualifications and

recent experences in the valuation of similar dorvative
nstruments with reference 10 market values.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group

recognisad the fair value gain of RMB2,488,000 (2023:

FAMB29,972 000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Modet
adopted by tha Independant professional valuer in
determining the laér values: of dadvative componant of C8
2025 ot the respectve dals were 83 folows:

L)

Ro-F-EF+-A=+—EN=%
ST ELRR NS 1T 1S NS
nHEERHRET ¢

ZF_ENRERFITLIANS
U-P-AN+—HA=+—-BLR-%
=¥+ -AZ+-—aERA-AAM
REMBLUBEZ DA MES DO D
AERT B A K N2,479,0007 ¢ H
HEBNE2NNVEZANERD
FEARANRONSOARET &
LTONRARARREARNIIREM
H-AEesmANRNGELIRG
MymAAGHES .

RE-F-NE+_A=+—-BuF
B ZeWRAESMEATHERR
MREREARY24830007 (===
- AKKM29972,00071) *

RNEMLLANREMENNE=S
ZHFNRRRAGETIREIAL
REMRAENO-ACHETORY
HIEMARABRST

‘At31 December A1 31 Decomber

2024 2023

RS -HF B ==

+ZAEF-R +2A=+-A

Share price Bm HK$S0.42 HKS0.78
0.42/8 5T 07688

Exercise price fTem HKS2.00 HKS2.00
2,000 it 2008w

Expectod dividend yield ANsey 0.00% 0.00%
Volatity E 62.88% 56.09%
Discount rate RR% 18.73% 18.80%
Hisk froe intares! rato LU EiE Y 4.30% 458%
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For the year ended 31 Dacembor 2024
RE-F-NY¥ A= +—HULSE

31. DOMESYIC CORPORATE BONDS 31, ARL2TME

2024 2023

=t 54:F 1 =%==
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARNMTR ARSTR
Net canying amount as at 1 January (nofe) B-A-RBRBESNRE) 974,201 4.488,576
Internst charged dunng tha year EHEOEHe 84,182 162.041
Interest paid BNe (83,387 (249,800)
Esrly radomption of domastic comarata bonds HAMERAD AR - (114,570
Settlament of public senior notes BRAREZRS - (2.623,493)
Waker of repayment Begw - (842,578)
Gam on early mdemption of domestic corponsts bonds 18 RINE AL 7N 2 W - (311)
Exchanga differences Wiz - (“3.574)
Not camying amount & at 31 December BtoA=+-HNEESE 975,086 a74.201

Legs: Amount due within one year shown under cument A - S8R INET & — SR HE

Eabilties ZBH (129,821) (B44 576)
Amount due after cne yoar 2—~FRIMZEN 845,265 128.716

Note:  As at 1 January 2023, public sanior notas and domestic
corporate bonds amounted to RMB3,398.260,000 and
RMB1,088.316,000 respectively,

On 28 July 2021, China Securities Raguiatory Commession has approved
the issue of 2021 domestic corporate bonds (*2021 Domestic Comorata
mmawmdmmmwmmw
Zhengxinglong. On 16 August 2021, Zhengxingiong completed the
public issue of the first tranche of the 2021 Domestic Comorata Bonds
(the *First Tranche Domestic Bonds") 10 professional investors with a
MMMM1MW The First Tranche Domestic
Bonds were classified info two types, both with & term of 5 years. The
5800 520 of type 1 was RMB1,400,000.000 with a coupen rate of B.5%
("Type 1 Bonds™), and the issua size of type 2 was RMEB200,000,000
with 3 coupon rate of 8.8% {*Typn 2 Bonds"), The First Tranche
Domestic Bonats was &sted in S2X

Znengxingiong has an option 1o Increase the coupon rate at the and of
the first and third year for Type 1 Bonds, and at tho snd of second and
frth year for Type 2 Bonds. Znangxinglong wil make an announcament
of the determinption on the coupon rato adustment and iraspoctive
of whether adjustment wil be made or rol, the Investor can exercise
retractable option at the end of the frst and third year for Type 1 Bonds
and at the end of second and fourth year for Type 2 Bonds. The interest
charged for the yoor is caloulatad by applying an effoctive inlorest rato
of appeoximately B.64% per annum since the First Trancha Domestic
Bonds were issued.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB nll (2023:
ANBA4 570,000) of Type 1 Bonds and AMB ni {2023: RMB70,000,000)
of Type 2 Bonds ware redeamod partially by bondhoidars.
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32. OTHER CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 32. Mt&M, #HEDAR

Pursuant o the refocation and compensation agreement for Lban HRETSENE ZHBRMGER - xamm e
redavelopment projects, the Group agreed 1o compansata the original RATRRMERNREREZCERORNEE
residants with complated proparies of respective urban redaveiopment RFEER - RRENCTRORE &2 B AR
projects upon complation of redevelopment. The astimated future RREEHMNANAE - HREFHEDRITASY
complation cost incurred for construction of thesa compieted properties HeRMBLABPERIMBSERN DRGSR -

Is accounted as a provision, with a conmesponding nermase In properties
under dovelopment for sale. Tho provision will be relsased upon those
complated properties have bean deliverad 10 the onginal residents.

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. Bx
2004 223
== = e
Number of p—
RERE RERE

(F8) FAR ARMFR  (FR) TR ABRTZE

Authortsed share il of the Company. FRAEZTRE:

Orchrawy shares of HKS0.01 each SHEBRONAEN

FAR 30000000 00000 240000 V00000 HOMO 260000
Issued and Ly pald share captal of the AMERGReRNS:
Campany.
Ordirary sharss of HKSO.01 each EEE TG S

wax
AT Janary #-A-8 S0ST704 50978 42465 509004 O 424
Conversion of conernitia priference shares LREAREEE o
o3 (BEsy) 50000 50 427 = = =
At 3t Decermbes ¥+-R=+-8 5,507,704 55978 46702 5007704 50978 2465

During the first quarter of 2025, 459,788,886 convertible preference  # =S~ EX W — BN « 44 711 17 2459,788 8868 1
shares sued by the Company were convertod into ordinary shares of BREANE-FT -5 RUNRANANARENLK

the Company by the hoider of the 2015 CPS. 2R R
34. RESERVES 34, MR
2024 2023
bt e E 3 s ot
Notes RMB'000 RAMB'000
L3 ABRWT R ARMTT
Share premum BHEN [0} 8,031,680 7,163,036
Conventitie preference shares LT 3 0 5,126,320 5,800 201
Other reserves neEum (2,491,853) (2,491,853)
Exchange reserve LM 1312.502) (188,198)
Investment/property revahuation resenve SR/ MRE RN 144,390 (12533
Share option resenve nate 35 WA 08 8 (A7 2235) 190,220 202,571
Statutory reserve. EEER iy 426,786 425,682
Retanad profits REEY 6,877,971 12.&!8257

17,992,912 23,135,963
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Notes to the Co

34, RESERVES (Continued)

Notes:

The movernants of the Group's reserves far the yoar are fresented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equily of the consalidated financial
statomonts. Tho nature and purPose of cortan reserves &e &5 followa:

() On 30 November 2015, the Company issuad convertible
pratersnce sharea (the *2015 CPS’) at issua price of HKS2.08
por share, of which 3,413 473,023 CPS ware Issued 1o Me. Wong
for aggregats consiceration of HKS7,031,754.000 (equivaient 10
approximately RMBS.855,114,000) as considoration 10 acquire
the entire squity intarests in Green View Hoiding Comparny Litnvied
and its subsidiares.

Kay torms of the 2015 CPS

Holders ol the 2015 CPS will be enfitind 10 taceke noticas
of and to attend the general meetings of the Company but
a0 not penmitted 10 vote unless a resokadion is proposed o
vary the rights of hoiders of the 2015 CPS o a resolution is
propossd for tha winding up of the Company;

Holders of the 2015 CPS have the right to convart
oach 2015 CTPS at any time into one ordinary share of
the Company withou! the payment of any additional
cansideration, The hoklors may not exercise the conversion
right It upon the conversion, the percentage of ordinary
shares heid by the public wil 1ail bolow the minimoum public
fioat requicamant under Ruls 8,08 of the Listing Aules. The
shares that are issusd Lpon the axorcita of the conversion
right of the 2015 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

The 2015 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its
hoidar;

Holders of 2015 CPS will have poorty over the holdars of
ordingry shares ol the Company on the askats and funds
of the Company avoilable for distribution in a distribution
of assets on liguidation, winding-up or dissolution of the
Comparny,

Subjoct to compfiance with all apphcable laws and tho
arlicle of associstion of the Company, each 2015 CPS
shall confer on s holder the nght to receive o proformad
distabution from the date of the ssue of the 2015 CPS
a1 a rate of 0.2% per annum, payable annually In arrear.
Such preferred distribution 8 non-cumulative. The toard
of directors may, in s s0le discration, elect 10 deler or
not 1o pay n prefered distribution; No interest accrues on
any unpaid preferred distribution. It the board of directon
of the Company elects to daler Of ot 10 pay & Dreforred
distribution, 1he Company cannot pay any dividends,
distributions or make any other payment to any ardinary
shares of the Company.

For the year ended 31 Dacembor 2024
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(Gontinued)

On 7 February 2018, the Company entored into the Convertible
Praference Shares {the 2018 CPS") subscription agresment with
Siiver Sure BVI) Investments Limited. an indepondont third party
to the Group a8 the 2018 CPS subscnbor pursuant to which the
2018 CPS subscriber agrénd 10 subscribe for 132,564,669 now
CPS at an aggregate consideration of approximately HKS389.47
milion (equivalent to RMB325,58 million). The allotment and issue
of 2018 CPS was complated on 21 February 2018,

Kay torms of the 2018 CPS

. Holders of the 2018 CPS will be-entitiod 10 receivis notices
of and o attend the general meetings of the Company but
o not permitied to vote uniess a resolution is proposed 1o
vary the rights of holders of the 2018 CPS or a resolution is
proposed for the winding up of the Compary;

e Holders of the 2018 CPS have the right to convert
mmismnmtmmwmuam share of
the Company withou! the payment of any sdditional
consideration. The holders may not axercise the comversion
right It upon The conversion, the percentage of ordinaty
shates hold by the public wi fall beiow tha minimum pubic
float requirement undar Rule 8.08 of Ihe Listing Rules. The
shares Ihist are i5susd UPON the exerciss of the conversion
night of the 2018 CPS are not subject 1o 4ny restriction!

. The 2018 CFS cannot be redeemed by the Company o ite
holdar; and

. Hokfes of 2018 CPS will have peiodty over the holders of
ordinary shares of the Company on tho assets and funds
of the Company avadlable for distnbution in & distribution
of assots on liquidation, winding:-up or dissolution of the.
Company,

The detais of the 2018 CPS are s6t out I the announcemant of
the Company dated 7 February 2018.

The 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS are classitied as equity instruments
in the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group
doen not bave & contractual obligation 10 deliver caah of other
financial assets arising from the issue of the 2015 CPS and 2015
cPs.

Onzaummmomwmmmo 13,636,364 and
ummmtsmmmmmmm
ut tho corwersion price of HKS2.068 per conversion prelerence
share respectively,
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Notes to the Consoli

RESERVES (Continued)

Novas: ([Continusdl)
®  |Continued)

On 4 December 2024, 500,000,000 2015 CPS have beon
converted nto ordinary sharas at ths conversion price.of HKS2.08
per convertibie preference share. The par value pet shire is
(HKSD, 1, thuy resulting in a share pramium of HKS1,025,000,000,
equivaiant to RMBBES, 644,000,

(M Assupuiated by the rolevant laws and regulanons in the Maniand
Ching, certain subsidiatios of ine Company in the Mainland
China ate required 10 maintain a statufory reserve which is non-
distributable other than upon the iquidation of the entity, Trarsfer
10 this rosarve i mads out of profit after tax of the Maintand China
subisidiaries” atatutory fnancial statements which are prepared in
accordance with the accounting principlas ganeraly accepled in
the Manland China.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 November
2005 axpired on 13 November 2015. On 2 June 2018, the Company
adopted 8 new share option scheme (the *Scheme”) at the annual
general menting of the Company held on 2 June 2018 which is vald for
10 years until 1 June 2026

Tha share option schame was adopted for the purpose of enabling tha
Company 1o grant options 10 selected elpbio participants as incentives
O rewvairds for ther contribution or potential contridtion 10 the Group,

Pursuant 10 the Schama, tho board of drectons may, 8l s discration,
invite any executivé or non-axacutive directors including indapendent
ron-guacutive drectons or any employees (whather full-time or part-
time) of the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies;
any discrationary objects of a discrationary trust establishod by any
empioyees, execulive ar Non-exaculivg directons of each member of the
Group or Its associatod companies; any consultants, professional and
Other aclvisers 1o each member of the Group or its associated companies
(or persons, firms or companies propesed 10 be appointed 10r providing
such sarvicas); any chiel exscutives or substantial sharsholders of the
Company. any assccates of any director, chiel executive or substantial
mmhwudvucmnmylﬂ:nuubpu“ﬁﬂuiﬁhﬁu
part-timaj of substantial shareholders of the Company, provided that the
board of directors may have absolute discretion 10 determing whather
o not ona tiks within the above categores, togather, i1 “Participants”
and each a “Particpant’), 10 take up options {*Optionis)) to subscribe
for ghares atl 0 price determinad in accordance with the paragraph
bedow.

in detemmining the basis of eigibiity of each Participant, the board of
dractons would take into aocount such factors aa the board of directon
may at its discretion consider appropriate.

u'

ﬁéﬂtﬁﬁimﬁ

For tha year ended 31 Docamber 2024
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35. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 35. LURGXMAOERTM(N)

(Continued)

The Schame shall be valid and effective for a perod of ten years
commencing on the date on which the Scheme s adopted, after which
pedod no frthar Options will be granted but In all ather respects the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect, and
Options which are granted during the e of the Scheme may continue
10 be exercisable in acoordance with thar torms of grant.

The exerciss price of a share n telation to each Option granted under
the Scheme shal bie a price solely determingd by the board of drectors
and notied 1o a Participant and shall be at least the highest of:

la} the closing price of the Compary's shares as siated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the business day on which
& offer Is accepted by the grantea or If such tate of scceptance
by the grantee i not a busness day, the immediately precoding
busingss doy;

) npeice being the average of the clasing prices of the Company's
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daly quotations sheels
for the five business days immediately preceding the date on
which an offer [s acceptad by the grantes (provided that the new
issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business:

day faling within the penod belare Isting of the shares where the
Company has been sted for ks than five business days as at
the diste on which an ofter i accepted by the grantes); and

(¢} the nominal value of & Company’s share.

The total number of shares, which may be ssued upon exercise of all
Options to ba granted under the Schame and ahy other shars option
schame of the Company shall not i aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issuo o0 the date of commencemaent of dealings in
the shares on the Stack Exchangs ("Scheme Mandate Limit"), unless:
hwmmmmummw
In scodrdance with the terms of the Scheme will nat be countad for
the purposs of cakeutating such 10% mit. As at tho dato of this anmual
report, the total number of shares avallable for grant and Issue under the:
Schome was 285,800,000 shives, represanting approximately 5.11%
and 5.61% of the total shares as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
TOSPOCIVOY.
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35. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme, the rhaximum
number of the shares which may be issusd upon exercise of ail
outstaniing Options granted and yet 1o b exercised under the Schema
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not excoed
30% of the total number of shares in issue from fima 10 time.

Unless approved by the sharsholders, the total number of shares
fssued and 1o be ssued upon exarcise of the Options granted to @sch
participant (including both exarcsed and outstanding Options) in any
12«month panocd shal not excesd 1% of the totsl number of shares n
issue,

Offer of an option ("Offer”) shall be deemed 1o have been accepted by
any Participant (the “Grantee”) who sccepts an Offer In accordance
with tha terms of the Schame and the option 1o which tha Offer ralates
shall be deemed 1o have besn granted and to have taken effect whan
tha duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptancs of the Offer
duly signed by tha Grantes together with & romittance in favour of the
Company of HIK§1.00 by way of consideration Tor the granting theredl is
rocoived by the Company within 30 days from the date upon which the
Otfer 18 made.

In respect of any particular option, the period witten which the option
miy be exorcisad by the grantee shall be 3 penod 10 ba dotarmined by
the Board at its dscretion and notified by the Board to each grantee,
and such period shall not be more than 10 years from the date on which
such cotion is granted,

On 28 June 2016, the Company granted share options under the
Schame to cactain Participants which will anabla the Grantsas to
subscrite for a total of 285,800,000 ordinary sharas of HKS0.01 each in
tha share capital of Ihas Gomparny,

i ﬁéﬂtﬁﬁimﬁ

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
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35, SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 35 BREBXGHKEETM(N)

(Continued)
Detals of the Cptions grantad by the Company pursuant to the Scheme AQTNBERHBEYMBEEN S -ER
and the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are a5 V-S4 HACSH-BREGRORREVIN
follows: 0T
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35,

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Nota 1: The options were vested immediately on the date of grant.

Note 2 Tha options granted are subject 10 tha vesting period from
the date of grant up 10 27 June 2017,

Note 3: The options granted aré SUbject to the veating pariod from
tha date of grant up 1o 27 Juna 2018

Nota 4: Othars includa grantees who ware aligible participants
other than oxocutive directors and empicyees pursuant 10
the Schame.

Naote & The options were forfeited due to tha reliremant of an

oxecutive director and an indepencdent non-oxecutive
direcior.

During the years anded 31 Decambar 2024 and 2023, ro shares

The closing pnca of the Company’s shares immedately before 28 June
2016, the date of grant, was HKS1.820.

Thera is no performance condition for the Options 10 vest.

Tha far values of the Options detarmined at the date of grant using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model ware HKS276,156,000 (equivaiant to
approximately RMB236,030.000). During the years ended 31 December
2024 6nd 2023, N SXporsa Was recognised in relalion 10 sharo options
granted by the Company.

The Binomial Option Pricing Modef has been used to estimate the tair
valua of the options. The variabies and assumptions used In compulting
the fair vilue of the share options are based on the best estimata of the
drectons of the Company, Changes in vitriabies and assumptions may
result in changes in the tair value of the Options.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Hang Kong

The Group has joined 3 Mandatoty Provident Furkd Schema (the
“MPF Scheme”) for Its employaes in Hong Kang. The MPF Schame s
registerad with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Furid Scheme Ordinance. The gssets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under thi control of an independant trusten, Uinder tha ruke of the MPF
Schems, the employes and Its employeas @re each required 10 make
contributions 10 tha MPF Scheme at rates speciiod n the naas: The only

obiigation of the Group with respect to the MPF Schems i to make the
required contributions under the MPF Schame.

The matirement benalit schema contributions ansing from tha MPE
Schame charged to the consolidated statemant of profit or loss
reptesent contributions payable to the funds by the Group at rates
spediied in the rules of the scheme.
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36.

37.

Notes to the Consoli

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (Centinued)

The Mainiand China

The amployees of the Group’s subsidianes in the Manland China ara
mambers of & state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the govemment of the Mainland China. The subsidiaries ara requirod
to contribule 3 certain percentage of the salanes of ther emgployess 10
the state managed rottoment bonefit schema, The only obligation of
the Group with respect 10 the retrament benadit schema § 10 make the
required contrtutions under the schame.

During the ysar ended 3! Decamber 2024, tha retirement banafit
scheme contributions amounted to AMB29,327,000 (2023
RMB30,168,000). No forfeted contributions have been used {0 coduce
tha level of contributions in both years.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s prirmary objectives when managing capial are to sateguard
the Group's abiiity 1o continue as & going concem, so that it can
continue 10 provide retums for sharsholders and benefits foc other
stakenolders, by pricing propanies commansurately with the lovel of fisk
and by securing access 10 finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adiustments 1o t in
the ight of changas in ecoNOMIC CoNAItoNS and the riak charactanstic of
tha undertying assets.

The Group manitors capital on the tasis of the net debt to equity
ratio. For this purposo the net debt i defined s bormowings. domestic
corporate bonds less cash and cash equivatents: The Group's goal
in capital managemant 5 10 maintain a el deb! 16 equity ratio ot &
reasonable fevel, In order 1o maintain or adjust the capital structure; the
Group may aoust the amount of dvcends poid 1o shareholdans, issue
new shares, retum capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or
ol assats fo reduce debts.

The Group's overal strategy in capdal management rmans unchanged
from fxior years,

36,
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES 38 MBHERRINRERERS
AND OBJECTIVES
Categories of financial instruments EWTAME
2024 2023
—®=mF =%==
RMB'000 RMB000
ARNTF T AERMT X
Financial assets TMRE :
Al amortised cost ERMNETHR 4,247,089 5,357,242
Equity Instruments at FVTOCH BELMARARRSHRE
ZEETn 524,303 370,074
Financial liabllities EMAM
Al amortisad cost ERMELR 46,233,109 47.967.027
Derivative financial instruments fisERra - 2479
Thé Group {5 exposed 10 a variety of financial risks: currency risk, FTOEFTSHRAN  AMEN - HEEM -
Interest rata risk price rsk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's MERY - AREREEMIZHE - 29NN
overad risk management focuses on unpredictabiy of financial markats. NERTIELERERM SR RME - =8
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's FRFASSEHARENNETHERRFRE
financial performanca. The Group currently does not have any writtan FEBUNDREAHXNBRTRBRNEMNT -
risk management policies and guidelines: However, the directors of RS- ALARSENERNR - LU EMTE
the Company meet pariodically to analyse and formulate stratagies 1o BN REOR MR -
The Group Is not engaged In the trading of financial assets for FEMUMBEEURBNANOERARENE - &
speculative purposes, nnmwmmmman SRSEVOATBNARBYALT -
Group s exposed are described below.

164 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolid

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)

381 Currency risk 381 AMAR

Certain subsidiarigs of the Company have foraign currancy
doenominatod monetary assets and labiltios, which gxpoge the
Group fo foraign currency risk. The Group currently does nol
have a policy to hadge the foreign cumrency exposure. Howover,
tha management monitors the reated foreign cumency fluctuation

AL AIET D 2 RN R
M- RESERR AN - Z05D
L2 3 ) LY gt RELT S & 4
REYEOTARSAERD YOHRENY
A ATSHNGR NS 0BT S A e

closaly and will consider” entering into foreign exchangs forward
contracts 10 hedge significant portion of 1he lorsign cumency sk
should the noed anse.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency FEAWMLONHHZAMEZTAMA GRS

dencminated monetary assets and monetary kabilities at the WEENZEBEHRMT
raporting date au follows:
Assels Liabilities
RE an
2024 2023 2024 2073
TR-AY —Fo=F ZSSBE —%-=F
RMB'000 AMB'CO0  AMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR ABWMTE ARMTR ARSTHE
uss B 17,376 18,124 3453600 5320940
HKS BT 85,551 70611 2437833  2,000260
Sensitivity analysis HERSH

Thes Group is mainly exposed (o the cunrencies of USS and HKS.

The following table detals the Group's sensitivity 10 2 5% ncrease
and decrease in RMB against the tedavant loreign currency.
5% is the sensithvity rate used when reparting foreign currancy
risk internaly 1o directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably posstie change in foreign exchange rates.

Tha sensitivity analysis mcludes anly outstanding foreign curtency
denominated monatary [1ems assuming the balances at the
end of the reporting period outstanding for the whole year and
acists thor transiation at 1he year énd for 8 5% change in foreign
curmency rates. A postive number below Indicates a decreasa in
post-tax loss for the yeir (2023: same) where RMB strengihen
5% against the relevant currancy, For a 6% weakening of RMB

~agunst tha relevant currency, thee would be an equal and

opposito Impact 60 the post-tax loss for the year {2023: same),
and the amounts befow would be negative.

TAWEIREERELD AN -

TR0 ME A RN R IR A%
PRSI - SHAM TN WS AR R
BESMRAREETES  EREDAN
FHAMERLIARRRNIWE -

BSESRECEUNNERZHRINR
MRE (SREERMEANNEETERN
W) 0000 5P RAPS LA S MUK B 0 RhSe I B,
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TSNS - BRI RS (=
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

38. MBERRENRERES (R

AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)
38.1 Currency risk (Continued) 381 WWER(R)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) .27 &30 )
2024 2023
= =t ===
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMT AR®FR
uss x5
Profit o ioss LF-3 128,858 123,858
HKS ax
Proft o loss g 88211 72,382

In the management's opinion, the sansitivity analysis is
unreprasentative of the Inherent foreign axchange risk as the
yeal and exposure does not relisct this exposure during the bath
years.

Interest rato risk:

Tha Group has significant borrowingss (sae nota 20 for datisis) and
bank deposits with floating interest rate which are exposad 10
bank deposits, certain tank balances, convertible bonds,
domestic corporate bonds and lease kabities (see note 28 for
datats) camied at fied mte which exposed the Group 1o fair value:
interest rate rigk,, During the years ended 31 Dacember 2024
and 2023, tha Group has not hedged Its cash fow and falr valhie
interest rate risks. !

The sensitivity analyses balow have been detormined based on
the exposure to interest rates for vadabie-rate borrowings at the
end of Ihe reporting perod. The analysis & prepared Bssuming
the amount of labiity cutstanding at the end of the reporting
penod was outstanding for the whole year, A 50 (2023; 50) bass
point Increase of decrease is Used when reporting intorest rate
risk intemally 1o drectors of the Company’s assessment of the
raasonably possible change in inferest rates,

1 interest rates had baen 50 (2023: 50} basis points higherfiower
and all other variables were heid constant, the Group’s post-
fax lors for the yetr would increasa/decrease by approximately
RMB113,880,000 (2023: RMBE4.404,000), net of interest that
would be capitaised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy,

Sensitivity analyss on bank deposis s not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's exposure 10
intorest rate fuctuations on bank deposits is insigrificant.

164 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 2024
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)

383 ARARBERMAWNE

Cradit sk refors 10 the risk that the Group's counterpartias
Oetault on their contractual cbligations resulting in financial losses
10 the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarilly attributabis to
Its accounts and other recisvables (inchuding amoonts due from
rafatad parties and non-controfing interasts), amount dus from a
Joint venture, restrictix! bank deposits and pledped bank deposits,
bank balances and cash and the linancal guaraniees provided by
the Group, The amounts presented in the consaldatod stalemant
of financial position are net of allowances for cradil losses,
estimated by 1he Group's management based on prior expenence
and e assessment of the cument economic environment. The
Group does not hold any colldters! of ather creddt snhancements
10 cover 15 credit risks associated with 15 financial assets and
financil guarantes contmects.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
axposure spread over a large number of counterparties and
customens, except for amounts due from a jont venture, related
parties and non-controling interests as at 31 Decambee 2024,
The credit nsik on haud funds s Emited because the funds have
been deposited with vanous creditworthy financial institutions
focated i Hong Kong and the Mainiand China.

In order 10 minimise the credd risk, the managemant of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
cradit imits, cfadt approvals and other monitoring procedures 1o
ensure that folow-up achon s taken 1o recover averdua dobis.
In addition, thay Group raviéws tha recoverabie armount of each
WM&!NMO(“MM%OM
that a2daquate impairment losses are made for iracoverable
amounts, In this regard, the dirsctors of the Company consider
that the Group's credit risk is Sgnificantly reduced.

hmmmmm"mumm
agreaments, the Group generaly typically provides guarantees
1o banks In connection with tha customers' borrowing of
martgage loans to finance their purchase of the proparties for

Gortain amount of the total purchase price of the property. It a

purchaser defaults on tha payment of ita mortgage during the
term of guarantee, the bank hoiding the morigage may demand
the Group 10 repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any
pocrued inturest thereon. Undee such clroumsatances, the Group
i5 able to forfel the customer's purchase deposit and sell the
Mhmmmnﬂdmhmmhm
Therofore, the management congidars it would likely recover

any loss InCurred ansng from tha guarantoe by the Goup, The

management considers the credit risk exposure to financial
guaranteus provided to properly purchasers i imited because
the facilties are secured) by the properties and the markat prices
of the proparties aco highor than the guarantoed amounts. in this
regand, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
cradit risk s significantly reduced.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)

38. MBERRENRERES (R

383 WREMBRAFE(R)

In addition, the Group perfoms Impairmant assecsment under
ECL modal for lease recetvables, other recevables (including
and amount due from a jolnt venture with significant balances
indinvicually.

During the yoar ended at 31 December 2024, the Metime ECL
of account receivables, amounts:due from relaled parties
and amount dug from @ joint venture recognised. net of
raversal, are approximately HMB4 990,000 (2023: AMES 000),
RMB93.610.000 {2023: nil) and AMB2¥,139,000 (2023: nil),
respactively.

Liquidity risk

Despite uncertanties mentioned In note 3.1, the dirsctons of he
Company are of the opinfon that the Group will havn sulficnnt
working capial 1o meet fts cash flow requirements in the next
twalve months: The drectons of the Company @0 satisbed that it &
appropaats (o prapate thesa consolidated fnancisl stataments on
# QOing concem bass.

In the managament of tha liquidity risk, tha Group moniors-and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the managemant 10 finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fuctuations in cash flows.

M the end of the reporting penod of tha non-darvative fnancial
liabilties, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest
mmmmtﬁsmlm bused
00 curment rates af the end of the reporting period) and the sartest
data the Group can be raquired 10 £y,

Specitically, for borrowings which coniain a repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised ot the bank’s sole
diacrotion, the analysis shows the cash outflows basad on the
sariest period in which the Group can be requirad o pay, that
is if the lenders were 10 invoke thelr unconditional nghts to call
tha joans with immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other
borrowings is prapared based on tha scheduled ropayment
gates.

168 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 20024

A RSN AERENANTTHES
E RS S 50 AR B - O e i 2 (@
ZRRMRTERERES RN LERY
=M 8D WEONE SN2 RIS

NE-F-BY+=R=+—-BE*m 2
BEZBRER  SURBARNEEL—
MERSHEATABAFARSN (e
RE) A HHMARN4900007T(ZF==
A %3,0007%) < AR ¥83,610,0007
(ZF=—=F  ¥)RAK¥21,139,000 {=
== %)

SRMEVERHTETEE  TLANR
BASAMEART _EARANET R
RELKERNERURET - ELNERM
B EBRERBSANRT A EHE
TR -

RUERARRASMES SR ITRUN
HERMeFMoRyTANIRTIMK
FraEnssuedRANe RRENS
ENENNEW -

FEANFEAFRREAN (BBREHN
R (ERTe) BESMENBITHNHN
MPLEN) RARET REREARORT
EEEANRUERANEGSERARY
#HTane .

ARG HLBEMT TS EWNGTRD
EERMANTOER  HRATRAEE
B R RN T (0 M
KEEn S RDRRERE) IV HE
Rit- R WROHME S HMESNRB
BNRN -



FEXBEEHT FID AR E N E G 2024 FEHE

L | b

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRERNE

For the yaar ended 31 Decamber 2024
RE-F-oNB¥ A=+
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES 38. HENRRENRARESR(N)
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)
384 Liquidity risk (Continued) 384 RBREERE M)
Weighted Total
sorage  LessBun!  Aferiyeor  After2yeers contractual
eecthe  yearoron botlessBun  butless tan mdisconied  Camying
interestrale demand 2yeers Syers  AfferSyears  cashfows ot
2F5 -FAd -SU:r RRUE RFAEE
RRES 2R BRUX EL 538 g3amm BRa
% RMB00  RMBYO0O RMBT00 RSO0 AME00 RMB000
% ARRTX ARSTR ARNTX ARNFX AR¥EX  ARNIR
b} b Jat {
Financial ablities N
Koot payiie SHED - - - - AN M
Jocnals dd oiver payced HRARKEAHRD - aaem - - - B2MS B2Gm
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)

384 Liquidity risk (Continued)

38. MBERRENRERES (R

384 WMEMAEERM(N)

The amounts included above for financial guarantes contracts
8re the maxmum amounts the Group could b required 1o settle
under the arrangement for the full gusranteed amount If that

LR AMBANEONRARME RS
HHHNAR TUWERTHULFRE
MEHOBESY - NRERVERS -5

amount is claimed by the counterparty 10 the guarantos. Based PEEARETRAEXHERWAE T
on tho expactations at the end of the reporting period, the Group REE« MM - BSHAREERE  BRARE
considers that & ls more likely than not that no amount will be FiCAGEHGAUBRNSSHAREER
payable under the armangement. However, this estimate i subject MERESEEREHOT M

to changn depending on tha probabdity of the countarparty

claiming under the guarantes which 1S @ function of the kkelihood

that tha financial rocaivables hold by the counterparty which are

guaranieed suffer credit lossas.

The table that follows summarises tha maturity analysis of TERAMAEDRRERROARUER
porrowings with a repayment on demand clauss and bormrowings REREEOAARESREON RO
are repayabla on demand due to braach of joan covenants. The BEAN-USENMAERRANHEN RGN

amounts includa interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a resull, these amounis were graater than the amounts
disciosad 0 the “on demand” time tand in the maturity analysis

ARN-ER RESWRLULAMA K
FIREFIHMUAAEROLNARN - ¥
EERBERIBUE - BERRAMGTAH

abiove. Taking into account the Group's financial podition, the: REEENAERRORREHBERLN
directons do not consider that [t is probatie that the banks wil EREKANN  EHERSHENERERAE
exercise their discretion 1o demand immediate repayment for BENHIREERKBRAROETERE
borrowings with 2 repayment on demand clause and beliove that Him- -

those bormowings with a repaymant on demand clause wil be
repaid in accorcance with the schadued repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements.

Maturity analyss of the bormowings subject to a repayment on

L 103 0 (0 IR0 A% B0 0 K O A Ly X

demand cliuse based on schadulad mpaymaents st out in the RERADENNNWEIWKIT
pgreements is as fofows:
Total
Lessthan 6012 undacounted  Camylng
Oa demand months. months  1lo5years  cashfiows amount
ARAE #FRRE

RE? SRAEE  T-@R  -SESF RamN BEE
RMB000  AMBO0  RAMBO00  RMBT00  AMBO00  RMBON
ARBFR ARNTZ ARNTR ARWFR ARRTX ARWEX

31 Deceember 2004 SESREFIASI-8 20030 GSM9  R0MAM  IATIIS  MAGTE MM

91 Decesber 2023 = el St Bl - 191013 8R40 M&% 1R e
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)

385 Price risk 385 MMEAR

The Group is exposed to price risk in connection vath equity
nstrument at FYTOCH. The Group closely monitons the fluctuation
of the trading prices and value of underying sssets and assesses
the inpact on the Group's consoliidated fnancial statements.

If prices of equity security has been 5% highar/lower and al
other variables were held constant, the Group’s-investmant
ravaluation reserve would Increase/decrease by approximatoly
AMS19,661,000 (2023; RMB13,878,000),

The Group was also exposed 1o other price risk anising from the
outstanding denvativee financlal instruments with predatermined
maturity date. The lair value of these derivative financial
Instruments was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Modal detalied in note 30,

15 unrepresentativo of the inharent market nsk as the pricing
modet used in 1he falr value valuation of thase denvative financial
instruments which invelves mulliple variablos &e nterdepondent
and the Group's expesure 10 fluctuation of the fair valus is
inimal.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determings

fair values of varous financial assets and financial abiities.

Some of the Group’s financial Instruments are measured at
lax vaius for financial reporting purposes, in_ estimating the fair
value, the Group uses market-cbsonvable data to the extont it
is avalable. Whers Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
angages third party qualified valuer (o perform the valuation of 1o
estatiish the approprate vahuation tochniques and nputs to the
model

FENFERNELAMBENARCETESS
ZBEIRGMZMEEAM - SRRSO
EXSMERANAERNELSEVIUBFG
HVERHEENESHARZZNE

UL UERC R g DRSS R P
SRERHTE XEWZOANEUNE
BN/ MEPPAENMIDE1000T(ZF==
F 0 AR®138780007T) ¢

FREFEHRAMARENNE Z MRT
RULSWTRAZ UMMM BRTTLE
ERMIRN2AMANEAAREEH
RIS » P INMALHIEE30 +

M- BEMED - N FRESTEDR

AL WNEAGTMEYIRSREH
BEEOREAE BETSEW>DLRNEAEN
AMARTES SENHARBORER
AHEMERE

EMIABLAMBETR

FHERANRTEEMNEGMESALERA
WERRN K25 WA -

HUBHEEQSEN TANSISRIA
DRAA WA R - EEH QL WM - &
EEETRENENEHH AT HERS
HERB-RK R LAERSRR=
HEMBLENAGERRRIAMZ A0
BRBAEZRARS -

NRI=ZWIBERANRMLE 71
S8 St L8 )
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

38. MBERRENRERES (R

AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)
386 Fair value measurement of financial instruments 386 SMIANLLMANRR)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial BEREESLAAWANBOLRWER
HERSHARHD LWA

labilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

Some of the Group's financial assets and financlal kabllites are
measured ot taic vaiue at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fakr values of
these financial assets and financil liabilities are determined (in

TeNnsERRRLSRARSENESR
AIEA fe MBAF W+ F 922 04 W b G 8 52
EREZBAFLIBAMRD S MRS RHE X
REFEMMAABHRRARKS) «

Faie vakon 99 2t 31 December
EfzAzt-2n0sM0
Financal assaty’ Forvke
fnancial okon o NG merachy  Vakaton technguels) and key rputly) Sgniicant wobsarble inptls]
$REE/1Ad -§oak ZEIIE QANAEE CRHERIRNARA TEFRRRNARE
RSO0 s
ARRFRE AR®3E
v reeet g V00 Q17% 34 et Qs b pric 1y e s it N
BEaRRE I KEZRSRIRIIA i FERTERZRANNA iR
Eqdy reerat g V100 25 Hi6 Ll Ml oo by pirg rane mugis e The o of ik okl ) e 0o vl fom
Stesio/ mavlooldboettok e om  conpble conpes i ke by e e
Cotguie COMTINIES I AN By et of compuntie compies i i e SRaK0) 03
ok of marvetaty [
ERAMAE )\ ReiRES2NETA = EE FOSSTALKATIZNERIEYY SALRSDERACARERI2 LT
RIREREIMLY) SHSZSERASS WuElipuaRzTndRzAsy
b L
Do b ook of ushatabily taerg ks sccant
o Sacey’ estirale oo 16 g ol Sra-and
recusd by Mo maregeeet & depons of e
LAy e Wik B Atwrmired &8 1S D 20N
N#d
EELNSHERRCRHASRIRRANS
ZRARZZEN-BISRRANITAN
TRz ey
Demanrve Sorce ne s - 240 el Bromal o porg oos e tw ke s Velutilty of i sharo prces deewad Oy tefree
PTG e O P ek Y . St 14 e srape o of tre Compry
wa ot o il de e vt Al
i ooy, e i 30 mecse pics.
fsinIp i ZHARNZARALAMANENENNS B ERAIEMIAMANIERNES (K2
UE-S3- 200800 BoRRENR
- S
Nates: mit

FRTRMENET  GEESMIAM
BAMAREOR -ZZHMRMEE
ERIADAMAH AN EFRHRLN
B0 - ST N RS0 -

1) The higher the volatiity of the share prices of the Comparny, 1)
the higher the fair value of the derivative ftinancial
instruments, and Wice versa. For the volatiity of the share
prices of the Company. used in the far vilue measursment
for desivative financial instruments, detalls refer to note 30.

2)  The highet the ratio of market capital {o net book value 2) HREELFZHAATEHENFE
from compareble companips, the highar the fair value of HEDE  BEIRANAAMANGE
the equity instrumant, and vioe versa. The higher of the R2HM-RENARAB2HRBE

discouet for lack of markatabilty, the lower the fair value of RETAGDICMEMBE - T2 HM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBBERNETE

For the yaar ended 31 Decamber 2024

RE-F-MNF A=Y E
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES 38 HENRRENRARESR(N)
AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)

386 Falr value measurement of financial Instruments 386 TMIANLAMANAN)

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabifities that are measurod at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued) '

No sensitivity is presented as tha directors of the Company
considerad that the sight change In relavant Inputs would not
have a sigriicant impast 1o the fair vaiues.

There is no ransfor botwean ditfarent kivels of the fair value
Ieararchy for both years,

Recanciiiation of Level 3 fair value measurements of equity
Instrument at FVTOC! as below and the teconciiation of the
denvative financial nstruments has bean disclosed in nota 30,

BEEXRERYULILAAN AHERNER
REREBARRDLWME (X)

HrsaviseaaR A ngzene
DRTRHNZAMNSEEDANE - AXn
2HEBE -

HMUFR - -SAeMASSER2 Ml
5.

UTFBR2AMEANANGEEHEEZRE
IRAB=RAAMRHRONEURTIES

RIAAHECEMEOER -
2024 2023
—¥=-83F —S==%F
RMB'000 AMB'000

ARNMTR ARWFT

Nat canrying amount as at 1 January BE—H-HQEESMN 29,661 34971
Fair value gan loss) recogrised in other EReESEMIEN2AME

comprehansive income Ha (M) 26,654 (5:310)
Disposal ot an aquty instrument (note 7). WHRETRMNEI7) B3750) =
Net canying amount as at 31 December B+ AZ+—S0REFN 2,565 20,651
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial 2 L BT PO fdg FoE g f P
liabilities that are not measurod at fair value on a recurring DHARBL2AMANRERL2AMA)

Except for the domestic corporate bonds as detalled in note 31,
tha divactors of the Company consider that the casrying amounts
of firanciy assets and labiities recorded as amortised cost in the
consoidiated financial statements SpEnmamate 10 thair fair values.

The fair value of such financial assets and financial liabilities
(categories within Level 3 hierarahy) have been determined
In atcordance with generally accepted pricing models basod
on a discountad cash flow analysis, with the most significant
inputs baing the discount rato that refiects the credit risk of
counterpanies.

WHRENFEZ AN AR X0
EREH REAMBENANRBARSR
BOERASERASBRENRMCL s ME
KE -

AMEMAEREMAND 2 WA (WA
SHEBHE) NRBERBARERRIN
H-RAETMUAET KHRESHR
ABRSEREN TSV FORAMLILE

BRISHIBERANRLE 73
5 -
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 39 BAFULESZAMHS
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes In the Group's llabliities arising from TEASREERIDELZARBHIM  ©E
financing nctivities, Including bath cash and non-cash changes. HERENEVR -BRASUITZAANMNES
Liabitiss ansing from financing activilles are those for which cash flows REAGEERSERVTSR2HCERERERD
werg, or future cash flows will bo, classifed in the Group's consolidated MOABREVUEREZAN -
staternant of cash flows as cash flows from financing activitiss,
Deblt Denvative
Amounts companent Senicr  component
dueto : of notesand of
parties  poysbles Bomowings  bonds  frowsl  bonds  labiites Toul
L] LEI LRt H e B
ues EREAS RAER  GiI

RE  B4RE . AEB: (MY L2 UL
ABD VB0 AMBTI0  AVEO RBID
ARSTR ARNTE AENTR ARRIX ARMTZ ARSTRX ARSTI ARNTR

§
§
iz

A1 Sy 2003 = i St 1570550 = WENSS WO 4SS 0 20 WIZY R0RAW
Frarcrg casd foms BinAsz saanu o0 224578 A RETER - R0 aangs
foragn excharges yansason L] e - WS QI WIS L) - e
Frarot costs Ein: - -~ aans b'1.%3 2040 - 1590 29817
P2 yila adstrunt REMIRE = - - = - ®E - Ry
Now bag rtared EUI2RER - - - - - - T T
Ertecin] dodvalhs 2 e dele ol s MRTHRMS SR ESE
of comeibie bonds AlitTh - - - mz) - a2 - -
losmronabsxddmodicnonst SNCTRAZREARE
dormentc tomiratn bonds e - - - - e - - @)
Dividond deciyes) TERS - S0 = - - - - 50
Ve ol oo pementby b BERREARARRER
sharshice e 3] (B - - - - B - - pRyg
Non cash bansactin ke 204 EREXN RGN - SO KL B < K | - - - -
At31 Decenier 2005 5 el 3 s _ _
344 7 N5.4% - M5B 19 S 4N WAG 2EmAS
Frarcrg cash fows BRaszx a5y - @aTy ks @ - e (4es2sT
Fony: xchings vinsten aEan 27840 - pEsy 2m - ] - (1eses)
Frerce o ERRY - - 2BUW WS M - mm am
Fae o ad et ARRERS - = < - - ke - kA
New kg ortarec Blo2ENR - - - - - - M8 248
Non-cash ymsaction e ) RRERRVEY 260,131 - fe0sa) - - - - -
A 51 Decarmwr 2004 o et oL Gt i
=+-H TR%235 - RIMAT RN 50 - 3% 403826
Notes: me
(o]  Dunng the year ended 31 Docember 2023, New Senior Notes has ) HOEF-—F-—SF+-AS+—HLTR 3
bann fully settiod by the Geoup. AWCERTmANEENS -
(b)  Dunng the year ended 31 December 2024, a refated parly repsid b ERE-F-HE+-A=+-BUTSR.
bomowings with sggregate amount of AMB260,131,000 on benall ~ERESREAHEMNAUNSERARESY
of the Group which conttituted 38 & non-cash trmnsaction, 2801310005 ‘ML BMENRESS «
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital and other commitments

At the endd of the reporting pariod, the Gooup has the following

40. &M

FE VB HRME

For the year ended 31 Decamber 2024
RE-F-oE¥ A=+

fa) RERNERN

BEERE SRR TRA

commiments:
2024 2023
—e-@% —$==
RMB'000 RAMB000
ARMTX AR®F R
Contractad but not provided for: BIBEEDN
~ investment proparties Undor devalopment -EEERDR 942,396 674,156
- properties undar development for sale -RRPHENS 2,808,206 2,995,655
= compensation for damokion — % % 5,401,668 8570404
9,152,360 10,240,214
{b) Operating lease arrangements (b) ERERAEH
The Group as lessor ERMNMRBLEA

All of the properties held for rental purposes have committed
lessaes for the next ane 1o twenty years {2023 ane 1o twenty
years);

Undiscountad isase payments recewvabis on iaases e as follows:

mEANFHERSOMELAR-Z-+F
(ZF==%: - ZE-+FIRHAFARE

BARGRFNBERAT ST

2024 2023

el el o} 3 —S-=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARNFR AN

Wihin one year ~¥A 706,066 730,610
In the sacond yesr =% 544,166 596,602
In the third year w=% 428,424 452 508
In the fourth year WEF 340,573 300,077
In the fitth year S S 251,803 255406
After tve yoars R 3 1,007,918 1,120,364
3,278,950 3,455,667

BMRIZWIBERNAANRLN (75
L Sl oL 2 4 ]
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41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41. HEEMW
(a) Pledge of assets ) REES
Al the end of the mparting penod, tha Group had the folowing BHSBE XEMUTRSCHEMED
assets bang plecigad for borrowings. WMNZWR -
2024 2023
=t =4 F =¥==
RMB'000 RMEB'0D0
ARSTIC ARMT
Properties under development for sale RUTHANS 4,330,409 4,452,863
Propertios held for sala Bane 1,178,283 1,344 641
Equty instruments at FYTOGH BLARARBARGZTREZR
IR 521,738 340,413
Investmant propertias aRE8 15,901,447 19,460,843
Property, piant and squipment mE - BmRRRN 592,846 608,39
Pladged bank deposits o8 S50 753,694 061,574
Dividend receivilbles on equity instrument at BEarMAMARBEIAN2ZE
FVTOC ATRAZRERE 71,846 24176
23,350,263 26912501
Note:  As al 31 December 2024, except for assets pledged Mig: R-—B_B¥t-AR=+—8 'RL
sbove, the sacuted borrowings with aggregate smount MEEBZREEA NESUREZR
of RMEB4,681,218,000 (2023: AMB3,487.341,000) are AEMIE8121BO00R(ZF == ¢
secured by the aquily interests of subsidiaries of the AFM3407 341,000 ) HEMEM
Group, REAZBRENES
(b) Restrictions on assets () AEEM
In addition, lsase habllities of RMB373,365,000 (2023: BN R-F—EFEL A=+ -EHM
RMB201.443,000} are recognised with ralated investment B2 R R ALNA40331 00T (= F ==
propesties of RMB440,381,000 (2023 AMB333,720,000) a5 &t 0 AEM333,720,0005%) SIS RN KA
31 Decomber 2024, The lease sgrosments do not IMpose any EWM373.365.000 (=¥ == : ARM
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets 201,443,0007%) « fif ¥ 0 3 A Fdg 41 EL R
that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may nat AGRAESN HARRLEEOEESR
ba usisd a8 security or bomowing purposes. F EURERESTHRNEENRA TN
-
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Notes to the Conso

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As 3t 31 Dacember 2024, tha Group had financia! guarantes contracts
relating to-guarantees In respect of mortgage facilities for cenain
purchasers amounting to appraximately RMB7,007,382.000 (2023:
RMB4.879,738,000).

Pursuant to the terms of tha guarantees, I thers s default on the
marigage payments by thess purchasers. tho Group Is responsitle
10 repay the outstanding mortgage loans togather with any accrued
inferest and penalty owed by the dafautted purchasers 1o the banks:

The Group's guarantes period commences from the dates of grant
of the relevant mastgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer
obtaining the individual property ownership certificate or the full
sattiemant of morgags loan by the buyer.

The diractors of the Company consider that it is not probable for tha
Group (o sustai 8 i0ss under these mongage guarantees as during the
periods under guarantees, the Group can taks over the ownershps of
the related properties and sell the proparties under catault 1o recover
any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The Group has not
recognised thesa guarantees as their fair value at intial recognition i
consideced to be insignificant by the directors of the Company. The
diractors of the Company also consider that the fair market value of
the underlying properties i6 able to cover the oulstanding morigage
loans gusrantodd by the Group In the event that the purchasers dafsult
payments 10 the banks for thair mortgage loans. As at 31 Decembier
2024 and 2023, no loss adowanca was recognised in the profit or loss iIn
retation to thase morigage guaranloes,

. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Savad as disclosed elsewhere In these consolidated financial
staternents, the Grolp has the folowsng transaciions with reialed parties
during the year:

{a) Balances with related parties
Details of 1he balances with relaled parties at the and of the
rapodting period are disclosed in the consoldated statement of
financial posibon and notes 16, 22 and 26,

(b) Key management personnel compensation

The directors are of the opinion that the key managament
personnel wore sololy the directors of the Company.
Ramunemtion paid 1o the Company’s directors is disciosed in
note 11,

42.

:ﬁenaﬁama

For tha year ended 31 December 2024
UE—F-RFE A= +—HIEYE

MERREN

R-S-—AF+-A=+-H XxEMUET
RinEARREINRENHBBRENHA
ARM7.007,382,000L (Z¥ =5 AEW
4,879.738,0007¢) *

BEAREE MESNHSXESREE Nre
EAAN GRS RMANEGRRS RS OES R
HERENEHSHNERRR

FREMBEMEEMERRRELENSE - WE
RAEDBMASSAHANQLRAT SRR NERR
LA A T LY YISE

AQUMERA - FENAAGTMRTAIRER
FRABKFARENH HXENEROONAT
HETAERmENfAEReARDR LR
EENARGEMNOEHEN - EXLONEFE
BASARRTSRENOLAMBXTRL - &
IRBTARBRRACR - T2V MNAEN - &
NEEARFUGEERE  HNWROIATA
EUANESNMREORARERER  8-F
MBS+ RZ+—H -BMURRE
RESEMZSRREL RIS -

L s

RESEESMBERNERFHRARS -T2

FHAMRSROHORBNT

(8) W52
EREMENRRTZENFRAEAHE
HNER N6 22B28h 8N -

(b) =EWRAAEMN

EREA TETRARGEAXLTNS -
EHEQIESNERREENT RN

NRIERIBERANRMLT 177
“FImune
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44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

4. XDQFMERRS

178 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUN

COMPANY
2024 2023
—sonF =%
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMT T ARNTT
Non-current assets FABRR
Investments in subsidiaries: YRHRLTRER 3,066,143 3,381,353
Amounts duo from subsidiaries L E-Ei) PG 21,902,007 11,714,024
Right-ot-use assets eRRAS 11,568 24187
Deterrod tax assets BEEIAR 5,899 3901
= 24,965,817 16,123,856
Current assets mpRE
Amounts due from subsicianes RENREEEA 237,205 11,368,845
Deposits paid, peepayments and other recevables EHES - -WHRNSRERERA 1,071 1,033
Bank balances and cash RENENE oL —
313,417 11.411.933
Current liabilities ERAM
Accruals and other payablos BitRERMEEHETR 131,083 175836
Amount due 10 a related party LT 38 3,507,602 2520931
Amounts duo 10 subsidiarios BRHEMBAETIRR 1.01m 6,955,772
Borrawings it ™ 2,666,881 1,802,000
Debrt component of convdibie bonds SR HREESD 142,213 119,808
Derivative component of convertible bonds ARRAEGETAS - 2479
Loass fiabiities HRAR 12821 12,676
13473,196 11,589,782
Net current habiities apagRa vatseTT)  (7ig)
Total assets less current liabilitios BARARDAN 11,825,538 14,945.706
Non-current liabilities £33 51 |
Borrowangs HR - 403,714
Loass fabdities HEERAM - 12,735
Deferred tax kabiities RERARR 6,245 453
6,245 420,985
Net assets "AEIM 11,819,593 14524721
Capital and reserves RERAN
Share captal ('3 46,702 42 485
Resenves fnote) B&wz) "Iz 14482268
Total equity L 7 4 11,819,583 14,524,721

‘A
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For the year anded 31 Dacembor 2024
VE-F-E¥F—A=+—HIYE

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44, A2 FMBRRE® (R)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Wi
Datails of the movement in the Company's reserves ara set out below; ENTIRARD 2 ENRAT
Retained
Convertdle Sharo prafits
premium share  reserm  reseew  sepls  losses) Total
! SRRY
EGER TREAZE MAENAN  NRUW  WREM (ERER) 1
ARNFE ABNTR AENTE ARNTE ARETR ARRTE AMETR
At 1 ey 203 BIg=ze-j-8 AN EMENU IS WSS 0§ LRE8  a5Ese
Loss ot e o L Lt - - - - - gen  Eas)
At 31 Decamber 2023 | o Sl S et B TIs06 S92 xesn DB LR
Loas for the jeot Fies - - - - BIOATY RSV
Cowarson o convrith puisorce snms  EMH RN RAN LU 3 ) - - - - _am
At 31 Decarety 2024 RIP-REISASI-H AN SIBID WA X DH  pSTEN T

NRISHIBERNAAMLE 175
S8 St 12 Y
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. TURMA NN

Particuiars of the principal subsidaries, sach of wihich is a imited kebilty RS -BRER-S-_=F+=-A=+-BEEM
company, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as folows: LT (M ARRAFIHNMET -
_ Issued and fully pasd ordinary v
Place of incorporation’’ - share capitaiiegistared Principal activities
Name of sibsidiaries establishment capital ENoctively sttributable equity intarests  [Place of operations)
: i : ERTRRZRARE/ IERE
L PEEL | ERRL/RISE ERRF L LLEES (RREE)
Directly Indiectly
1% 5

LVGEM Sizbens o 156 sheres o 13 aach - 100%  Admniton vebide ol e

2REWN  Cowil

RARA 113 1SS EERA 2R - 0% AFFARERIE(ER)

(=%=2% 00%)

Srersten LVGEN Aot Wormpurant Co. L. Msrnd Cira o) RABIBL0.000 - 108 Proparty menigemert
ARERUATVIEROE SRNSNER) ARM 00007 - (e tg:; NENAES (FWN)
Sherten LYGEM Hot Co. L4 Mahiorss Crra Mot EVB10.000.000 - 0% ol cpmraton senvioes

ZR2A00%  Markro Chrgl

FUmeRRANRLR SRR M) AR 00000007 - i &a; AZRERR(FRAL)
WNHMMM Mg O Vool FANEISO0.000 - 100%  Property raregement

Sarien 0o 2005 100%)  senvoe Maniard Ot
mmextmnm shnefsg) ARR0 0007 - e 1&‘) L L ETLICT LB
- Serhen LVGEM Property Miregemert 0. Manand CireNos ) FVEIS 000,000 - 0%

1 ) Q0EE 500N sirvices Mankend Ching)
AAEARSRRIANDLY RN FER) AJERS 2000007 - oy 1& a2t 3 LG B
“Servhen [VGEM Feal Esie Dowicomart. Manid Ows Nowiy FWS180.000.000 - s Property Seveicoment

Co.tid G0 0% Marden Chrel
FUERERARNRARCT *Ry=/Hew ARS 0000007 - eaize: &s’ BARRIPRAS)
Zrargpingiong e Esata Shorcert (oL Mankrd v 207 1003 HRSA1000000 - Y0U%  Propenty cevekpmest

00N Msinknd Chred

ERRReR (35 an a3 RN M00ER - W% BRRR(eEAN)

Z8==%- o8 [ZFz=% 1 00%)

Seruten Longanghony inestrant Marrd Criva 022 100% RNECT0200000 - 100%  Propary devsiopment

Deviogment Co. Ll ARENDS  Mariad Corgy
ANERFLRARENRLE L3 ASE270000000% - o SXRE{ERAR)

ot At 281 (=¥==%F:100)

Hursrhon LVGEV P Extle Devilcprnert (0. Mesrierd Chny Aoy RVERY0.000,000 - 0 Propery devekpment

i 2022 100%  Mairknd Chral
AEIRNEERRAN LY S ST ARN210000000% - 0% NERE(SEHY)

(Z¥=2%10%)

2 LVGEM Doogoiae vesieart O, L. Wanand O o) FVB1 261,428.172 - 3N Propany devecpment

omrﬂ PRENS)  Mankind Coraf

RAMARIRSRARAO(RING) SRR MLy MRS S510012% - A ::; RARK(FRAR)
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Notes to the Consoli

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Particutars of the principal subsidianies, sach of which s a fimited kabiry
company. as at 31 Decembor 2024 and 2023 arm as lotows: (Continued)

ﬁéﬂtﬁﬁim&

For tha year ended 31 Docember 2024
UE-F-NON A= —HIEYE

45, ERKIMATANER (N

RoS-HER-P-=#4-[=+—-HIEM
RAF(HNHMAE AT - (W)

fssued and fdy pad ordrary
Name of subsicaries s :‘n Effctivly atirbutable equity terests of operationd)
' ERTRAERANS ‘ ' G‘h '
L1 PEER ) ERAL/ASeR  EEAR  REAZEIEE (ERsR!
Directy Indecctly
.t ] 1]
Dngingiong Pl Exate Trohal 0o L4 Marind v At & AVBA07.000.000 E 100%  Property onvekcomers
ERARRA(BSAELT SRR Ry A B2 0000007 e ,& L PR BT
Widhor Corcwpt Devekcprmert Linded W 25w of HS 1 ach - &% Progenty deprent K
(02 65§
BRRERELY fi? WAREMETIRG - &% NRRR(ER)
(=9:=%:@)
Oirci Lrited W 20 shams of K81 80 - 00%  Propety oesicomert
QUAS)  ovestment P
] DEERBRAT200 - 100% RESREER(EF)
[ZR==% 0%
Gamores B 1 of LSSt - 1004, Teagry vehicie
{003 100N
L} SRAEYER WEE2RS - Wk SANRIHER)
[=%==% 0%}
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45, PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notos:

(a) These subsidiaries are registared as wholly farsign owned
ontarprises under the PRC law,

(o}  Except lor Zhongxingsong. wihich issued the Damestic Bonds on
16 August 2021, none of the remaining subsidiaries had issuad
any bsted gotit securities at the end of the reparting period.

Tha abova fatle lists tha subsidianes of tha Company which, In tha
opinion of the diractors of the Company, principally affect the results for
the year or form a substantial portion of the assets and fablities of the
Group, To give detals of other subsidaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, tesult in particulirs of excessive length,

Material non-controlling interests

Summarised consolidated linancial information of ICDL and ity
subsidiaries that have material non-coniroling ntarests is set out baiow,

45. TRRMOFNFN ()

L3

3 BHNMELTASFREASEEN I ANRL
R

) BERNRAX-F_-F\A+ABREN
MRBIN LHZME - ARFBRTEN
RELIRBAS -

TOFMPEN - LEAUIFLNNRLE - =
PENTAMACE-ANENELRAARAM
ZERERBT - RXERPEZH N EHE2 T
ZEMRERRRRAE

RAZRRES

AMEMEHERHBLE (LR ERRE)
ZEHAMBRAHNEERROT « TRARMBEER

The summarised financial information balow ropresants amounts before HENREENDARMMBAZEm
Intragroup elminations.
Proportion of equity interest  Total comprehensive
heid by noa-controliing  (expense) ncome aliocated  Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries interests 1o non-controlling interests  non-controliing interests
B3 FEGEERANY
NRaAER RABRALH BE(XE) ARG RiEERRES
2004 €023 2024 €23 2024 €023
TRCBF -F-CF -S-EF _¥--F C-®=A¥ -S-_-%
RMB'O00  RMETO0  RMB'O00  RAVS00
ARSTX AEETR ARNTX AEBMTR
1000 and its sticiares NERERAMEAT 2% 2% (258388) (70455 5856748  S0915108
vkl Immetersl subucanes W SHTRRAIRANES NA NA ‘
ron-controling intereste BEnMRLE FaR TRA (10,645) 65540 284841 29

(269,007) 5356 5041889 621050

162 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNL FIEPORT 2004
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I
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

SREMBHERME
éﬁ?m;;mﬁ

45, TRHMAFTNEMN ()

(Continued)
Material non-controlling interests (Continued) BxppRes(m
ICDL and its subsidiaries WESHRANNLE
2024 2023
—e-@% —$==%
RMB'000 AMB'000
ARMTX ARSFx
Non-cumment assets ARBRE 16,266,997 16185817
Current assats RURS 45,581,897 40,170,874
Non-current kabiities FRBAN (12,941,144) (26.,665,874)
Currant hatitios L (29371,139) 9.299.710)
Net assets AEHE 19,536,611 20,350,907
Equety attributabie 1o ownets of the Company TATMERGRE 13,879,863 14,475,802
Equity atiributabie 10 non-controling interesta of ICOL. WEBNIZ FFRASRENS 748 5015106
Totat oquity MEmm 19,536,611 20,390,907
Other Income RimA 9,848 10,649
Fair vadua changss on mvostment properties RAMROL A MARY (844,672) (179,143)
Expenses [F 3 (301,957) (150,817)
Income tax credit FRRES 282,485 44,786
Loss for the year FEHM (854,296) (274.525)
Loss attributable to owners of the Campany FRNBRESESA (595.938) (203,590
Loss attrbxutabla 1o non-controling interests of ICOL. BB EFHERGIAGHN (258,358) (70.935)
Loss for the year sgnM (854,296) (274,5285)
Net cash used in opteating actvities EREMFBRESY (3,674,838) (11,285,822)
Net cash from investing activities HRIVFEBPL D 544,169 2,176,245
Nat cash from financing activives BRADMSERFS 2,912,768 9.104,940

BRISHIBERANMLE 183
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468, EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

A winding-up petition (the “Petition") was filed against the
Company

On 4 January 2024, Gemstones issued () USS$5.278,000
in aggregate principal amount of 8.0 per cant, guaranteod
commercial paper notes dus 2025; (i) HKS114,470,000 in
aggregate principal amount of 8.00 per cent. guaranteed
commercial paper notes dus 2025; and (i) the FMBA40,500.000
i aggregate principal smount of 8.00 por cent, guarantesy
each a "Noto"). Thase Notos wera not redeemad by Gemstones
00 2 January 2025 being the maturity date) In acoordance with
tha terms and conditions of the Notes (the *Non-Redamption”).

In respect of the Non-Redemption, Gemstones has launched
a consent solicitation process on 28 January 2025 10 solicit
requisite consents from at least, in respect of each Nole, a
majority in tavour consisting of not less than 90 per cent. of
tha aggregate peincipal amount of that Nole outstanding 1o

appeove, by an extraordinary resoltion In respect of the relevant

Notas, the amendmants of the maturity data of the Notes, the
goveming law of the Notes, and walve mxisting defaults (f any)
or eny consequantial detaults in accordance with the torms and
conaitions of the Notes.

The Patition dated 4 February 2025 was filed by A Lender at
the High Caxrt against the Comgany, in connection with cerain
firancial obigations gquarnteed by the Company in the principal
amount of approximataly US$210,000 phus aconussd ntarest.

mmuummmmumm
to protect its legal rights. Furthermore, tha Company wil seek
fogal measires 10 resoiytely oppose the Pettion, The directors
of the Company & of the view that the Potition has no materal
advirss Impact on the business opemtion and financial position
of the Company and its subsidianes. The Company will consider i
it 15 necessary 10 apply 1o the High Court for a validation order at
a later stage.

184 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 20024
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FEZS0NHREMAER: HTr2eamn
1144700008 L EH = F — R4 DM 28.00
EHAGRERS - Emraamn A En
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Notes to the Consoli
SAyBRENE

For tha year ended 31 Docember 2024
UE-F-NON A= —HIEYE

46, BENMENRE (@)

46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERICD
(Continued)

(i)  Appointment of the Advisors and next steps

Subsequent 1o the réporting period, certain bank and othor
borrowings of the Group have boen defauitod and the Company
has appointad the Advisors to assist the Group in assessing
the capital structure and Sinancial position af the Group and 1o
meummmumm

() SEEASUMREASN

ERENE - =eNCEXETRORRR
Wit MELOESERFEN - LBRE
EEFANATEMBMERR - B MR
AMMEARTRAREHEHTY B8
MRENECTRME N TR0

actions. Tha Advisors are working closaly with the Company TR T & RGN R
10 assess the situation, conduct due diligance and axplare ail
Disposal of certain overseas' property () HERTIIWR

On 16 January 2025, the Group entered into & disposal
agreament with a third-party purchaser, pursuant 10 'which, the
Group agread 10 52l and the purchaser agreed 10 purchasa
the Group's overseas’ property at a total consideration of

‘approximately USS20 million (equivalent to approximately

FAMEB144 milion). The deposal transaction was compietsd on 29
‘March 2025,

Lo ARF-A+TANA-ERRNE=S
BANZENGR B4 soENEHn
aANAEERANEERS A ME  2HEE
BORAMET(HARLHAENIGATMRT) «
HEZREM - RG=RA-+AHTER -

NRIEWIBERANMLT 188
S8 Sl 1Y ]
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A summary of the resuits and of tha assets and labilties of the Group for
the fast five financial years, as exiracted from the published audited financial
statements for the years ended 31 Decernber 2020, 2021 and 2022 as below,
For tha years andedt 31 Decamber 2023 and 2024 which axtracted from the

ERAEBZTEMBTRIEALARRERAM (AN
BRE-S_S¥F - "S- -FR-S-"¥+-H
St—BEFRZETSETRMBNE) AT - RE=

SEFR-SCoRE T AT -HEFRDANE

annual repan 2024 |s set out below. et Sad w230
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—S=%F —B-—-—-% -%=-= === —s=-As
RMB'OO0  AMBO000  RMB'O00  RMB00O  RMB'000
ARMTL ARBTE ARMTA ARMTE ARWNTR
RESULTS Lt
Revenue L5 5424827 4378017 2340921 6117628 3713887
Proft 058} from operation HEV (SN 5840185  4,160884 2468102 (90.975)  (3,648,487)
Finance costs BRRE (1.533101)  (L710896) (1.786.564) (1,744.114) (2,049,474)
Shara of results of a joint venture BU-MARATRM @) 2] 2 (1 -
Prot (loss) bafors tax MR AR (50 4316082 2440786 67053 (1844000  (5,697,961)
income tax {mpenselcredt MMM R 1865007 (1,114.869) (976061) (285204 264307
Prolk fosy) for e yeur ERRY (5W) 3451075 1334917 (96525 (2132387) (BA33,654)
Attributabie 10 ownerns of the Company 52 5] B W M 45 3453380 1,152,576 (730147) (2,926,475  (5,171,433)
=¥ =% —¥-—% =-¥%=-= —~$==% =9=E¥
AMBI00D  AMBO0O  AMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEMTIT ABWMTT ARMTAR ARBMTT ARMTE
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RERAM
Non-current assets ERLRE 25897846 32349191 48864225 45554813 40,962,258
Current assets SRR 48360152 52502852 56040368 50057745 62,624,419
Gurrent labilties nnam (15,903,122) (19,171,711) (26,772.684) (39.370,480) (50,441,085)
Nori-ciitrant kabiities FEBAM @B0A78253) (38329.553) (41955,387) (36.744.054) (20,164,409)
Net assets REFG 2788562 20440789 30G76512 29389024 23,981,203
Equity attributisbio to FRTBRY v
owners ot the Company Ll 2412710 2599202 24700030 20176428 16.0%.514

164 LVGEM [CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNAL FREPOST 20024
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
LRwE

Properties
L)

LVGEM Zoll 1886 Shopping Mat and car
paeking spaces located at the castem side
of Mallong Roadt and the solthem sids of
Zhangemis Road Bao'en Distret Shenzhen
Ciy Guangdong Province The PRC

CHGEREEFHNRERENEEE
RS S MsoeEH ¥ R B

LVGEM Zot Chanson Stiopping Ma# and car
parking spaces located at the westem sco

OHRFREEEENSRERCLBIER
EEMNMREREARRTORER

Varous commernteal unis of LVGEM Crenson
Maky Gardon ocated at the westem sice

UHFRRREENTRER LIRS
BEMNEARARSEANNE

Various commercial unis of City Garden
located at the westorn side of Longxiang
Avenue and the eastem s of Huangoe
Road Langguang District Shanchen Cy
Guangdong Province The PRC

ORFAREARNTRABREAGAN
ERRBRMmRTLANRSERERN
fit

LVGEM Zot Hengwan Shopping Mail and car
parking spices locaited at the northem side
of North Ring Avenus and tho sassim sde
of Melin Road Futian Distict Shenghen City
Guangdong Provinos The PRC

URERALEFRATARELAANALN
DERBRAEERENEIMAPOR
i

Attributable to the

e3 1 L

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
{aquare meten)
EnsRsEn
(EH %)

54360

4850

71,190

Lease Term

70 years from 31 August 2004 10 30
August 2074
ZSPRTAAS-HE—¥LA
ENA=1A - RE0F

70 years from 6 August 2010105
Augus: 2080 -

ZS-FFAARBE=S/\TFN
ALE - K70

70 yoars from 6 Augest 2010105
August 2080

—R-RE\AKHE-TATFN
AEEB  ANOST

70 yoiws from 22 Fetwuary 2001 19 21

February 2071
S-S -A-+-HE-FE-
Y=A=+-8 aAR0¥

70 ysars from 16 Decarmber 2011 1o
15 Decembar 2081

~9—F+-A+AEE-SN\~
S+ATHH  AROF

NRIZWIBEBRANRLT 187
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
R E(N) (

Properties
L]

Varous commarciai units of LVGEM Hatal
Jocated &t the westam sids of Xinzhou Road
and the northen side of Xindhau Sixth Road
Futian District Sherghen Clty Guangdong
Provinoy The PRC

ﬂn#ll!tﬂﬂﬂlﬁlﬁﬂiﬁla
FAAREEGY BRI N ESUR
29

Virious commercial units of Lanwan Perinsula
Cornmunity located at the nodherm side of
Furong Road Futian District Shenzhen Clty
Guangdong Provincs The PRC

UEFREEARVNERREER e
ERFRLUESQRREE

Varous cornmancial unZs. offica units and car
panking spacas of Tower A of NEQ Urban
Comimercial Comprex located at the unction
of Shannan Bouleverd and Xangrmin Foad
Futian Dstrict Shenzhen Gty Guangdong
Province Tha PRC

CRPRREREANARERSHABES
EAMSMEINOETAREANARS
SRAREY - MAVAREE

Various commencial units and car parking
spaces of Tower B and Tower C of NEO
Urban Cormmercal Complex jocated at
the jurcticn of Shannan Boulgard and
Yiangrmihy Road Futien District Sheruhen Cly
Guangdong Provincs The PRC

QRFHEEAZEANERRARE AR
SHARTHSOHNEORT R B ANBER
CRSURANLGERE

Vanous commerdial units of Phase il of
LVGEM Gardsn iocated 1 ths westem sis
of Xrzhou Road and the northen side of
Fugiang Road Futian District Sharuhan Gty
Guangdong Province The PRC

GHPRREERMNEREENREME
RARAERIREN=BSEARNET

Interest
Attributable to the
Group
TREEENE

100%

100%

100%

100%

1588 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
ANNUNL FREPOST 20024

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
{5quare mater
ENRRETR
(¥5%)

4410

120,100

20610

Type
L L

Commercal
ax

Lease Term
L]

70 years from 30 Dacember 2008 10
29 Dacormber 2073
=SR=F{ A= +BE-9L=
F+ZHA-ThE - hEos

70 yesrs from 20 Septamber 2001 10
19 Saptember 2071
“SP-FAA-TEE-SL-¥
AHETRE - AWIOT

50 years hom B May 2005 to 7 May
2055
=PPA¥AANBE-FHARYE
At£B « NREs0F

70 years irom 26 February 2002 to 25
February 2072

PN CAC+ABECS L=
F-A-+08 ARTOR

70 years from 5 Fetruary 2001 10 4
Fetruary 2071
ZRT-F-HAASE-SL ¥
AEdg  RRoF
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES tinued)
RRWE (W) oo

Properties
o

LVGEM Zo Mangrove Bay No. 1 Stopoing
Ma and car parking s0aces locatod at the
jnction of Shaz Road ard Jndl Fest Road
Futian District Sherehon Oty Guangdang
Provinca The PRC

GEEREREINTRERLRABHER
~“RBAESNRRERTHIEUNE S
CRENG

Various commencial units and ancllary undts of
LVGEM Gardan Estate located af No. 1185
Jin Deo Tian Road Luohu District Shenzhen
City Guangddong Province The PRG

GEsHREERNHB AR S NEB18S
EHERUESURSEVORERNE

A parcel of land and blocks locatad at Vi Ja
Bao'an District Sheraton Cly Guangdong
Provinos The PRC

URERREAENTNERBNGEEN
BUMSETRE-Nit2E3UBE

LVGEM Zad Intarnational Garden Shopping
Mat Zon A located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

EFRRES NS EEARER N
B mme oAR

LVGEM Zoft intarrational Garden Shapping Mal
Zone B4 located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangaong Province, The PRC
GHaRRES D ISR RERR
BiEn® OBl

Hong Kong LVGEM NED lncated at No. 123 Haol

Bun Aoad, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Keng
UHETARNRSFR1238 K22 INEO
eS|

Sunshion By Proct oced at Vilage

1, Commune No.3, Mataphes Town,
Shihancukvile Municpsl, Cambodia
OREARINERIRRSNEAN=E
E-®HEARKRS

Attributable to the

FeEAGEE

100%

100%

100%

100%

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
angpEnR
(FHA)

37,070

22170

Type
=3

Ie

Lease Term

50 yeors from 23 November 2012 to
22 November 2062

BN 1+-A=+=HE=S®
=¥ +-A=+=H BWs0%

70 years from 8 March 19898 108
March 2068
~ARNFEARBERARE
AAB- ARON

50 yours from 8'July 200210 7 Juy
2052
“ST-FLANBE-¥H=-FL
AL B BRs0F

40 yeurs from 23 Apnl 2012 10 22 Aprt
2052

¥ ERA-+ZHE-®AC
SEA=T-8 - AN

40 yaars trom 23 Apdl 2012 10 22 Aprdl
2052
“P—ERA-+=HE-¥i-
SEE-+=8 BBk

From 29 November 1988 10 30 June
2047
—AANEF-A-+REE"S
BESAA=tTE

No laasa term
AN TR

NRIZWIBERANRLT 189
“FImune



FEXBEEHT FID AR E N E G 2024 FEHE

1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
R E(N) (

Approximato
Attributable to the  Floor Area
Properties Group {squaro mater)
SORRETN
L] FRERCAE (F5%)
LVGEM Zo# Jnhua Shopping Mat located at 5% 15,500
98 5hi Shan Road New District Sizhou Cay
Jangsu Province The PRC
{02 40 BETT 0 0 049 7 R B0 L B0 o
RERBYRST O

Flats 1A 8C, 17C and 18D, of Jn Xing Tower  25% 800
of Prasé 1l of Siehou Garden Vila \ocated at
No. 95 Shistin Rosd New District Sushou
Chy Jangsu Provinca The PRC
2SR LR O R L os e B
NE-RMBRIEIA BC- 17CHIB0E

Fiats 10 ot Jin Bon Tower of Phiase Il of 8% 160
Suzhou Garden Vila located af No, 58
Shishan Road New District Suzhou Cy
Jangs Provinca The PRC
ERTRINSEMNTRERLEBREY
REZEREMDE

LVGEM Zob Yuex Shoppng Mt jocated 100% 12220
at No. 159 Tayun Road, Yuss, Wighong
Deveioprnent District, Suzhou City, Jangsu
Provinos, The PRC
HEPRINBENNESNRESRAR
R ReREIARNT

Commercia units of Znong He Ti Xang Garden  100% 3610
located at No.208 Hatang Road, Heshan

District, Yiyang, Hu'nan Provincs, The PRC

0 AT W S5 ML 8 S 200

GEFESRZEARRVE

Residential unts of Hongwan Garden 100% 1310
located at Melin Road East, Bal Huan

Avenus Shenzhen, Guangdong Province,

The PFAC

LRPRRRERAMEEELRARA L
WREARENEANS WEEVNL

Dongouan LVGEM Zot Shopping Maland cr ~ 100% 50,060
parking spaces iocatd &t Baoshan Road
Zrangmiutou Dongguan City Guangdong
Province The PRC

UEFRARLERARAANLERER
SRENNDDORTY

190 LVGEM ([CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Type
L L

3

i3

&y

=

Ex

Lease Term
-t ]

70 years from 19 Oclober 1962 1o 18
Oclober 2052

“AASFHATABESRA=
TH+NAH « RE70¥

70 years fom 18 October 1882 10 18
October 2002
“AA=F+HA+ABE=SA=S
+A+NH  am0y

70 years fom 18 Oclober 1962 10 18
October 2062

~ A= HATAHECSA=F
+H+NE RE0E

40 yeors fom 1 August 2003 10 31
iy 2043

ZP¥=T)\fi-BE-VECEL
A=+-—H  RN0F

40 years from 1 Apni 2007 t0 31 March
2047
ZPVECFRA-HE-FRESFZ
A=+—8 ARa®

70 yeers from 16 Dacember 2011 1o
15 Dacérmber 2081

=¥ —5+=-B+AEE-SN~
¥4+ =R+ 58 ANOY

A0 years from 21 Novermber 2013 10
20 Noverntes 2053

Z8-=¥+-5=+-85=%
BZF+-A=+8 - AROFT
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
BRwE (N

Properties
R

Various stroot-lovid commorncial urits of Zone
- A of LVGEM Intemasions Garden located &t
thas nonhweet of duhou Park,; Heod Road,
Huarhou County, Maoming Cy, Guangdang
Province, The PRC
GYRRRAER SN M T EERM
LS PNR KRN AR N SWSH
ERU

Various stroet-leved commercial units of Zone
B of LVGEM Intormational Garden located at
the norhwest of Jkehou Park, Hexd Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming Cly, Guangdong
Provincs, The PRC

SHPRRESZEMEMNESEDEMN
ARELHGERRECECEMN S B &
aRua

Various street-lvel commercial Lty of Zone
£ of LVGEM Infemational Garden located at
the rorttwest of Sazhou Park, Hexd Road,
Provincs. The PRC

CRFRREAZENEHSIEEARH
ARELRNS ERREMERTS G E
axue

Varous street-ivel commernsal uns of the
Scushem District of LVGEM Joyul Town
Business Cantre located it West Mingzhu

Provnce, The PRC
GEPHRRTARYMARL LRELS
FIRNEEOSRENFAGSLNEN
SEATANSL

A retad commercisl Lnit of Wendedy Garden
located at No. 2002 Houhal Avenue.
Nanstan Drstrict, Sherzhon City, Goangdong
Provincs, The PRC i

W RS &AL RE A E2002
EXEEEAG-RSBRANT

Attributable to the

FeEAGEE

100%

100%

100%

100%

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(squars meter)
ansREns
(FHA)

10,108

14,050

TAT0

L34

Lease Term

20 yoors from 23 Apell 20121022 Apdl
2052
~S-—FRA-F=BEE-%¥5=-
SRA=T=8  ARO0E

40 years from 23 Al 2012 10 22 Aped
2052

=$-=SRA=+ZHE-%n=
¥EA=4=H  WE0T

40 yoars from 23 Agr 2012 10 22 Aprd
2052

S -—SARA-+CHE-®h=
TRA=4-H  ANMOE

40 yoars from 20 Ay 201810 18 Iy
pos
—§-N\TLHE=FBE-BANE
tATAE  MIBOT

70 yoars from 18 May 1998 10 17 May

2068
—ARNEREATNBE=SXNTY
EATETE - WRoF

NRIEWIBERANMLN 191
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
R E(N) (

Properties

Various retal commencia unds in the Central-
narthim Disinct and part of tha apportionad
land propostd 10 be deveioped nto retad
commarcial properties in the Central District
of the LVGEM wban renawal project locited
at Dongaiao Coavminty, Nanping Town,
NMangzhou District, 2hinal City, Guangdong
Province, The PRC
ANTRREARGNEAEMENER Y
EHERTVEAANENSESAASR
WAL HUMEATCNBERERES R
ARnte

Commenial units under construction of the
Northem District of LVGEM Joyful Town
Business Cantro located at Wisst Mirgatu
Staton, Mingzha North Rosd. Shangchong,
Kangahou Distrct, Zhutal City, Guangdong
Frovnce.The PRC

CHIRENERGVEND L ESRLE
HRUEMNNSSRENERFOLNR
RERNG

Prase il of tha Wandia Paza Project of Zane
G1 of LVGEM Internations! Garden iocated
at the nonhwest of Juzhou Park, M Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City, Guangdong
Province, The PAC

RECRRREZETENSIEEIRM
REFLNGERRRERCGIE =M
Lt

Various shreet-evid commencial units of Zone
D of LVGEM Infemationat Gardon logated &t
the northwest of Jurhou Park. Hexd Road,
Huazhou County, Maoming City, Guangdong
Province, The PRC
UHERNERZSNEMBTRTEEM
ARELMKRNARELSORNSNEE
ARNG

Various sendcs apanmonts of Block A of
Hongshu Huelu iocated ot the intersection of
Shazul Road s Jindyl Road Futan District
Shanzhen Cay, Guangdong Provnce The
PRC

GEFERPATINAERIARME S
“RANRUABEANRSERARLX

100%

100%

100%

100%
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(23

Total Gross
Floor Area

isquare metar)
sLRREER

(FAHR)

6.750

16,750

125880

5790

Type

i34

Lease Term
L]

40 years from 17 Apr 2020 o 16 Apdl
2060

ZSCPENATLEE-RATS
WA HAE - BEar

40 years froem 20 July 2018 1019 July
2088

- AFEA-FBE-FHNS
+A+AE - ANOY

70 yeans from 28 Apdl 2012 10 22 Apdl
2082
—V-ZH¥NA-+=BEZWA=
EXNA=+=8 REOF

40 years from 23 Aprl 2012 1622 Apel
2052

Z¥-ZSBUA-TSBE-%H=
FPAE=+ZH - AR

50 years from 23 Novernber 2012 to
22 November 2062

Z¥-=—Ft-A-4+=HE=¥
A=+ -AotSH - AT
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
BRwE (N

Properties
R

Various cormmarclal unis of Biook 1 of LVGEM
Amaging Piaza located at the ntersection of
Craoxang Romd and Baithuan Road, Nanshan
District, Sharzhan Clty, Guangdong Province
The PRC

GEEMREERNSALERSENLD
RARSNFERASINOSEARNG

Commertinl portion of residontial, commarcisl
#rd offica compiex located i) the core area
' of Nanshan District, Sherahen Clty, teing
adacent 1o Shennan Avanue and In proximity
1o Scance Park and the sub-dhateice of
Overseas Chiness Town

AREHTRLUEROER(RES N -
SRBNEERBRAMER)FHNEE- N
REMQAERENEAXNPERER

A commarcial bulding of No.O1, Blook 35, Zone
A1, of LVGEM intecriations! Garden \ocated
al nerfhwest of Juzhou Park, Hext Raad,
Province. The PRC

CRTRREAZENEHEIEGARN
ARELANS EREZRAIESS0IY
L-RESET

Varous street-ivel commensal wnits of Zona

€ of LVGEM Intermtionst Garden located
Bt northwest of Juxhou Park, Hexd Road,
Huazhou County, Maorming City, Guangdong
Provnce, The PRC

RS RRERA BB UMEE SRR
LRELHGHMRRREECENSRAT
RRER

Various office s kcated at 26, Jrhe
intomationa Cantar, No. 88 Stishan Road,
Hugu District, Sushou Cly, Jengsu Province.
The PAC

GEERTRERNTEE BB S
ARBP OB SRELNA

Attributable to the

FeEAGEE

4%

100%

100%

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area

L gL
(FHA)

741270

11440

wi%

L34

Offcs
3

Lease Term

50 yoors rom 1 January 2017 10 31
December 2006

Pt -A-HE-SAAE
+ZA=+—H - AESOF

70 yoars om 10 Septomber 2021 109
September 2001

SS--SNA+AE-SA-%A
ARE - A0S

40 yoars from 23 Apedl 2012 1022 Apt
2052 and 70 years from 23 Aprd
2012 to 22 Apnl 2082

ZS-—ERAZ+=HE-®EC
FRAZT-H WMOFE-T
~Z¥RA-+=BE-¥/\=¥
WA= +=H - AW0E

40 years trom 23 Acnl 2012 t0 22 Apé
2062

—S-—TMA-+=HE-9H=
FEAZT=H  WRF

40 yesrs:from 1 danuary 201510 31
Docamber 2054

Z¥-E¥-H-HE-WIR¥
+ZAS+-H BT

NRIZWIBERANRLT 183
“¥Inune
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
LRWE (W) (

Properties
R

Various streat-vel commerclal unts of Phase
1l of Zane G 3t northweest of Juhou Park.
Hao Strest, Huazhou Oy, Maomieg Gy,
Guangdong Province, The PRC

URFREAEAEENEMDARGDNN
FEELENORRRRERGIE-NER
HERRET

Various stroot-vik commercial unts of Phasa
ot Zone G1 at northwest of Juzhou Park,
Hexd Streat, Huazhou City, Maoming City,
Guangdong Province, The PRG

URPREBARENCHNASHARM
ARELHNERRNLEGIE-ESR
AENENT

Various stréat-vel cormmercial units of Zong
J st ncrttnwest of Juzhou Pask, e Strest,
Huazhou Oy, Maorming Oy, Guangdong
Province, The PRC

URGHRERZEDCATANERRN
ARFANASERE LA STEEA
t 45

Intorest
Attributable to the
Group

TRNAENE

100%

100%
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ANNUN FREPORT 2024

o

Approximate
Total Gross .
Floor Area
{square meter]
ErausEn
(FH%)

8510

4840

g:%’

L} 3

L3

Loase Term
e

40 years from 23 Apal 2012 1022 April
2062

P =ERA-tT=8E-%5=
ENA=+-H - BRUCE

40 years from 23 Aprk 2012 1o 22 Apdl
2062
=$-CRBA-+=RAE-¥E=
FUA=+=8 - HRUOT

40 years fom 23 Apil 20121022 Aprl
2062
“P--FHA-4+SHE-§E=-
¥{/A=+ =8 NBOT
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

BRwe (N

Interest Approximate
Attributable to  Total Site Area  Floor Area

Properties the Group  fsm)

Resscontial and commaroil units 100%
of LVGEM Intemational Garden

located at tha rorhwest of Juzhou

Park. Hew Road, Huazhou County,
Maoming Cly Guangdorg Provincs

The PRC
ERPERESEENENS A

RRECREL NS REARE
RETEMEAE

Resgenti), commercial and industrial  100%

CHERRREFEUTAREEN
NERHOEERAR

Commircial andd ooy complax 100%
\cated at Wiest Mingzh Staion,

Mingztu North Road, Shangehong,
Zrhuhai Gity, Guangdong Province

The PRC
URSRREAEGN LS EL
R¥RLEMNSREENDE

Residantial, commarcial and hotel 9%
compiex locatad at No.37 Macteng
Road, Xargzhou District Nanping
Town, Zhuai City, Guangdong
Provinca The PRC

HRPEREERENRAERN
MEERIRNEST - SRED
&

EXRLEER RYRARTR
L ERMBEEE (S50

395,980

22260

40.700

Approximate
Total Gross

tam)
(BH%)

1044010

213,700

Type
L b

ET/ER

EE/ER

Commercial/ Otfce
MR/ Moy

Residontial!
Commerciol Hotel
EE/AR/DE

List of Principal 'ProMes

ERWE

Estimated Date of

AHERER REAR

252006 Under construction
butt Jods ] 2 IREnRS
—¥="

2005-2028 Unidder construction

ZS-REE Iugnps
—$=-N\%

206 \inidor construction
—¥=5F 1EREHS

2025 Under construction
St Jodry 4 IGRR®

MRIEWIBERANMLNY 195
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1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
3 LF 3¢ ) (

Approximate
Interest Approximate  Total Gross
Attributable to  Total Site Area Floor Area Estimated Date of
Properties. the Group sqm) lsgm) Type Completion Progress
AORSERE ANERENR .
£ ZRWMBSRYE (P (F5%) E ) HHERaR BRAZ

Vil locatnd o Doep Boy Road nesr  85% 82,400 23850 Vida X7 Panning stago
Mong Tseng Vilage and Mong e —=ts b
Tanty Wal, Lau Fau Shan, Yuen
Long, New Temitodes. Hong Kong

GERBIBRFLUINSGEF
LES Lot s

Reasidential, commeroid and offics 74% 303,780 4806520 Residential/ From 2025 Under consinuction
complés locatad i the core asa of Commercio¥ Office/ —F-a%E THAT®
being adiacent 10 Shennan Avere ST/ ME/ WD
ard in proxamity 10 Scencs Park b7 1
and the sb-district of Overseas
Chineser Town
CERUMHUSECER(BR
IWAN-EIRERARRSR
UREIFAHEE SRRNAY
mayBssxm

Risidontial and commercial 1% 431,800 1,541,350 Residential/ 2009 Darnoition and
located #t interseoton of Natonal Commencial “¥-h5 FROCALON plan I
Highway 105 and Tourst Road, SE/8R progress
Shangchong. Xiangzhou District, ROKAENGE
Zhuhal Gy, Guangdong Prodnce,

The PRC.

NHPREAREREDTRNL LR
AR Ensesrmant
TRER
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